FUNCTIONAL BRAIN IMAGING, COGNITIVE DYSFUNCTION AND ANTI-NR2 ANTIBODIES IN PATIENTS WITH NON-NEUROPSYCHIATRIC SYSTEMIC LUPUS ERYTHEMATOSUS

REN TAO

NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SINGAPORE

2012

FUNCTIONAL BRAIN IMAGING, COGNITIVE DYSFUNCTION AND ANTI-NR2 ANTIBODIES IN PATIENTS WITH NON-NEUROPSYCHIATRIC SYSTEMIC LUPUS ERYTHEMATOSUS

REN TAO

(B.Sc. Fudan University)

A THESIS SUBMITTED FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY DEPARTMENT OF MEDICINE NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SINGAPORE

2012

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this thesis is my original work or work to which I substantially contributed and it has been written by me in its entirety. I have duly acknowledged all the sources of information which have been used in the thesis.

This thesis has also not been submitted for any degree in any university previously.

REN TAO

8 OCTOBER 2012

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to extend my warmest and most sincere gratitude to my main supervisor Dr. Anselm Mak who has been supporting me throughout my journey of postgraduate study in Singapore. Without his invaluable guidance and patients, all the work presented here would be impossible.

I would like to thank my two co-supervisors Dr. Roger Ho and Dr. Steven Graham for their support and guidance in imaging processing and analysis and neuropsychological and psychiatric assessment involved in the research projects presented in this thesis.

I would like to thank all the colleagues in our laboratory for their generous assistance in patient recruitment and ELISA. They are: Miss Cheak Alicia, Miss Kow Nienyee, Madam Ho Chiuhan, Miss Erin Fu, Miss Lu Yanxia and Miss Anna Chua.

I would like to thank Miss Ho Yanyin for her assistance in IQ test for individuals involved in the research projects presented here.

I would like to thank Dr. Betty Diamond for having kindly provided us the R4A antibody for the assay of serum anti-NR2 antibodies in our SLE patients and healthy subjects.

Last but not the least, I would like to thank my parents and elder sister for their continual support and love which enable me to pursue my academic interest in biomedicine.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION i
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ii
ABSTRACT viii
LIST OF TABLES xi
LIST OF FIGURES xii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS xiv
PUBLICATIONSxx
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Systemic lupus erythematosus – an overview1
1.1.1 Clinical classification of the disease1
1.1.2 Pathophysiology of SLE4
1.1.3 Management of SLE – brief overview13
1.2 Neuropsychiatric SLE13
1.2.1 Epidemiology and clinical classification13

1.2.2 Common manifestations of NPSLE16
1.3 Cognitive dysfunction in SLE
1.3.1 Overview
1.3.2 Potential pathogenic mechanisms of cognitive dysfunction
1.3.2.1 Autoantibodies21
1.3.2.2 Inflammatory mediators23
1.3.2.3 Neuropeptides25
1.3.2.4 Genetics
1.3.3 Neuropsychiatric assessment of cognitive dysfunction in patients with SLE.27
1.3.4 Neuroimaging studies of cognitive dysfunction in patients with SLE
1.3.5 Management of cognitive dysfunction in SLE
1.4 Executive function
1.4.1 Assessment of executive function
1.4.2 The temporally dynamic components of executive function
1.4.3 Executive function in SLE
1.5 fMRI of the brain
1.5.1 The basic principle of fMRI and blood-oxygen-level-dependent signal38
1.5.2 fMRI studies on neuropsychiatric disorders40
1.5.3 fMRI studies on SLE41
1.6 NMDAR and the anti-NR2 antibodies44

1.6.1 Function of the NMDAR	44
1.6.2 Nature of anti-NR2 antibodies	 46
1.6.3 Effects of anti-NR2 antibodies on cognition in murine models	46
1.6.4 The role of anti-NR2 antibodies in SLE	47
1.7 Research questions and objectives of the thesis	49
1.7.1 Objectives	49
1.7.2 Hypothesis	50

CHAPTER 2: PATIENTS AND METHODS
2.1 Recruitment of patients
2.2 Clinical evaluation and data collection
2.3 Assessment of disease activity
2.4 Assessment of disease damage
2.5 Laboratory evaluation
2.5.1 Serological tests
2.5.2 Evaluation of brain activity by event-related fMRI
2.5.2.1 Evaluation of executive function and event-related fMRI
2.5.2.2 Image acquisition
2.5.2.3 Image processing61
2.5.3 Measurement of anti-NR2 antibody61

2.6 Statistical analysis	
2.6.1 Comparison of continuous and categorical data	63
2.6.2 Correlation analysis	64

3.1 Part-A A prospective functional MRI study for executive function in patients with	
systemic lupus erythematosus without neuropsychiatric symptoms65	5

CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSIONS	117
4.1 Summary of the aims of this thesis	117
4.2 Summary of the results	117
4.3 Ethical consideration	119
4.4 Future work	120
4.5 Overall summary of this thesis	

REFERENCES	
Appendix 1	
Appendix 2	179
Appendix 3	
Appendix 4	
Appendix 5	
Appendix 6	

ABSTRACT

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a chronic autoimmune disease which potentially affects major organs during the disease course. Neuropsychiatric SLE (NPSLE) is one of the major manifestations of SLE which carries unfavourable impact on the quality of life, vocational outcome and survival of patients with SLE. Cognitive dysfunction, which affects executive function, attention, learning and memory, is the commonest neuropsychiatric manifestation of SLE. Yet, cognitive impairment in lupus patients is often clinically unapparent and indeed, its functional neuro-pathogenesis remains unclear. Therefore, we attempted to approximate this knowledge gap by a series of studies reported in this thesis which can hopefully prompt further focussed research on the pathogenesis and clinical classification of cognitive dysfunction in SLE.

In the first study, patients with new-onset SLE without neuropsychiatric symptoms and their matched healthy counterparts went through the modified computerized Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST) while they were undergoing functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) of the brain concomitantly. Although the SLE patients and healthy controls had comparable performance on the WCST, SLE patients demonstrated inferior strategic planning skills which resulted in compensatory recruitment of additional cortical regions to compensate for their inferiority in strategic planning. Surprisingly, their inefficient strategic planning skills and the subsequent compensatory recruitment of cortical regions which boosted their cognitive function for error detection and conflict monitoring persisted even after control of the disease. These findings prompted the second important mechanistic study.

While the activity of a few anatomical brain regions were found to be altered in lupus patients, further studies on potential functional neural circuits which mediate cognitive impairment in SLE would be pathologically relevant. In the second study, by applying the same fMRI scan and WCST paradigms as the first study to patients with new-onset lupus and healthy controls, the cortico-basal ganglia-thalamic-cortical circuit and amygdala-hippocampus coupling, which were involved in response inhibition and active forgetting-learning dynamics respectively, were found to be compromised in lupus patients when the demand for working memory and learning reached the maximum during the WCST. An increase in the activity of the contralateral cerebellar-frontal connection was found to compensate for the compromised cortico-basal gangliathalamic-cortical circuit in the lupus patients in order to maintain their comparable WCST performance as their healthy counterparts. These findings confirmed that functional neural circuits were involved in mediating subclinical cognitive impairment in SLE and prompted us to perform the third study to investigate whether these dysfunctional circuits were associated with putative autoantibodies associated with cognitive dysfunction in SLE.

In the third study, while SLE patients were found to have significantly higher levels of serum anti-NR2 antibodies than their healthy counterparts, no significant association was found between the levels of the antibodies and lupus disease activity, the frequency of NPSLE as well as the abnormal fMRI signals of the hippocampus and amygdala in the lupus patients. The results suggest that serum anti-NR2 antibodies alone is unlikely an optimal marker to detect subclinical impairment of learning and memory in SLE. Word count: 500

Keywords: fMRI, WCST, cognitive dysfunction, anti-NR2, SLE

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 The 1997 American College of Rheumatology Criteria for the classification of
SLE2
Table 1.2 ACR case definitions of NPSLE 15
Table 1.3 ACR one-hour neuropsychological battery for SLE 28
Table 2.1 The systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity Index 53
Table 3.1 Demographics, clinical manifestation and disease activity of SLE patients70
Table 3.2 Regional differences in brain activation between patients with new-onset SLE
and matched healthy controls72
Table 3.3 Regional differences in brain activation in SLE patients between the first fMRI
scan and the follow-up fMRI scan76
Table 3.4 Region of interest during RS in healthy controls and patients with SLE
Table 3.5 Region of interest during FE in healthy controls and patients with SLE
Table 3.6 Demographic and clinical features of study participants 106
Table 3.7 Comparison of demographic and clinical features and anti-NR2 antibodies
between SLE patients with and without fMRI scan108
Table 3.8 Comparison of clinical characteristics between high and low anti-NR2 group
and correlation between anti-NR2 antibodies and clinical parameters in SLE
patients110

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Overview of the pathogenesis of SLE	
Figure 1.2 Diagram summarizing the potential contributors to cognitive dysf	unction in
SLE	27
Figure 1.3 Algorithm for management of SLE patients with cognitive dysfun	ction34
Figure 1.4 Blood oxygenation changes when neurons shift from resting to ac	tivation40
Figure 1.5 NMDAR and synaptic plasticity	45
Figure 2.1 Performing computer-based WCST in the fMRI scanning room	58
Figure 2.2 The modified Wisconsin Card Sorting Test	59
Figure 2.3 Standard curve for anti-NR2 ELISA	63
Figure 3.1 Composite general linear model of the BOLD activation pattern set	een on the
fMRI in healthy controls and patients with new-onset SLE during	, the
condition contrast of RS after 1st NF > RS after 1st PF	86
Figure 3.2 Composite general linear model of the BOLD activation pattern set	een on the
fMRI in healthy controls and patients with new-onset SLE during	; the
condition contrast of 2nd NF > 2nd PF	90
Figure 3.3 Brain signal changes across the cognitive set-shifting process. A,	Cortico-
basal ganglia loop activity in healthy control subjects. B, Left tha	lamus
activity in healthy controls and patients with new-onset SLE. C, C	Cerebellar–
contralateral frontal activity in SLE patients	95

Figure 3.4 B	Brain signal changes in the hippocampus and amygdala across the cognitive
S	set-shifting process. A, Hippocampal and amygdala activity in healthy control
S	subjects. B, Right hippocampal activity in healthy controls and patients with
n	new-onset SLE
Figure 3.5 M	Aeasurement of serum anti-NR2 antibodies in SLE patients and healthy
С	controls109
Figure 3.6 D	Discordant hippocampal and amygdala activities in 12 non-NPSLE patients
••	

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

1st NF	first negative feedback
1st PF	first positive feedback
2nd NF	subsequent negative feedback
2nd PF	subsequent positive feedback
AC	anterior commissures
aCL	anti-cardiolipin
ACR	American College of Rheumatology
AD	Alzheimer's disease
ANA	anti-nuclear antibodies
ANAM	Automated Neuropsychological Assessment Metrics
anti-dsDNA	anti-double-strand DNA
anti-PL	anti-phospholipid
APC	antigen-presenting cells
APTT	Activated partial thromboplastin time
BA	Brodmann area
BAFF	B cell activating factor

BBB	blood-brain barrier
BDNF	brain-derived neurotrophic factor
BOLD	blood-oxygen-level-dependent
CBF	cerebral blood flow
CD	cluster of differentiation
CD40L	CD40 ligand
Cho	Choline
CNS	central nervous system
Cr	Creatine
CSF	cerebrospinal fluid
DC	dendritic cells
dHb	deoxygenated hemoglobin
DLPFC	dorsolateral prefrontal cortex
DMN	default mode network
DRVVT	Dilute Russell Venom Viper test
EEG	electroencephalography
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay

FE	feedback evaluation
fMRI	functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging
GP	globus pallidus
GWAS	genome-wide association studies
HRQoL	health-related quality of life
IF	intermediate neurofilament
IFN	interferon
IFS	inferior frontal sulcus
IL	interleukin
INA	intermediate neurofilament alpha-internexin
IQ	intelligence quotient
ITGAM	integrin alpha M
КСТ	Kaolin clotting time
LAC	lupus anti-coagulant
mDCs	myeloid DCs
МНС	major histocompatibility complex
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase

MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
MRS	magnetic resonance spectroscopy
MTI	magnetization transfer imaging
MTR	magnetization transfer ratio
NAA	N-acetyl aspartate
NMDAR	N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor
NPSLE	Neuropsychiatric SLE
NSAIDs	nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
NUH	National University Hospital
OD ₄₅₀	optical density at 450 nm
Hb	oxygenated hemoglobin
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
PC	posterior commissures
pDCs	plasmacytoid DCs
PET	positron emission tomography
PFC	prefrontal cortex
PNS	peripheral nervous system

R4A mab	R4A monoclonal antibody
ROI	region of interest
RS	response selection
SD	standard deviation
SDI	Systemic Lupus International Collaborating Clinics /
	American College of Rheumatology damage index
SLE	systemic lupus erythematosus
SLEDAI	Systemic Lupus Erythematosus disease activity index
SLICC	Systemic Lupus International Collaborating Clinics
SNP	single nucleotide polymorphism
SPECT	single-photon-emission computed tomography
STAT4	signal transducer and activator of transcription 4
Th	T helper
TIMP	tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases
TLR	toll-like receptor
TNF α	tumor necrosis factor alpha
TNFSF4	tumor necrosis factor superfamily member 4
TRAIL	TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand

TSA	Trichostatin A
WCST	Wisconsin Card Sorting Test
WAIS	Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale
Zn	Zinc

PUBLICATIONS

Data presented in the studies in this thesis have been reported in the literature listed below, which have been published, in press or under review in international peerreviewed journals.

*Mak, A., *Ren, T., Fu, E.H., Cheak, A.A., and Ho, R.C. (2012). A prospective functional MRI study for executive function in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus without neuropsychiatric symptoms. *Seminars in arthritis and rheumatism 41*, 849-858.

*Ren, T., Ho, R.C., and *Mak, A. (2012). Dysfunctional cortico-basal ganglia-thalamic circuit and altered hippocampal-amygdala activity on cognitive set-shifting in non-neuropsychiatric SLE. *Arthritis and rheumatism 12*, 4048-4059.

*Ren, T., Tay, S.H., Chua, Z., Ho, R.C., and *Mak, A. (2012). Serum anti-NR2 alone is not an ideal marker of subclinical working memory and learning deficits assessed based on abnormal real-time functional brain signals in systemic lupus erythematosus. (*under review*).

* denotes equal contribution

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Systemic lupus erythematosus – an overview

1.1.1 Clinical classification of the disease

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is a chronic autoimmune disease with predilection for women during their reproductive age. SLE potentially affects any organ systems during the disease course. Amongst various organ systems, the dermatological, musculoskeletal, haematological, renal and neuropsychiatric systems are commonly involved (Tsokos, 2011). Besides specific organ involvement, non-specific symptoms such as fatigue, weight loss, fever, anxiety and mild cognitive impairment are often the main presenting symptoms of lupus and they pose diagnostic challenge especially at the early stage of the disease (Lahita, 2011). Indeed, patients with SLE are often suspected to have other conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA), fever of unknown origin and fibromyalgia before seeing a specialist or an experienced clinician (Blumenthal, 2002; Harvey et al., 1954; Hoffman, 1978). Furthermore, the mean interval between onset of symptoms and diagnosis can lapse as long as 5 years, during which the prognosis could be adversely affected (Lahita, 2011).

Perhaps due to the heterogeneity and complexity of SLE, the formal diagnostic criteria were not established until the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) defined the 11 criteria for the classification of SLE (Tan et al., 1982). This "1982 criteria" were subsequently revised on the 10th criterion of immunologic disorder in 1997 by deleting positive LE cell preparation and adding abnormal serum level of IgG or IgM anti-cardiolipin antibodies and positivity of lupus anticoagulant (Hochberg, 1997) (see Table

1.1). The presence of four or more criteria out of the 11 is required for formal classification for SLE. These criteria were demonstrated to have the sensitivity and specificity of as high as 96% (Gleicher, 1992). At the time when this thesis was being prepared, a new set of classification criteria for SLE has been validated and released by the Systemic Lupus International Collaborating Clinics (SLICC) (Petri et al., 2012). The SLICC classification criteria for SLE consist of 11 clinical and 6 immunological criteria. Patients must fulfill at least 4 criteria, including at least one clinical criterion and at least one immunological criterion or patients have biopsy-proven lupus nephritis with the simultaneous presence of antinuclear antibodies (ANA) or anti-double-strand DNA (antidsDNA) antibodies before they fulfill the criteria (Petri et al., 2012). The SLICC classification criteria demonstrate significantly reduced misclassification and improved sensitivity in the derivation and the validation sets when compared to the 1997 ACR criteria (Petri et al., 2012). Given that lupus criteria might be acquired and accrued over a period of time, the Boston weighted criteria for the classification of SLE which include patients who meet less than 4 of the 11 ACR criteria identify 7% more lupus patients when compared with the 1997 ACR criteria (Costenbader et al., 2002).

Criterion	Definition
1 Malar Rash	Fixed erythema, flat or raised, over the malar eminences, tending to
	spare the nasolabial folds
2 Discoid rash	Erythematous raised patches with adherent keratotic scaling and
2. Discold fash	follicular plugging; atrophic scarring may occur in older lesions

 Table 1.1 The 1997 American College of Rheumatology Criteria for the classification of SLE

2 Dhataanaitinita	Skin 1	ash as a result of unusual reaction to sunlight, by patient
5. Photosensitivity	histor	y or physician observation
4. Oral ulcers	Oral o	or nasopharyngeal ulceration, usually painless, observed by
	physician	
л. н. н. т.т.	None	rosive arthritis involving 2 or more peripheral joints,
5. Arthritis	charae	cterized by tenderness, swelling, or effusion
	i.	Pleuritis-convincing history of pleuritic pain or rub heard by
		a physician or evidence of pleural effusion
6. Serositis	ii.	Pericarditis-documented by ECG or rub or evidence of
		pericardial effusion
	i.	Persistent proteinuria greater than 0.5 grams per day or
		greater than 3+ if quantitation not performed
/. Renal disorder	ii.	Cellular casts-may be red cell, hemoglobin, granular,
		tubular, or mixed
	i.	Seizures-in the absence of offending drugs or known
		metabolic derangements; e.g., uremia, ketoacidosis, or
8.Neurologic		electrolyte imbalance
disorder	ii.	Psychosis-in the absence of offending drugs or known
		metabolic derangements, e.g., uremia, ketoacidosis, or
		electrolyte imbalance
9. Hematologic disorder	i.	Hemolytic anemia-with reticulocytosis
	ii.	Leukopenia-less than 4,000/mm ³ total on 2 or more
		occasions

	iii.	Lymphopenia-less than 1,500/mm ³ on 2 or more occasions
	iv.	Thrombocytopenia-less than 100,000/mm ³ in the absence of
		offending drugs
	i.	Anti-DNA: antibody to native DNA in abnormal titer
	ii.	Anti-Sm: presence of antibody to Sm nuclear antigen
	iii.	Positive finding of antiphospholipid antibodies on:
		a) an abnormal serum level of IgG or IgM
10. Immunologic		anticardiolipin antibodies,
disorder		b) a positive test result for lupus anticoagulant using a
		standard method, or
		c) a false-positive test result for at least 6 months
		confirmed by Treponema pallidum immobilization
		or fluorescent treponemal antibody absorption test
	An ab	normal titer of antinuclear antibody by immunofluorescence
11. Antinuclear	or an e	equivalent assay at any point in time and in the absence of
antibody	drugs	
	known	n to be associated with "drug-induced lupus" syndrome

Source: Hochberg, 1997; Tan et al., 1982

1.1.2 Pathophysiology of SLE

The etiology of SLE is not fully known. A number of factors such as genetics, epigenetics, female hormone, gender, immune dysregulation and environmental triggers have been hypothesized and tested, for an aim to explain the mechanisms of the

breakdown of immune tolerance and aberrant autoimmune responses in patients with SLE (Crispin et al., 2010; Tsokos, 2011).

Genetics & Epigenetics

The concordance rates of SLE observed in monozygotic twins (24-56%) and dizygotic twins (2-5%) imply that genetic predisposition plays a crucial role in the development of SLE (Deapen et al., 1992; Moser et al., 2009). While defects in a single gene contribute to around 1-2% of the cases of SLE, the strongest single-gene defect which confers a high risk for SLE is the homozygous deficiency of C1q and C4 (Moser et al., 2009; Sestak et al., 2011). Lack of C1q or C4 has been suggested to be associated with compromised elimination of apoptotic materials and autoreactive B cells due to defective phagocytosis which leads to the enhanced stimulation of alloreactive T cells and subsequent interferon (IFN) γ production by the myeloid dendritic cells (DC) (Castellano et al., 2007).

In most cases, however, the higher risk of development of SLE is conferred by the cumulative effect of a number of SLE susceptibility genes and/or mutations rather than single gene defects. Early studies using candidate gene association analysis identified a number of at-risk genes for SLE including those encoding the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II (DR2 and DR3), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) and the early complement components (Sestak et al., 2011). With the recent advent of high-throughput genotyping technology, several genome-wide association studies (GWAS) identify a number of chromosome loci and genes associated with the increased susceptibility of SLE (Graham et al., 2008; Han et al., 2009; Harley et al., 2008; Hom et

al., 2008; Kozyrev et al., 2008; Yang et al., 2010). Functional studies have revealed the mechanisms by which some of these chromosome loci or genes are linked to the predisposition of SLE. For example, integrin alpha M (*ITGAM*), also known as CD11b or complement receptor 3, is one of the important components involved in complement cleavage and clearance of immune complex. A single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in the third exon of ITGAM (rs1153679) was shown to increase nephritis and discoid in lupus patients (Kim-Howard et al., 2010). The signal transducer and activator of transcription 4 (STAT4) transmits signals from receptors for IFN and interleukin (IL) and contributes to autoimmune responses. Located in the third intron of STAT4, rs7574865 has consistently been found to correlate with younger age of SLE onset, increased frequency of nephritis and the presence of anti-dsDNA antibodies (Kawasaki et al., 2008; Palomino-Morales et al., 2008; Sigurdsson et al., 2008). Involved in immune signal transduction, tumor necrosis factor superfamily member 4 (TNFSF4) is mainly expressed on the antigen-presenting cells (APC). Increased expression of TNFSF4 influences the susceptibility of SLE via either extended interaction between T cells and APCs or altering the consequence of T cell activation (Cunninghame Graham et al., 2008). A tagging SNP (rs2205960) which is located upstream of TNFSF4 correlates with increased expression of TNFSF4 and increases the susceptibility of SLE (Chang et al., 2009; Cunninghame Graham et al., 2008; Han et al., 2009). In addition to gene polymorphisms, copy number variations of certain genes, such as C4 and toll-like receptor (TLR) 7, have been linked to the increased risk for the development of SLE (Blanchong et al., 2001; Kelley et al., 2007).

Besides the impact of genetics on the pathogenesis of SLE, epigenetic regulation of gene expression via DNA methylation and histone acetylation has been shown to be involved in the development of SLE. Hydralazine and procainamide, which inhibit DNA methylation, are capable of inducing lupus-like manifestations in healthy individuals (Ballestar et al., 2006). For instance, demethylation of *cluster of differentiation (CD)11a* and *CD70* was shown to confer the susceptibility of SLE (Ballestar et al., 2006). In lupus T helper (Th) cells, the histone deacetylase inhibitor trichostatin A (TSA) has been found to restore the default expression of CD40 ligand (CD40L), resulting in the rebalance of IL-10 and IFN γ production (Mishra et al., 2001).

Female hormones & Gender

SLE has a predilection for women of child-bearing age. The female-to-male ratio is approximately 9 to 1 in adult SLE patients although the gender gap approximates in pediatric and late-onset SLE patients. Pregnancy and hormonal replacement therapy may increase the chance of disease flare (Buyon et al., 2005; Petri, 1997; Ruiz-Irastorza et al., 1996). These observations suggest that female hormones are likely to be involved in the pathogenesis of SLE. It has been postulated that the high estrogen to androgen ratio in females confers a higher risk for SLE through the inhibition of Th1 responses and upregulation of CD40L in T cells which favors the Th2 responses, leading to enhanced B cell responsiveness and autoantibody production (Mok & Lau, 2003). Of note, the X chromosome appears to contribute to the increased susceptibility of SLE independent of the physiological effects of female hormones. In genetically modified rodent models with the expression of XX, XO, or XXY, the presence of two X chromosomes confers elevated severity of SLE (Smith-Bouvier et al., 2008). This observation further supports the role of CD40 in the pathogenesis of SLE because the CD40 gene is located on the chromosome X (Fuleihan et al., 1993).

Immune dysregulation

In SLE, T cells activation is aberrant, which is partially secondary to the alteration in T cell receptor signaling. CD3 complex is engaged in a fashion that leads to enhanced early signaling responses and consequent T cell activation (Crispin et al., 2008). The aggregation of lipid rafts on the cell surface membrane further amplifies the enhancement of T cell activation in patients with SLE (Li et al., 2007). Furthermore, cytokine physiology of lupus patients is dysregulated. For instance, IL-2, which is central to T cell activation and proliferation, is deficient in lupus T cells (Crispin et al., 2008). Insufficient production of IL-2 leads to defective activity of cytotoxic T cells, suppression of activation-induced cell death and prolongation of the survival of autoreactive T cells in lupus patients (Crispin et al., 2010). As the chief member of the IL-17 family of cytokines, IL-17 demonstrates proinflammatory properties and functions on various types of immunocytes in that it is capable of inducing the production of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines, resulting in recruitment of monocytes and neutrophils to the vicinity of inflammation (Korn et al., 2009). IL-17 is primarily produced by activated T cells and critically involved in immune response against various bacteria and fungi (Korn et al., 2009). Patients with SLE demonstrated elevated levels of serum IL-17 and the levels of serum IL-17 has been demonstrated to correlate with lupus activity (Doreau et al., 2009).

Low number and hyperactivity are predominant abnormalities observed in lupus B cells (Crispin et al., 2010; Scheinberg & Cathcart, 1974), although lymphopenia is not restricted to lupus B lymphocytes since reduced number of circulating T cells has also been observed in patients with SLE (Scheinberg & Cathcart, 1974; Schulze-Koops, 2004). The number of na we B cells is reduced in a disease activity-dependent manner, whereas the number of plasma cells increases in the peripheral blood of SLE patients (Odendahl et al., 2000). In addition, autoreactive B cells can escape immune surveillance while passing through various immune tolerance checkpoints without being deleted (Kumar et al., 2006), and this phenomenon may result in over-production of autoantibodies in patients with SLE (Crispin et al., 2010; Yurasov et al., 2006). Furthermore, the number of DNAbinding B cells which correlate with disease activity, increases regardless of antigen exposure (Jacobi et al., 2009).

DCs play a critical role in the development of immune responses against infection and malignancies but the dysfunction of DCs may lead to amplification of immune responses in autoimmune conditions such as SLE (Crispin et al., 2010). The presence of IFN α , CD40L, free nucleosomes and autoantibody-DNA complex in lupus sera is able to induce differentiation and activation of normal DCs (Blanco et al., 2001; Decker et al., 2005; Means et al., 2005). Quantitative and functional abnormalities of circulating plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) and myeloid DCs (mDCs) have been revealed in patients with SLE (Ding et al., 2006; Gerl et al., 2010; Jin et al., 2010; Jin et al., 2008). Increased number of circulating pDCs was found in lupus patients (Jin et al., 2008). Lupus pDCs were demonstrated to reduce the differentiation of regulatory T cells and lead to altered cytokine profile as indicated by the persistently elevated production of IL-10 in SLE patients (Jin et al., 2010). Furthermore, pDCs stimulate the production of type I IFN (Crispin et al., 2010), and upon exposure to IFN α , IFN-inducible genes including the *Fas*, *TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL)* and *B cell activating factor (BAFF)*, which are significantly involved in lupus pathogenesis (de Veer et al., 2001), were found to be up-regulated in patients with SLE (Feng et al., 2006). On the other hand, the number of circulating mDCs was found to be reduced in lupus patients (Jin et al., 2008). Lupus mDCs are characterized by accelerated differentiation, maturation and increased secretion of proinflammatory cytokines which are reflected by the increased expression of DC differentiation marker (CD1a), maturation markers (CD86 and CD80) and IL-8 respectively (Ding et al., 2006). Since lupus mDCs are capable of enhancing the proliferation and activation of allogeneic T cells in a more vigorous fashion than those of healthy individuals, such phenotypic abnormalities of mDCs might be functionally associated with the pathogenesis of SLE (Ding et al., 2006).

Environmental triggers

Smoking and ultraviolet light exposure were identified to be risk factors for the development of SLE (Furukawa et al., 1990; Simard et al., 2009). In addition, a number of organic and inorganic chemical agents such as aromatic amines (Reidenberg, 1981), trichloroethylene (Kilburn & Warshaw, 1992), insecticide (Beer et al., 1994), silicone (Press et al., 1992), gold (Robinson et al., 1986; Silverberg et al., 1970), mercury (Robinson et al., 1986) and cadmium (Ohsawa et al., 1988) were also suggested to be potential triggers of SLE. Epigenetic alterations observed in SLE might be attributed to medications and other potential environmental factors associated with lupus (Ballestar et al., 2006; Crispin et al., 2010). The possible role of viral infection in the development of

SLE has long been advocated (James & Robertson, 2012). Significantly higher seropositivity (Tsokos et al., 1983) and increased viral load of the Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) have been found in both pediatric and adult SLE patients (Kang et al., 2004). It has been suggested that molecular mimicry between viral proteins and certain self-antigens enables specific immune responses to cross-react with self-antigens (Crispin et al., 2010; James & Robertson, 2012). For example, antibodies against Epstein-Barr nuclear antigen can cross-react with a few highly specific lupus-associated autoantigens such as Sm B/B', and Sm D1(James & Robertson, 2012; Poole et al., 2006).

In summary, the complex interplay between genetics, epigenetics, female hormones, immune regulation and environment may pose impact on immune tolerance in a sequential or simultaneous manner, leading to the production of autoreactive lymphocytes, autoantibodies, immune complexes, and subsequent proinflammatory cytokines (see Figure 1.1). These cells and mediators initiate and perpetuate inflammation and potentially lead to damage of various organs and systems.



Figure 1.1 Overview of the pathogenesis of SLE

Reproduced with permission from Tsokos, 2011. Copyright Massachusetts Medical Society.

1.1.3 Management of SLE – brief overview

Due to the broad array of symptoms and signs and organ involvement in patients with SLE, the choice of treatment strategy must be tailored based on individual clinical characteristics such as organs and systems involved, disease severity and damage and baseline organ function. Currently, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), antimalarial agents, glucocorticoids and various immunosuppressants such as cyclophosphamide, azathioprine, cyclosporine and mycophenolate mofetil are commonly prescribed to treat SLE patients (Tsokos, 2011). NSAIDs have been proved to be useful in lupus patients with mild disease such as arthralgia and mild serositis. In patients with more active disease, such as proliferative glomerulonephritis, neuropsychiatric and severe hematological manifestations, potent immunosuppressants such as cyclophosphamide, mycophenolate and cyclosporine in combination with glucocorticoids remain the mainstay of treatment for SLE (Ballinger, 2012). Recently, biologics such as rituximab and belimumab have been increasingly used in the treatment of SLE, particularly if patients fail to respond to conventional immunosuppressive agents. While further discussion on lupus management is beyond the scope of this thesis, it must be stressed that clinicians taking care of lupus patients should be vigilant of the development of organ damage of their patients because SLE per se and its treatment can lead to chronic damage accrual, such as osteoporosis, diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease (Demas et al., 2010).

1.2 Neuropsychiatric SLE

1.2.1 Epidemiology and clinical classification

Disturbance of the central (CNS) and peripheral nervous systems (PNS) has been identified in patients with SLE (Lahita, 2011). Many patients develop some forms of neuropsychiatric SLE (NPSLE) of varying severity and the presence of NPSLE correlates with duration of the disease (Aranow et al., 2010). Epidemiologic studies showed that the prevalence of neuropsychiatric events among patients with SLE ranged from 37 to 95% (Ainiala et al., 2001; Brey et al., 2002; Hanly et al., 2004; Sanna et al., 2003b; Sibbitt et al., 2002). Moreover, NPSLE has been identified as one of the two major factors which slows the improvement of survival in patients with SLE in the past 50 years (Mak et al., 2012). However, the complexity and the relatively restricted accessibility to the nervous system render characterization and attribution of CNS involvement in SLE difficult. The criteria for classification of NPSLE classification had not been established until the ACR Ad Hoc committee designated 19 different neuropsychiatric manifestations attributable to SLE in 1999 (Anonymous, 1999). These ACR case definitions of NPSLE consist of 12 CNS and 7 PNS manifestations (see Table 1.2). For each of these presentations, a summary of non-SLE causes and guidelines for ascertainment by laboratory tests and imaging techniques are provided to help determine the cause of neuropsychiatric events in patients with SLE.

Although the ACR case definitions have improved the classification of NPSLE in clinical studies, their applications in clinical practice remains challenging. It is important to be aware that none of the defined syndromes are unique to SLE. Around two-thirds of neuropsychiatric events observed in lupus patients are attributable to non-SLE causes (Aranow et al., 2010). Effective application of the ACR criteria for NPSLE depends on the correct attribution of neuropsychiatric symptoms. Three particular conditions
including CNS infections, thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura and posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome require attention and exclusion where appropriate because these conditions may mimic CNS disease in patients with SLE (Aranow et al., 2010). Given the low specificity of ACR case definitions of NPSLE (Ainiala et al., 2001), classification based on anatomical location of neurological injury (Sanchez-Guerrero et al., 2008) and categorization into diffuse and focal diseases (Hanly, 2007) have been proposed. However, the clinical applicability of these alternative classification criteria requires further studies.

Central nervous system	Peripheral nervous system
Aseptic meningitis	Guillain–Barr ésyndrome
Cerebrovascular disease	Autonomic neuropathy
Demyelinating syndrome	Mononeuropathy
Headache	Myasthenia gravis
Movement disorder	Cranial neuropathy
Myelopathy	Plexopathy
Seizure disorders	Polyneuropathy
Acute confusional state	
Anxiety disorder	
Cognitive dysfunction	
Mood disorder	
Psychosis	

Table 1.2 ACR case definitions of NPSLE

Source: ACR, 1999

1.2.2 Common manifestations of NPSLE

Although the reported frequency of overall neuropsychiatric events using the ACR case definitions varies (37-95%), similar frequency of neuropsychiatric events have been identified in different SLE cohorts, including cognitive dysfunction (55-80%), headache (20-72%), mood disorders (10-57%), seizure (6-51%), cerebrovascular disease (5-18%) and anxiety (4-24%) (Ainiala et al., 2001; Bertsias & Boumpas, 2010; Brey et al., 2002; Hanly et al., 2004; Sanna et al., 2003b; Sibbitt et al., 2002). Of note, nearly half of all the 19 neuropsychiatric syndromes including cranial neuropathy, mononeuropathy, aseptic meningitis, movement disorders, demyelinating syndrome, Guillain–Barr é syndrome, autonomic disorder, myasthenia gravis and plexopathy account for a frequency of less than 1% of patients with SLE (Bertsias & Boumpas, 2010).

<u>Headache</u>

The association between SLE and headache is debatable. Although headache (including migraine) is prevalent in SLE, a meta-analysis of epidemiological studies failed to demonstrate an increased frequency of headache in lupus patients in comparison with healthy subjects. Likewise, it was unable to demonstrate which subtypes of headache are more specific for SLE (Mitsikostas et al., 2004). Aspetic meningitis has been identified to cause headache in patients with SLE (Kanekura et al., 1993; Lancman et al., 1989). Anti-PL antibodies have been revealed to be associated with chronic headache in patients with SLE (Sanna et al., 2003a), but the association between anti-PL antibodies and migraine in patients with SLE remains inconclusive (Sanna et al., 2003a). It has been suggested that headache might be a common component of active lupus and it

likely results from non-SLE factors. With careful history taking and physical examination, lupus patients with headache might not require investigation more than that required for non-SLE individuals with headache (Bertsias & Boumpas, 2010; Lahita, 2011).

Mood disorder & Anxiety

Mood and anxiety disorders are common symptoms in SLE (Bachen et al., 2009; Mak et al., 2011; Miguel et al., 1994; Utset et al., 1994). Mood and anxiety disorders in lupus patients have been demonstrated to be associated with psychological and social factors but not with disease activity of lupus (Shortall et al., 1995). Cytokines, especially INF γ , have been revealed to be related to anxiety in lupus patients (Figueiredo-Braga et al., 2009). Since the features of mood disorder and anxiety observed in SLE patients do not differ from that in non-SLE conditions, it requires no additional assessment which is necessary for mood disorder and anxiety in non-SLE individuals.

<u>Seizures</u>

In patients with SLE, the majority of seizures occur as generalized seizures and only a minority of them is related to focal neurological events (Lahita, 2011). Seizures usually occur in lupus patients during active disease and only a minority of cases lupusrelated seizures persist as a chronic disorder (Lahita, 2011). The presence of stroke and anti-PL antibodies is associated with seizures (Mikdashi & Handwerger, 2004; Sanna et al., 2003b). Although electroencephalography (EEG) and brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) are the main investigations of choice to evaluate seizures in lupus patients (Bertsias & Boumpas, 2010), another potential cause of seizures such as drugs, metabolic disturbance, renal dysfunction, CNS infection and reversible posterior encephalopathy are required to be excluded by appropriate investigation if necessary (Beleza, 2012). Further discussion of these investigations will be out of the scope of this thesis.

Cerebrovascular disease

Patients with SLE have been shown to have an increased risk for cerebrovascular events when compared to the age- and sex-matched general population (Esdaile et al., 2001; Ward, 1999). Cerebrovascular accidents are broadly classified into ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke. More than 80% of cerebrovascular accidents in SLE patients are ischemic in nature, while the frequencies of multifocal disease, intracerebral hemorrhage and subarachnoid hemorrhage are between 3 and 12% (Bertsias & Boumpas, 2010). The management of cerebrovascular disease in SLE does not differ significantly from that of the non-SLE populations. An exception is that if lupus patients who suffer from stroke are positive for anti-PL and/or lupus anti-coagulant (LAC) antibodies for more than once at least 3 months apart, anticoagulation may be more beneficial than antiplatelet agents alone in reducing the probability of recurrent stroke (Furie et al., 2011).

1.3 Cognitive dysfunction in SLE

1.3.1 Overview

<u>Definition</u>

Cognition is the sum of intellectual functions including reception of external stimuli, information processing, learning, storage and expression that result in thought, which can be categorized into various domains including attention, memory, learning, reasoning, executive function, language, visuoperception, sensory-motor, judgment and insight (Harrison & Ravdin, 2002; Kozora et al., 2008b). Individuals who have disturbance of any of these domains can be said to have cognitive dysfunction. Dysfunction in attention, information processing, learning and memory, visuospatial activities, executive function, abstract thinking and psychomotor speed are commonly described in the patients with SLE (Kozora et al., 2008b). The scale of cognitive dysfunction may be restricted to a certain cognitive domains or extended to a number of domains, depending on the properties of the pathogenic insults (Harrison & Ravdin, 2002).

<u>Epidemiology</u>

The awareness of the high prevalence of cognitive dysfunction in SLE has been well established since the first study was reported by Carbotte and colleagues in the mid-1980s (Carbotte et al., 1986). In their study, 62 female patients with SLE underwent a comprehensive test battery for assessment of cognitive function, which comprised the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS), Wechsler Memory Scale, Consonant Trigrams, Rey Auditory-Verbal Learning Test, Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figure Drawing, Token Test, Trail Making Test, Stroop Color-Word Interference Test, Design Fluency Test, Benton Controlled Word Association Test, Animal Naming Test, Finger Tapping Test and Handedness Questionnaire (Carbotte et al., 1986). Sixty-six percent of the 62 patients showed cognitive dysfunction, which was significantly higher than that in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (17%) and healthy individuals (14%) (Carbotte et al., 1986). Subsequent epidemiological studies in SLE have found that cognitive dysfunction is the commonest NPSLE manifestation, which ranges from 55% to 80% (Ainiala et al., 2001; Bertsias & Boumpas, 2010; Brey et al., 2002; Hanly et al., 2004; Sanna et al., 2003b; Sibbitt et al., 2002). In addition, subclinical cognitive dysfunction was shown to occur between 11 and 54% of lupus patients in a comprehensive review of 14 cross-sectional studies (Denburg & Denburg, 2003). Subclinical cognitive dysfunction was revealed in lupus patients without clinically overt neuropsychiatric symptoms who demonstrated poorer performance in cognitive tasks assessing attention, verbal memory and logical reasoning than healthy individuals (Kozora et al., 2008a; Kozora et al., 1996; Monastero et al., 2001).

Impact of cognitive dysfunction of SLE on employment and quality of life

Given the high prevalence of clinical and subclinical cognitive dysfunction in lupus patients, the impact of cognitive dysfunction on employment, functional outcome, and health-related quality of life (HRQoL) in patients with SLE has been extensively evaluated in a number of cross-sectional and cohort studies. HRQoL refers to specific aspects of quality of life that relates to an individual's physical and psychosocial wellbeing which includes the components of physical functioning, social functioning, role functioning, mental health and general health. Cognitive dysfunction has been identified as one of the major contributors to poor HRQoL in both pediatric and adult lupus patients (Kiani & Petri, 2010; Williams et al., 2011) and lupus patients were consistently shown to have significantly lower HRQoL scores when compared with age- and gender-matched healthy individuals (Sweet et al., 2004). Lupus patients, who demonstrate cognitive dysfunction particularly in the form of memory deficit, are more likely to report being incapable of working (Panopalis et al., 2007; Utset et al., 2006). In addition, memory impairment is correlated with the likelihood of unemployment in these patients (Panopalis et al., 2007). Furthermore, self-reported memory impairment and anxiety and depressive symptoms, which are highly prevalent in SLE patients with the reported frequencies of around 51 and 74% respectively, have been identified to be two of the major factors associated with work disabilities (Mok et al., 2008).

Lupus patients with cognitive dysfunction often pose challenges to their attending physicians regarding diagnosis and management. Cognitive dysfunction is not specific to SLE. A number of non-SLE causes of cognitive dysfunction have been identified to be present in patients with SLE, such as cerebral ischemia and hemorrhage, hypertension, endocrinopathies, fever, antidepressants, anxiety, depression, metabolic disturbances, pain, fatigue and sleep disturbance (Hanly & Harrison, 2005). These factors must be addressed where appropriate and excluded before attributing cognitive dysfunction to SLE.

1.3.2 Potential pathogenic mechanisms of cognitive dysfunction

1.3.2.1 Autoantibodies

ANA

Findings from human studies regarding the relationship between the presence of ANA in the serum, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and occasionally neural tissue of patients with SLE have provided circumstantial evidence of how ANA is involved in the pathogenesis of neuropsychiatric syndromes in SLE (Bluestein et al., 1981; Hanly, 2005; Weiner et al., 2000a; Zvaifler & Bluestein, 1982). However, the association between ANA and cognitive dysfunction in SLE remains unclear (Denburg et al., 1987; Hanly et al., 1993; Papero et al., 1990). Direct involvement of ANA in cognitive dysfunction has

been revealed in animal studies, in which intracranial injection of ANA induced memory impairment, seizures and neuropathological alterations (Hanly, 2005).

Anti-NR2 antibodies

Anti-NR2 antibodies recognize the specific N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) which consist of the NR2a and NR2b subunits and are most densely populated in the hippocampus and amygdala (Li & Tsien, 2009). Significantly higher levels of anti-NR2 antibodies have been found in the CSF of lupus patients with NPSLE compared to SLE patients without NPSLE and healthy individuals (Lauvsnes & Omdal, 2012). Serum levels of anti-NR2 antibodies were also found to be higher in patients with NPSLE than those in SLE patients without neuropsychiatric syndromes and healthy controls in a number of studies, but results were inconsistent (Lauvsnes & Omdal, 2012). More information about anti-NR2 antibodies will be discussed in the subsequent section of this thesis.

<u>Anti-PL antibodies</u>

Anti-PL antibodies predominantly direct against anionic phospholipids and phospholipid-binding proteins, and are associated with focal neuropsychiatric syndromes, such as cerebrovascular accidents and focal seizures (Love & Santoro, 1990; Sanna et al., 2003b). So far, anti-PL antibodies, in particular, anti-cardiolipin (aCL) antibody and LAC, have been extensively studied in patients with NPSLE (Colasanti et al., 2009). Pathogenic aCL antibody was able to cause cognitive dysfunction in rodent models (Sun et al., 1992; Ziporen et al., 2004). In patients with SLE, the association between aCL antibody and poor psychomotor speed, conceptual reasoning and executive function has

been demonstrated (Hanly et al., 1999; Lai & Lan, 2000; Menon et al., 1999). The effect of aCL antibody in cognitive dysfunction is possibly via thrombosis of intracranial vasculatures (Lahita, 2011) or microvasculopathy characterized by endothelial proliferation and fibrinoid necrosis (Hanly et al., 1992b). In addition, lupus patients who were positive for LAC yielded significantly higher risk for cognitive dysfunction when compared with those who were negative for LAC (Denburg et al., 1997). The association was suggested to be mediated via micro-thrombotic abnormalities or vasculopathy (Colasanti et al., 2009).

Anti-intermediate neurofilament alpha-internexin antibodies

Intermediate neurofilament alpha-internexin (INA) forms the type IV intermediate neurofilament (IF) throughout the development of CNS and PNS and has only been found in the CNS of the adulthood in murine models (Fliegner et al., 1990; Lee & Cleveland, 1994; Yuan et al., 2006). Murine models immunized by INA of the human sequence were demonstrated to have lupus-like cognitive dysfunction and hippocampal neuronal death (Lu et al., 2010). Furthermore, in patients with NPSLE, INA has been identified as a potential autoantigen associated with neuropsychiatric symptoms (Kimura et al., 2008). High titers of anti-INA antibodies have been found in both sera and CSF of around 50% of 67 lupus patients with NPSLE in a recent study (Lu et al., 2010). Moreover, the levels of both CSF and serum anti-INA antibodies were associated with cognitive dysfunction in these patients assessed by the mini-mental state examination (Lu et al., 2010).

1.3.2.2 Inflammatory mediators

<u>Cytokines</u>

Cytokines function as inflammatory mediators. Early studies identified the associations between a number of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the CSF including IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10 and INF α and neuropsychiatric manifestations in patients with SLE (Gilad et al., 1997; Hanly, 2007; Shiozawa et al., 1992). Serum C-reactive protein, a non-specific marker of inflammation, was demonstrated to correlate with poor performance in neuropsychological test that assessed executive function in patients with SLE (Shucard et al., 2007). Serum IL-6 which has been shown to be elevated in patients with active lupus, was demonstrated to be associated with learning impairment in lupus patients even after adjusting for depression and corticosteroid use (Kozora et al., 2001). It has been suggested that the association between IL-6 and cognitive dysfunction in patients with SLE might be mediated via neuronal and astrocytic degradation in the brain parenchyma (Fragoso-Loyo et al., 2007).

Matrix metalloproteinases

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMP), which belong to the family of endoperoxidases responsible for degrading extracellular matrix components (Birkedal-Hansen et al., 1993), are important inflammatory mediators of NPSLE. MMP-9 critically involves in the disruption of the blood-brain barrier (BBB), whereas the tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMP) 1 plays a key role in stabilization of the BBB (Nagase et al., 2006). Serum level of MMP-9 is elevated in patients with Guillain–Barr é syndrome and is correlated with disease severity of lupus (Creange et al., 1999). Serum and CSF of MMP-9 levels were shown to be elevated in lupus patients with cognitive dysfunction when compared with those without NPSLE (Ainiala et al., 2004; Trysberg et al., 2004). The association between cognitive dysfunction and increased levels of MMP-9 was suggested to be related to CNS damage induced by neuronal and astrocytic degradation, cerebral micro-vasculopathy, cerebral ischemia and disruption of the BBB (Ainiala et al., 2004; Kozora et al., 2008b; Trysberg et al., 2004).

1.3.2.3 Neuropeptides

The role of vasopressin on cognition has been studied in rodent models and humans (Bennett et al., 1997; Zink & Meyer-Lindenberg, 2012). Animal studies demonstrated an association between vasopressin and attention and memory (de Wied & van Ree, 1982; Insel et al., 1999; Strupp & Levitsky, 1985). Murine models with deletion of a single nucleotide in the second exon of the vasopressin gene demonstrated deficits of attention and working memory (Colombo et al., 1992; Insel et al., 1999), although the mechanisms underlying these observations remain unknown. In humans, vasopressin has been suggested to affect emotional processing by modulating the activity and connectivity of a neural circuit connecting the medial prefrontal cortex and the amygdala (Zink et al., 2010). Increased hypothalamic expression of vasopressin was demonstrated in the MRL/*lpr* mouse model (Sakic et al., 1999) , which is an acceptable animal models for NPSLE (Gulinello & Putterman, 2011). Serum levels of vasopressin have been demonstrated to be increased in lupus patients with cognitive dysfunction but the mechanism underlying this observation remains unknown (Lapteva et al., 2006b).

1.3.2.4 Genetics

The genetic association with neuropsychiatric manifestation in patients with SLE has been investigated in a number of studies (Johansson et al., 2005; May et al., 2002; Nath et al., 2002; Oroszi et al., 2006; Pullmann et al., 2004; Rood et al., 1999). Polymorphisms of the apolipoprotein E, IL-10, TNF α and systemic lupus erythematosus susceptibility 3 genes have been identified to be associated with overall neuropsychiatric events in SLE patients (May et al., 2002; Nath et al., 2002; Pullmann et al., 2004; Rood et al., 1999), but their association with specific aspects of NPSLE remains unknown. The Met66 allele of Val66Met polymorphism located within the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) gene has been found to be associated with better psychomotor and motor function in patients with SLE, suggesting a protective effect of BDNF Met66 allele on specific cognitive domain in these patients (Oroszi et al., 2006). Moreover, cognitive dysfunction has been shown to be related to the AA and TT genotype of the Xbal A/G polymorphism in the first intron of the estrogen receptor alpha gene in patients with SLE (Johansson et al., 2005). Despite that the aforementioned findings support the potential impact of genetic association on cognitive dysfunction in SLE patients, neither have the identified gene polymorphisms in SLE patients been evaluated for their relationship with cognitive function in the general or non-SLE population, nor have these results been replicated in independent studies (Kozora et al., 2008b). Thus the role of genetic factors in lupus-related cognitive dysfunction still needs to be cautiously interpreted (Kozora et al., 2008b).

Taken together, interactions of a number of factors including autoantibodies, inflammation mediators, neuropeptides and gene polymorphisms lead to insufficient elimination of antigen-autoantibody complexes, abnormal production of proinflammatory cytokines and the disturbance of the integrity of the BBB. These abnormalities may subsequently contribute to the pathogenesis of cognitive dysfunction in patients with SLE (Kozora et al., 2008b) (see Figure 1.2).

Figure 1.2 Diagram summarizing the potential contributors to cognitive dysfunction in SLE.



Abbreviation: SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; ANA, anti-nuclear antibodies; anti-PL, anti-phospholipid; anti-INA, anti-intermediate neurofilament alpha-internexin; IL-6, interleukin-6; MMP, matrix metalloproteinase; BDNF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor

1.3.3 Neuropsychiatric assessment of cognitive dysfunction in patients with SLE

The ACR proposed a one-hour battery of comprehensive neuropsychological tests to aid clinicians and researchers to evaluate cognitive function in patients with SLE (see Table 1.3). This battery encompasses the evaluation of simple attention, complex attention, memory, visual-spatial processing, language, reasoning and/or problem solving, psychomotor speed and executive function (Anonymous, 1999). Disturbance of at least one of the eight domains is required to satisfy the ACR case definition for cognitive dysfunction (Anonymous, 1999), while the requirement for the involvement of three or more domains has been suggested to be defined as cognitive dysfunction by another study (Ainiala et al., 2001). The reliability and validity of the ACR neuropsychological battery have been tested and the threshold of cognitive dysfunction have been empirically determined in lupus patients in comparison with healthy individuals (Kozora et al., 2004). Despite the comprehensiveness of these tests, the clinical applicability of ACR case definition is restricted by multiple factors. For instance, these tests require specialized training of administers and are prone to practising effects, not mentioning that it takes at least 1 hour to be completed (Lahita, 2011). Thus far, this battery has been employed in a few studies (Harrison et al., 2005; Jung et al., 2012; Kozora et al., 2007; Kozora et al., 2006), but it has yet to gain universal recognition. In addition, this battery cannot be utilized for clinical decision-making although it benefits population-based studies by offering standardization of the definition of cognitive dysfunction (Hanly & Fisk, 2011).

Table 1.3 ACR one-hour neuropsychological battery for SLE

North American adult reading test (to estimate premorbid IQ)	
Digit symbol substitution test	
Trail making test (Parts A and B)	
Stroop color and word test	
California verbal learning test	
Rey-Osterrieth complex figure test (with delayed recall)	
WAIS III Letter-number sequencing	
Controlled oral word association test (FAS)	
Animal naming	
Finger tapping	

Adapted from ACR, 1999

On the contrary, computer-based neuropsychological tests offer the advantages of being rapid and efficient in screening for cognitive dysfunction without special training of administers (Lahita, 2011). The Automated Neuropsychological Assessment Metrics (ANAM), consisting of a modified version of standard neuropsychological tests which evaluate basic information processing speed, attention, learning and memory and executive function (Bleiberg et al., 2000; Kane et al., 2007; Reeves et al., 2007), has been used in a number of studies addressing cognitive dysfunction in both pediatric and adult lupus patients (Antonchak et al., 2011; Benedict et al., 2008; Brey et al., 2002; Brunner et al., 2007; Hanly et al., 2010; Kane et al., 2007; McLaurin et al., 2005; Petri et al., 2008; Roebuck-Spencer et al., 2006). Furthermore, the ANAM is less dependent on the proficiency of English and reading ability as compared to the ACR proposed neuropsychological test battery. The ANAM has been demonstrated to possess strong agreements with the performance on the ACR proposed neuropsychological battery, especially the trail making test, stroop color and word test, and the digital symbol test (Roebuck-Spencer et al., 2006). However, practising effect has been suggested to confound the interpretation of ANAM (Bleiberg et al., 2004) and the ANAM may lack sufficient sensitivity to detect certain aspects of cognitive dysfunction such as impairment of memory, language and visuospatial function (Kozora et al., 2008b).

Apart from the comprehensive battery tests, neuropsychological tests which assess individual cognitive skill including the N-Back for working memory, verb generation task for language, continuous performance task for attention, and the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST) for executive function, have been utilized to study cognitive dysfunction in patients with SLE (Cavaco et al., 2012; Dahl et al., 2006;

Fitzgibbon et al., 2008; Shucard et al., 2011). Combination of these tests with neuroimaging techniques such as functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) may help to elucidate the pathogenic mechanisms of the impairment of specific cognitive domain, regardless of whether the cognitive impairment is clinically overt or unapparent.

1.3.4 Neuroimaging studies of cognitive dysfunction in patients with SLE

Various neuroimaging tools have been used to study a number of aspects of cognitive dysfunction in patients with SLE by assessing the anatomical structure and function of the brain. Structural neuroimaging, such as MRI and magnetization transfer imaging (MTI), as well as functional neuroimaging techniques including positron emission tomography (PET), single-photon-emission computed tomography (SPECT), magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) and fMRI are most frequently employed in studies of SLE patients (Kozora et al., 2008b).

The mechanism of the MRI technique is based on the fact that water is abundant in the tissue of human body (Novelline & Squire, 1997). By utilizing the physical property of water molecules which contain hydrogen nuclei or protons, a powerful magnetic field is deployed to align the magnetization of the protons and a radio frequency field is used to alter the magnetization (Novelline & Squire, 1997). Under this circumstance, the protons generate a rotating magnetic field recorded by an MRI scanner and the images of the scanned region are constructed based on the relative difference in the water content of different tissues (Novelline & Squire, 1997). Conventional MRI is able to identify periventricular white matter hyperintensities, infarcts, hemorrhages, cerebral atrophy and small focal lesions in the brain (Abreu et al., 2005; Kozora et al.,

1998; Sailer et al., 1997; West et al., 1995). However, neither the number of white matter hyperintensities nor the number and size of white matter lesions were found to be correlated with cognitive dysfunction in SLE (Abreu et al., 2005; Kozora et al., 1998).

MTI is an MRI-related technique which quantifies the capacity that the proteins in myelin have to exchange magnetization with the surrounding water molecules (Gochberg & Gore, 2007). Magnetization transfer ratio (MTR) can be calculated from the MTI images and has been proven to be a sensitive marker for pathological changes in the grey matter and "disease burden" in the normal-appearing white matter in a number of neurological disorders such as schizophrenia, dementia and multiple sclerosis (MS) (Bosma et al., 2000; Dousset et al., 1997; Filippi & Rovaris, 2000; Gupta et al., 1999; Inglese et al., 2001; Symms et al., 2004). Moreover, MTR decreases with increasing histopathological changes in these neurological conditions (Symms et al., 2004). MTI studies in patients with SLE have identified brain atrophy (Bosma et al., 2000) and selective grey matter damage (Steens et al., 2004). In particular, association between low MTR peak height value of the brain parenchyma and cognitive dysfunction has been demonstrated in NPSLE patients, suggesting that cognitive dysfunction might be related to the histopathological changes of the brain parenchyma in these patients (Emmer et al., 2008).

PET is a nuclear imaging technique that involves fluorodeoxyglucose, fluoro-Ldihydroxyphenylalanine, 16β -fluoro- 5α -dyhidrotestosterone or 3-fluoro-3deoxythymidine which measures the metabolic activity of tissues reflected by regional glucose uptake (Miele et al., 2008; Young et al., 1999). Patients with SLE yield abnormal brain metabolism, especially at the parieto-occipital regions (Csepany et al., 1997; Kao et

al., 1999a; Kao et al., 1999b; Komatsu et al., 1999; Otte et al., 1997; Sailer et al., 1997; Weiner et al., 2000b). Associations between attention impairment and hypometabolism of the prefrontal, inferior parietal and cingulate areas were demonstrated in SLE patients with mood disorders (Komatsu et al., 1999).

SPECT is another nuclear imaging technique which examines regional cerebral blood flow (CBF) following injection of a radioisotope into the bloodstream (Devous, 2005). SPECT studies on patients with SLE revealed reduced regional CBF to the temporal, parieto-occipital and parietal regions of the brain (Driver et al., 2008; Handa et al., 2003; Kao et al., 1999a; Kao et al., 1999b; Waterloo et al., 2001). In particular, reduction of perfusion in the watershed areas of both frontal lobes has been demonstrated to be correlated with the severity of cognitive dysfunction in the SLE patients (Driver et al., 2008). In addition, significant association has also been found between cognitive dysfunction and reduced regional CBF to superior parietal lobe and superior frontal lobe in patients with SLE (Waterloo et al., 2001).

MRS provides a noninvasive and quantitative regional measurement of different brain metabolites such as N-acetyl aspartate (NAA), choline (Cho), creatine (Cr) and lactate and has been widely used in evaluating CNS diseases (Gujar et al., 2005). Metabolic abnormalities can be visualized on MRS prior to the detection of structural lesions in SLE patients (Sibbitt & Sibbitt, 1993). Higher Ch:Cr ratio in the dorsolateral prefrontal regions and in the white matter of the frontal lobes have been found in SLE patients with cognitive dysfunction than those without (Filley et al., 2009; Kozora et al., 2005). High Ch:Cr ratio is related to inflammatory process, demyelination and gliosis (Ross & Michaelis, 1994), and is associated with the impairment of executive function in patients infected by the human immunodeficiency virus (Chang et al., 2002). Thus, the association between elevated Ch:Cr ratio and cognitive dysfunction in SLE is postulated to be mediated via early myelin injury and subsequent neuronal death due to inflammation in the white matter (Kozora et al., 2008b).

fMRI has been used to assess cognitive dysfunction of SLE patients in a number of studies . Further information on fMRI will be discussed in subsequent sections.

1.3.5 Management of cognitive dysfunction in SLE

Identification followed by treatment of any underlying causes of cognitive dysfunction is the initial management strategy for cognitive dysfunction in patients with SLE (Hanly & Harrison, 2005) (see Figure 1.3). The treatment rationale is based on clinical experience and relevant data on other similar diseases because there is a paucity of data on pharmacologic therapy for cognitive dysfunction in SLE (Kozora et al., 2008a). So far, only one double-blind, placebo-controlled trial has been carried out to evaluate the effects of corticosteroids on cognition in lupus patients with mild cognitive dysfunction (Denburg et al., 1994). These SLE patients were treated with prednisone 0.5 mg/kg per day for 21 days. Overall drug benefit for improvement of cognition was demonstrated in 5 out of 8 SLE patients who completed the trial and the beneficial effects persisted when these SLE patients continued to take glucocorticoids (Denburg et al., 1994). However, it remains uncertain whether the improvement in cognition could sustain if the glucocorticoids were tapered or when the treatment was withdrawn (Kozora et al., 2008b).

In addition to glucocorticoids, the use of aspirin was shown to be associated with better cognitive performance in SLE patients positive for anti-PL antibodies but negative for vascular thrombosis in an observational study (McLaurin et al., 2005). Future clinical data is required to support the use of antiplatelet and/or anticoagulant therapy for cognitive dysfunction in this subset of SLE patients (Kozora et al., 2008b).

Cognitive rehabilitation programs have been attempted in stroke, dementia, traumatic brain injury and MS patients with cognitive dysfunction for retraining certain aspects of their impaired cognitive skills (Kozora et al., 2008b). SLE patients with self-perceived cognitive dysfunction demonstrated improved self-efficacy, memory function and ability to perform daily activities after psycho-educational intervention (Harrison et al., 2005).



Figure 1.3 Algorithm for management of SLE patients with cognitive dysfunction.

Abbreviation: anti-PL, antiphospholipid antibodies; APS, antiphospholipid syndrome Source: Modified from Bertsias and Boumpas, 2010.

1.4 Executive function

1.4.1 Assessment of executive function

Executive function is conceptualized as a summary of cognitive functions including planning, working memory, attention, problem solving, verbal reasoning, response inhibition, mental flexibility and the initiation and monitoring of action (Chan et al., 2008), of which the majority is carried out by the prefrontal cortex (Koechlin & Summerfield, 2007; Miller, 2000; Wood & Grafman, 2003). Disturbance of normal executive function has been observed in a number of neurological, psychological and psychiatric disorders such as stroke (Zinn et al., 2007). Parkinson's disease (Weintraub et al., 2005), attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (Marchetta et al., 2008), autism spectrum disorder (Hill, 2004), depression (Fossati et al., 2002) and schizophrenia (Kerns et al., 2008). Currently, several measurements including the clock drawing test, stroop task, WCST, Tower of Hanoi, category test, random number generation and Delis-Kaplan executive function system are available to evaluate executive function. Amongst all, the WCST is most widely adopted (Nyhus & Barcelo, 2009). The WCST is primarily administered and scored in both the standard (Grant & Berg, 1948) and shortened versions (Heaton. et al., 1993). The conventional standard version of the paper-based WCST comprises 4 reference cards and 128 response cards (Heaton. et al., 1993). Participants are required to match the response card to one of the 4 reference cards based on one of the three prevailing rules (color, number or shape) which can be identified by trial, error and feedback from administrator. Once the identity of the correct rule is known, participants are required to maintain this sorting principle for the next ten consecutive trials until rule shift is indicated by an incorrect match. There is no predetermined time restriction on the conventional WCST and sorting continues until all cards are sorted or six correct sorting criteria are reached. The number of categories completed, perseverative errors and non-perseverative errors are commonly used to evaluate test performance (Nyhus & Barcelo, 2009). In addition, the WCST has been modified to be computer-based and applied in a number of functional imaging studies to investigate the component processes of executive function (Buchsbaum et al., 2005).

1.4.2 The temporally dynamic components of executive function

Executive function is postulated as a single unit by which the attention resources are allocated to support ongoing cognitive processes (Berman et al., 1986; Weinberger et al., 1986). This theory had been kept unchanged until evidence has emerged recently to support the notion that executive function consists of distinct yet interacting cognitive processes carried out by different cortical regions to achieve a common goal (Buchsbaum et al., 2005; Sylvester et al., 2003). Through creative modifications of the original WCST, neuroimaging studies have been attempting to dissect the presumed mental subcomponents of executive function and the brain involvement underlying these cognitive processes (Buchsbaum et al., 2005; Graham et al., 2009). The WCST rule shift has been found to be associated with activation at the posterior section of the inferior frontal sulcus (IFS) which facilitates the cognitive demand for response inhibition (Konishi et al., 1999a; Konishi et al., 1999b), whereas updating behavior in WCST is associated with left-lateralized activation at the IFS (Konishi et al., 2002). A modified paradigm was designed to dissect the WCST into four experimental stages (receiving negative feedback, matching after negative feedback, receiving positive feedback and matching after positive feedback) and two control stages (control matching and control

feedback) (Monchi et al., 2001). It has been assumed in this modified test that the brain activities upon receiving negative feedback are related to rule shift, while the cortical involvement following positive feedback is associated with updating the cognitive set in memory or maintenance of the established rule identity (Monchi et al., 2001). Different prefrontal regions have been demonstrated to be involved in executive function in a stage-specific manner. However, this strategy is compromised by the presence of ambiguous cards, in which the participants might receive positive feedback without identifying the underlying rule, resulting in contamination of updating behavior with rule searching. For instance, when One Red Triangle is to be sorted, the One Red Star reference card is unable to confirm whether the sorting rule is "color" or "number" even if the associated feedback is positive. This disadvantage is avoided by excluding the ambiguous cards and setting rational interval between card selection and feedback to facilitate the identification of associated cognitive processes (Graham et al., 2009). It was found that both caudates play a role in generating response without knowing the identity of the new rule, whereas the hippocampi serve the update and maintenance components of the established rule. Striatum-hippocampal interaction mediated via the medial cortical areas are found across the entire course of cognitive set-shifting, which casts critical insights into the temporally dynamic components of executive function (Graham et al., 2009).

1.4.3 Executive function in SLE

Executive function has been evaluated by formal neuropsychological tests and the WCST in both pediatric and adult patients with SLE (Conti et al., 2012; Hanly et al., 1992a; Loukkola et al., 2003; Monastero et al., 2001; Waterloo et al., 2002; Wyckoff et

al., 1995). Adult lupus patients with active disease demonstrated poorer performance on the WCST as reflected by the lower overall scores and more perseverative errors when compared to healthy individuals (Conti et al., 2012; Loukkola et al., 2003). Disturbance of visual memory was revealed in pediatric lupus patients assessed by the Wechsler Memory Scale (Wyckoff et al., 1995).

The pathogenesis of the executive function deficit in SLE patients remains elusive. Serum aCL antibodies were suggested to be associated with reduction of executive skills in SLE patients (Conti et al., 2012; Hanly et al., 1999), possibly mediated by modulating neuronal function (Conti et al., 2012). Since functional neuroimaging can potentially unravel the basic neuropathophysiology of cognitive dysfunction, it prompts further research which employs fMRI to study cognitive function in patients with SLE.

1.5 fMRI of the brain

1.5.1 The basic principle of fMRI and blood-oxygen-level-dependent signal

fMRI is a neuroimaging technique which has been developed recently to detect brain activities by measuring the relative changes in blood oxygenation and flow that occurs in response to neuronal activities (Huettel et al., 2004). Brain activation commonly presents as increased neural firing, axonal spiking, elevated synaptic transmission and active transport of calcium and potassium ions back and forth across the membranes of neurons (Frahm et al., 2004). All these processes are ATP-dependent. Since brain does not store glucose, it primarily relies on the oxidation of glucose from cerebral blood supply as the energy source. Thus, increase in blood flow conveys more glucose along with oxygenated hemoglobin (Hb) to regions where neuronal activity is high. The amount of oxygen influx usually exceeds that of the oxygen consumed during glucose oxidation, resulting in a net decrease of deoxygenated hemoglobin (dHb) in the microvasculature around the active neurons (see Figure 1.4). Oxygenated Hb is diamagnetic with no unpaired electrons and magnetic movement, whereas dHb is paramagnetic with unpaired electrons and is 20% more susceptible to the magnetic field when compared to oxygenated Hb (Huettel et al., 2004). The different magnetic susceptibility of dHb results in dephasing of the magnetic resonance signals and darkening of the image in the voxels containing blood vessels with dHb in T2-weighted imaging (Ogawa & Lee, 1990; Ogawa et al., 1990b; Thulborn et al., 1982), while oxygenated Hb does not cause dephasing during the same imaging process (Ogawa et al., 1990a). Using dHb as an endogenous contrast, different magnetic properties of oxygenated Hb and dHb lead to differences of the magnetic resonance signals of the blood determined by the degree of oxygenation under the magnetic field. Since the degree of blood oxygenation is correlated with the level of neural activities, these differences can be visualized as the blood-oxygen-level-dependent (BOLD) signals detected by fMRI scanning which reflects regional brain activities (Ogawa et al., 1990a; Ogawa et al., 1990b). Although fMRI does not measure neural activities directly, it has been proved, using optogenetic tool, that neuron activation elicits increased BOLD signals (Lee et al., 2010), which gives critical credit to use fMRI to record brain activation.

Figure 1.4 Blood oxygenation changes when neurons shift from resting to activation.



Reproduced with permission from Dr. Stuart Clare, University Research Lecturer, FMRIB Centre, University of Oxford, UK Source: Adopted from http://users.fmrib.ox.ac.uk/~stuart/thesis/chapter_3/section3_3.html

1.5.2 fMRI studies of neuropsychiatric disorders

So far, fMRI has been widely applied to study the neural basis and pathogenesis of mental and behavioral changes associated with a number of neuropsychiatric disorders. For instance, in patients with Alzheimer's disease (AD), compromised explicit memory encoding in the mesial temporal lobe and fusiform regions was revealed (Golby et al., 2005). In combination with memory test and genetic markers for AD, fMRI data were shown to be able to predict memory decline in patients with AD (Bookheimer et al., 2000). Resting-state fMRI assessing functional connectivity reveals uncoupling of the "hate circuit" involving the superior frontal gyrus, insula and putamen in patients with depression (Tao et al., 2011). As for schizophrenia, fMRI findings demonstrated that abnormal fronto-temporal lobe connections might be associated with cognitive dysfunction (Mitchell et al., 2001).

Based on the abnormal BOLD signals revealed in patients with neurological or neuropsychiatric disorders, fMRI has been suggested to hold promise for the early detection and differential diagnosis, predicting future change in clinical status, and as a marker of alterations in brain physiology related to neurotherapeutic agents (Dickerson, 2007). The greatest potential of fMRI likely lies in the study of very early and preclinical stages of progressive neurological diseases at the point of subtle neuronal dysfunction, prior to overt anatomic pathology (Dickerson, 2007).

1.5.3 fMRI studies on SLE

At the time of writing this thesis, five fMRI studies have been published which addressed motor function and cognitive function in both pediatric and adult patients with SLE, in which two of them were conducted in SLE patients without neuropsychiatric syndromes. Using the resting-state fMRI procedure, altered brain activities in the cerebellum, posterior cingulate gyrus and the adjacent precuneus which are included in the default mood network were found in lupus patients without neuropsychiatric manifestations (Lin et al., 2011). Moreover, the fMRI signal changes in the cerebellum were positively correlated with lupus disease activity measured by the Systemic Lupus Erythematosus disease activity index (SLEDAI) (Lin et al., 2011). When SLE patients without NPSLE were stratified by disease duration and administered two functional paradigms which evaluated their working memory and emotional response, patients of short disease duration (≤ 2 years) demonstrated significantly better performance in working memory task when compared with those of longer disease duration (≥ 10 years) (Mackay et al., 2011). As for the functional brain signals, patients of short disease duration demonstrated significantly increased BOLD signals in the somatomotor, cingulate and prefrontal cortices and the Brodmann area (BA) 40 which belong to the working memory paradigm as well as in the amygdala and superior parietal area which correspond to the emotional response paradigm when compared to those of longer disease duration (Mackay et al., 2011). No correlation was found between brain activation in the aforementioned regions and the SLEDAI and the SLICC damage index (Mackay et al., 2011).

In lupus patients with NPSLE, motor system and working memory were examined in two fMRI studies. Fourteen right-handed NPSLE patients and 14 matched healthy subjects underwent fMRI scan while they were performing a simple motor task in which participants were required to move the last four fingers of the right hand in a repetitive flexion-extension manner (Rocca et al., 2006). NPSLE patients showed significantly increased activation in the contralateral primary sensorimotor cortex, putamen and dentate nucleus which were included in classical sensorimotor regions, as well as cortical regions of the frontal and parietal lobes and visual system which were not frequently involved in motor function. These findings suggest that reorganization of cortical function seems to help maintain the normal motor function in NPSLE patients via increased activation of cortical regions normally subserving motor tasks and recruitment of extra pathways supporting more complex tasks (Rocca et al., 2006). A similar manner of cortical functional reorganization was demonstrated in another fMRI study which assessed working memory in patients with NPSLE (Fitzgibbon et al., 2008). While the performance of patients with NPSLE was the same as that of their healthy counterparts in the N-Back test, significantly increased brain activations in the supplementary motor area and both posterior inferior parietal lobules which subserve working memory were observed in patients with NPSLE (Fitzgibbon et al., 2008).

The fifth fMRI study involved ten childhood-onset SLE patients, of whom six showed cognitive dysfunction assessed by formal neuropsychological tests (DiFrancesco et al., 2007). Three paradigms including the verb generation task, continuous performance task and N-Back task were administered in these patients to assess their language, attention and working memory respectively. Compared to healthy controls, SLE patients failed to exhibit activation in the Wernicke's area which is involved in the comprehension of spoken and written language (Holland et al., 2001), suggesting that childhood-onset SLE patients might have language deficit due to abnormal neural activities in the Wernicke's area. During the continuous performance task, SLE patients demonstrated increased activation in the fusiform gyrus and visual association cortex, in which the activation patterns were similar to that associated with abnormal attention (Strakowski et al., 2004). Thus, the impairment of attention commonly observed in childhood-onset SLE was likely related to the abnormalities in fusiform gyrus and visual related cortex (DiFrancesco et al., 2007). When working memory was tested by the N-Back task, SLE patients demonstrated activation in the anterior dorsolateral prefrontal and the visual association cortices which are involved in working memory (DiFrancesco et al., 2007), implying that the same cognitive demand might pose greater challenge to the SLE patients and require more cortical activities than healthy subjects to perform the same task (Kozora et al., 2008b).

Taken together the results of all the 5 fMRI studies in lupus patients to date, alterations of neural circuits underlying resting state, working memory and emotional response may occur in lupus patients even without clinically overt NPSLE. Recruitment of additional cortical pathways is required for lupus patients to maintain comparable motor function and working memory as those of healthy individuals.

1.6 NMDAR and the anti-NR2 antibodies

1.6.1 Function of the NMDAR

NMDAR is the receptor for the neurotransmitter glutamate and it serves as the predominant molecular device for controlling synaptic plasticity and memory function (see Figure 1.5) (Li & Tsien, 2009). As one of the major excitatory neurotransmitters, glutamate is present in most neurons in the brain. Stored in vesicles within the presynaptic neurons, glutamate is released with precise control to convey sensory information, respond to motor commands and mediate thought and memory that form cognition and emotion (Aranow et al., 2010). The NMDAR is a heterotetramer comprising four subunits: two NR1 subunits which have a binding site for glycine, and two of any four NR2A, NR2B, NR2C and NR2D subunits (Kutsuwada et al., 1992). NMDARs with the NR2A and NR2B subunits are mostly expressed in the hippocampus and the amygdala in the mammalian central nervous system (Ozawa et al., 1998) and are associated with learning and memory mediated by the hippocampus, and with emotional responses mediated by the amygdala (Aranow et al., 2010). In the hippocampus and amygdala, the NMDARs serve as voltage-gated calcium channels. Upon electrical stimulation to the neurons, glycine and glutamate bind to NR1 and NR2 of the NMDARs respectively to initiate the removal of magnesium ions which block the ion channel pore and the influx of calcium into the cells (Coan & Collingridge, 1985; Li & Tsien, 2009). Calcium influx depends on the duration of the "open state" of the ion channel. Excessive calcium influx into the neurons leads to mitochondrion stress, activation of caspase cascades and eventual excitotoxic neuronal death (Laube et al., 1997; Lipton & Rosenberg, 1994). Interruptions of NMDAR by autoantibodies and antagonists against NMDAR have been suggested to be involved in autoimmune encephalitis, AD, seizures and schizophrenia (Chen & Lipton, 2006; Dalmau et al., 2007; Long et al., 2006). Moreover, NMDAR antagonists such as dizocilpine, phencyclidine and ketamine are able to cause drowsiness, halluncination, seizures and even coma (Ellison, 1995).



Figure 1.5 NMDAR and synaptic plasticity

Reproduced with permission from Li and Tsien, 2009. Copyright Massachusetts Medical Society.

1.6.2 Nature of anti-NR2 antibodies

The genes encoding a subset of IgG isotype anti-dsDNA antibodies extracted from lupus patients and spontaneous lupus mouse models demonstrate somatic mutations, which carry the signature characteristics of T cell-dependent, germinal center maturing B cell response induced by protein antigens (Aranow et al., 2010; Paul et al., 1990). R4A is a monoclonal murine anti-dsDNA antibody which deposits in the glomeruli and causes nephritis (Gaynor et al., 1997). R4A is capable of binding to the DWEYS consensus sequence which is present in the extracellular, ligand-binding domain of both rodent and human NR2A and NR2B subunits of the NMDAR (DeGiorgio et al., 2001). Enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and Western blot analysis showed that R4A could bind to NR2A and NR2B and was able to immunoprecipitate these two subunits from rodent brain lysate (DeGiorgio et al., 2001). Upon binding to the NMDAR, R4A functions to enhance NMDAR activation by prolonging the "open state" of the NMDAR associated ion channels which leads to higher calcium influx and triggers excitotoxic neuronal death (Aranow et al., 2010). Antibodies purified from the sera and CSF of lupus patients with progressive cognitive dysfunction using the same DWEYS consensus sequence in affinity chromatography lead to exitotoxic effects on hippocampal neurons as R4A does, suggesting that cognitive dysfunction might be attributed to the presence of anti-NR2 antibodies in the CSF (DeGiorgio et al., 2001).

1.6.3 Effects of anti-NR2 antibodies on cognition in murine models

It has been demonstrated in murine models that when anti-NR2 antibodies were directly injected into the mouse brain, they bound to the hippocampal neurons and caused

hippocampus-dependent memory impairment (Aranow et al., 2010; DeGiorgio et al., 2001), whereas anti-NR2 antibodies in the peripheral circulation caused neither brain pathology nor abnormal memory and learning in mice with an intact BBB (Kowal et al., 2004). However, when the integrity of BBB is compromised by lipopolysaccharide (LPS), the anti-NR2 antibodies in the circulation can gain access to the brain and preferably bind to the neurons in the hippocampi, leading to hippocampal neuronal death and persistent memory impairment (Kowal et al., 2006). These findings suggest that cognitive dysfunction mediated via anti-NR2 antibodies depend on the integrity of the BBB (Aranow et al., 2010; Diamond & Volpe, 2012). Furthermore, it has been demonstrated in rodent models that anti-NR2 antibodies affected the relevant neurons in a dose-dependent manner. Low concentration of anti-NR2 antibodies enhance excitatory postsynaptic potentials and cause transient cognitive dysfunction and emotional disturbance. High concentration of anti-NR2 antibodies can lead to neuronal death and irreversible cognitive dysfunction (Faust et al., 2010). Taken together, the findings in the murine model suggest that the anti-NR2 antibodies can affect cognitive function and emotional response upon their direct access to the brain, and the magnitude of these effects depend on the integrity of the BBB and the concentration of the antibodies in the CSF (Aranow et al., 2010; Diamond & Volpe, 2012).

1.6.4 The role of anti-NR2 antibodies in SLE

At the time of preparation of this thesis, 15 studies addressing the pathophysiology and potential clinical utility of anti-NR2 antibodies in human SLE were published (Arinuma et al., 2008; Fragoso-Loyo et al., 2008; Gono et al., 2011; Hanly et al., 2006; Hanly et al., 2008; Hanly et al., 2011; Hanly et al., 2012; Harrison et al., 2006;

Husebye et al., 2005; Kozora et al., 2010; Lapteva et al., 2006a; Omdal et al., 2005; Petri et al., 2010; Steup-Beekman et al., 2007; Yoshio et al., 2006). While these studies reveal significantly higher anti-NR2 antibodies in 10-35% patients with SLE when compared to those of the healthy individuals, the relationship between anti-NR2 antibodies and NPSLE remains inconclusive (Arinuma et al., 2008; Fragoso-Loyo et al., 2008; Gono et al., 2011; Hanly et al., 2006; Hanly et al., 2008; Hanly et al., 2011; Hanly et al., 2012; Harrison et al., 2006; Husebye et al., 2005; Kozora et al., 2010; Lapteva et al., 2006a; Omdal et al., 2005; Petri et al., 2010; Steup-Beekman et al., 2007; Yoshio et al., 2006). Three studies investigating CSF derived from SLE patients consistently demonstrated the association between anti-NR2 antibodies and seizures, acute confusional state, psychosis, severe refractory headache and cerebrovascular illnesses, and the levels of anti-NR2 antibodies in the CSF were correlated with disease severity of SLE (Arinuma et al., 2008; Fragoso-Loyo et al., 2008; Yoshio et al., 2006). However, results of studies addressing the potential correlation between serum anti-NR2 and NPSLE have been inconsistent. While the results from three studies identified significant associations between serum anti-NR2 antibodies and cognitive impairment, depression and overall frequency of NPSLE (Gono et al., 2011; Lapteva et al., 2006a; Omdal et al., 2005), this association was refuted by a higher number of studies (Fragoso-Loyo et al., 2008; Hanly et al., 2006; Hanly et al., 2008; Hanly et al., 2011; Hanly et al., 2012; Harrison et al., 2006; Husebye et al., 2005; Kozora et al., 2010; Petri et al., 2010; Steup-Beekman et al., 2007).

Thus, it has been advocated that when compared to CSF anti-NR2 antibodies, serum anti-NR2 antibodies alone may not be a sensitive marker to detect neuropsychiatric syndromes in patients with SLE (Lauvsnes & Omdal, 2012). Since

fMRI appears to be capable of detecting brain activities associated with cognitive dysfunction in a more sensitive manner (DiFrancesco et al., 2007; Fitzgibbon et al., 2008), it is likely to be an attractive strategy to use fMRI signals as surrogates to gauge the potential utility of serum anti-NR2 antibodies in order to detect cognitive dysfunction in patients with SLE, particularly if cognitive impairment is clinically unapparent. In addition, further studies addressing the clinical applicability of the combination of serum anti-NR2 antibodies and non-invasive assessment of the integrity of BBB to predict cognitive dysfunction in lupus patients may be another attractive research direction considering the role of BBB in the development of cognitive dysfunction and emotional disturbance associated with anti-NR2 antibodies in murine models (Diamond & Volpe, 2012).

1.7 Research questions and objectives of the thesis

1.7.1 Objectives

- To assess the executive function in new-onset SLE patient and explore the potential changes in regional brain activation signals before and after achieving adequate disease control with the use of event-related fMRI.
- 2) To explore the potential neural circuits involved in subclinical cognitive dysfunction in new-onset SLE patients without NPSLE by analyzing the cognitive set-shifting processes with the use of event-related fMRI.
- 3) To explore the potential relationship between serum anti-NR2 antibodies and the BOLD signals of fMRI at the hippocampi and amygdala in SLE patients without clinically overt neuropsychiatric symptoms.

1.7.2 Hypothesis

- New-onset SLE patients have different regional brain activation patterns associated with executive function and such activation patterns change over time with adequate disease control.
- Specific neural circuits are involved in subclinical cognitive dysfunction in newonset SLE patients without clinically overt neuropsychiatric symptoms.
- 3) Serum anti-NR2 antibodies are higher in SLE patients than healthy controls and the antibody level correlates with the BOLD signals of fMRI at the hippocampi and amygdala in SLE patients without clinically overt neuropsychiatric symptoms.
CHAPTER 2

PATIENTS AND METHODS

2.1 Recruitment of patients

All patients in the studies reported in this thesis were recruited from the lupus clinic of the Division of Rheumatology, Department of Medicine, National University Hospital (NUH), Singapore between March 2008 and June 2012. All participating patients fulfilled the ACR classification criteria for SLE (Hochberg, 1997). All studies were approved by the National Healthcare Group Domain-Specific Review Board in Singapore. Written informed consent was obtained from the patients and healthy controls before recruitment.

Study 3.1 Part A and Part B were conducted in the same 14 newly-diagnosed SLE patients. Seventeen newly-diagnosed patients with SLE were initially identified for the fMRI study, of whom one was ineligible as she presented with lupus psychosis and another two declined the invitation to participate due to work commitment. These 14 newly-diagnosed SLE patients were representative of the Singapore population in terms of the age of disease diagnosis (Jakes et al., 2012). Study 3.2 involved 12 out of the 14 SLE patients from Study 3.1 as well as 52 SLE patients from other study cohorts recruited from the same medical center.

2.2 Clinical evaluation and data collection

Various demographic and clinical data were collected from clinical interview and medical record review depending on the objectives of individual study. Demographic information included age, gender, ethnicity and education level. Clinical data consisted of clinical manifestation of SLE at the time of disease onset, disease duration of SLE, serological information, disease activity and disease damage score and details of pharmacological management. Disease activity was assessed at study entry and every clinic visit by the same attending physician. Disease damage was assessed annually and at the time of repeat fMRI scans by the same attending physician.

2.3 Assessment of disease activity

Disease activity of SLE was evaluated by the SLEDAI (Bombardier et al., 1992) (see Table 2.1). The validated index consists of 24 items with individual definition for each. Presenting items are scored and summed based on the predetermined weights for each item. Higher weights are designated to more life-threatening item. A cut-off score of 3 or 4 is suggested to indicate active disease activity (Yee et al., 2011). Higher SLEDAI scores are shown to be associated with poor outcome in patients with SLE including death and tissue injury (Ibanez et al., 2011). The SLEDAI has been demonstrated to be a reliable tool for assessing lupus activity even when it is used by less experienced clinicians (Petri et al., 1992) and the reliability of the tool is not subject to geographic or cultural effects (Gladman et al., 1992, 1994). In addition, the SLEDAI has been revealed to be sufficiently sensitive to detect changes of disease activity over time (Gladman et al., 1994) and is therefore useful in prospective and longitudinal studies.

Weight	Descriptor	Definition
8	Seizures	Recent onset. Exclude metabolic, infectious or drug
		cause
8	Psychosis	Altered ability to function in normal activity due to
		severe disturbance in the perception of reality. Include
		hallucination, incoherence, marked loose associations,
		impoverished though content, marked illogical
		thinking, bizarre, disorganized, or catatonic behaviour.
		Exclude uraemia or drug causes
8	Organic brain	Altered mental function with impaired orientation,
	syndrome	memory or other intelligent function, with rapid onset
		fluctuating clinical features. Include clouding of
		consciousness with reduced capacity to focus, and
		inability to sustain attention to environment, plus at
		least two of the following: perceptual disturbance,
		incoherent speech, insomnia or daytime drowsiness, or
		increased or decreased psychomotor activity. Exclude
		metabolic, infectious or drug causes
8	Visual disturbance	Retinal changes of SLE. Include cytoid bodies, retinal
		haemorrhages, serious exudates or haemorrhages in

Table 2.1 The Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity Index

53

		choroids, or optic neuritis. Exclude hypertension, infection or drug causes
8	Cranial nerve disorder	New onset of sensory or motor neuropathy involving cranial nerves
8	Lupus headache	Severe persistent headache; may be migrainous, but must be non-responsive to narcotic analgesia
8	CVA	New onset of cerebrovascular accident(s). Exclude arteriosclerosis
8	Vasculitis	Ulceration, gangrene, tender finger nodules, periungual, infarction, splinter haemorrhages, or biopsy or angiogram proof of vasculitis
4	Arthritis	More than 2 joints with pain and signs of inflammation (i.e. tenderness, swelling, or effusion)
4	Myositis	Proximal muscle aching/weakness, associated with elevated creatine phosphokinase/aldolase or electromyogram changes or a biopsy showing myositis
4	Urinary casts	Heme-granular or red blood cell casts
4	Haematuria	>5 red blood cells/high power field. Exclude stone, infection or other cause

4	Proteinuria	>0.5gm /24 hours. New onset or recent increase if more than 0.5gm/24 hours
4	Pyuria	>5 white blood cells/high power field. Exclude infection
2	New rash	New onset or recurrence of inflammatory type rash
2	Alopecia	New onset of recurrence of abnormal, patchy or diffuse hair loss
2	Mucosal ulcers	New onset of recurrence of oral or nasal ulcerations
2	Pleurisy	Pleuritic chest pain with pleural rub or effusion, or pleural thickening
2	Pericarditis	Pericardial pain with at least 1 of the following: rub, effusion, or electrocardiogram confirmation
2	Low complement	Decrease in CH50, C3, or C4 below the lower limit of normal for testing laboratory
2	Increased DNA binding	> 25% binding by Farr assay or above normal range for testing laboratory
1	Fever	> 38 °C. Exclude infectious cause
1	Thrombocytopenia	< 100,000 platelets/mm ³

2.4 Assessment of disease damage

SLE-related damage was assessed by the Systemic Lupus International Collaborating Clinics / American College of Rheumatology damage index (SDI), which is the standard tool accepted by the ACR to evaluate damage in SLE (Gladman et al., 1997). The reproducibility and reliability of SDI have been demonstrated in various international centers. Irreversible organ damage is scored by 41 items included in the SDI from the time of SLE onset. Damage item is individually defined and designated with a glossary of terms and the corresponding index. Damage which has been present for more than 6 months will be scored regardless whether it is caused by lupus, its treatment or concurrent diseases. Damage in the same organ system caused by repeat events is scored at most twice provided that a minimum of 6 months have lapsed between two consecutive events. The same lesion can be only scored once. Damage and the corresponding range has been defined for 12 organ systems, namely ocular (0-2), neuropsychiatric (0-6), renal (0-3), pulmonary (0-5), cardiovascular (0-6), peripheral vascular (0-5), gastrointestinal (0-5), musculoskeletal (0-6), skin (0-3), premature gonadal failure (0-1), diabetes mellitus (0-1) and malignancies (0-2).

2.5 Laboratory evaluation

2.5.1 Serological tests

The serological tests were performed in the standard laboratories of the NUH. Indirect immunofluorescence was used to detect the presence of ANA. ELISA would be performed subsequently if the indirect immunofluorescence for ANA was positive. AntidsDNA antibody was assessed by a standard ELISA procedure (Bio-Rad, CA, USA). phospholipid-dependent coagulation including Three tests activated partial thromboplastin time (APTT), kaolin clotting time (KCT) and dilute Russell Venom Viper test (DRVVT) were used to screen for LAC. In both the KCT and DRVVT systems, the presence of an inhibitor was determined by mixing equal amount of normal plasma and lupus plasma. LAC positivity was confirmed via platelet neutralization experiments in the APTT and DRVVT tests. Anti- β 2 glycoprotein I antibodies (both IgG and IgM) and aCL were assayed using standard ELISA procedures (Quanta Lite, CA, USA).

2.5.2 Evaluation of brain activity by event-related fMRI

2.5.2.1 Evaluation of executive function and event-related fMRI

All SLE patients and healthy controls involved in the fMRI studies were instructed to perform the computer-based modified WCST (see Figure 2.1). Prior to the test, all participants underwent training to ensure satisfactory comprehension of the sorting criteria. During RS, four cards appeared along the top of a blue screen as reference and kept unchanged as the test ensued. On each trial, a candidate card which appeared at the central bottom of the blue screen was to be matched with one of the four reference cards based on one of the three rules (color, number, shape) randomly generated by the program (see Figure 2.2). Participants were given 4 seconds to respond, after which a bar would appear under the selected reference card, or else the words "too late" would appear on the blue screen which signified trial termination. After the 4 seconds' selection time, fixation display of a white cross would appear at the center of the blue screen. After another 5 seconds, feedback would appear as "Right" or "Wrong" on the screen, indicating correct or incorrect card selection respectively. The feedback stimuli would appear for 500 milliseconds during which FE was allowed, then the display would change to fixation until the inception of the next trial.



Figure 2.1 Performing computer-based WCST in the fMRI scanning room

Figure 2.2 The modified Wisconsin Card Sorting Test



The identified rule kept unchanged randomly for 3 to 5 successive correct feedbacks until another rule was randomly generated. Appearance of first negative feedback (1st NF) after successive correct feedbacks signaled as a "shift" event for subjects to abandon previously prepotent rule and search for a new one. Subsequent negative feedback (2nd NF), if applicable, would serve as a "generate" event to identify the correct rule. The first positive feedback (1st PF) in a series of correct feedbacks was regarded as an "update" event to register the newly confirmed cognitive set in memory while subsequent positive feedback (2nd PF) served as a "maintain" event to keep the prevailing rule until a signal was received to shift to another rule.

Each scanning session contained 5 runs and each run lasted for 8 minutes. During the performance of the WCST and concomitant imaging, the sequence of the "shift", "generate", "update" and "maintain" events was kept constant throughout the course of the WCST while the predefined time interval of the imaging sequence was independent of the WCST event sequence.

2.5.2.2 Image acquisition

Functional imaging was performed on a Siemens Symphony 1.5T MRI scanner (Siemens, Erlangen, Germany) sited at the Functional Imaging Center, level 1, NUH. A blipped gradient-echo echoplanar imaging sequence was applied for functional imaging: time repetition = 3000 ms, flip angle = 90 °, field of view = 192×192 mm, pixel matrix = 64×64 . Each run contained 156 whole brain acquisitions in a plane parallel to the line between the anterior and posterior commissures on the sagittal scout images: 32 oblique axial slices, 3-mm thick, 0.3-mm gap between slices, descending interleaved slice

acquisition. T1-weighted anatomical reference images were acquired by a magnetization prepared rapid acquisition gradient echo sequence: pixel matrix = 256×256 , field of view = 206×206 mm, 80 slices, 2mm thick in the coronal plane.

2.5.2.3 Image processing

Image processing and analyses were performed using the software Brain Voyager QX (Version 2.1, Brain Innovation, Netherlands). Preprocessing steps, including slice scan time correction, motion correction, spatial smoothing (8-mm full width half-maximum) and linear trend removal, were performed prior to statistical mapping of brain activation during the fMRI paradigm. Subsequently, functional images were registered to the magnetization prepared rapid acquisition gradient echo images, followed by transformation of the realigned images into Talairach space. The Talairach transformation was achieved by first identifying the anterior commissures (AC), the posterior commissures (PC) and AC-PC plane in the anatomic images of each subject. Other fiduciary markers, including anterior point, posterior point, superior point, inferior point, right point and left point, were defined subsequently to generate transformation of anatomic images to a standard brain coordinate system.

2.5.3 Measurement of anti-NR2 antibody

Amidated and acetylated peptide of the sequence SVSYDDWDYSLEARV was synthesized (GenScript, NJ, USA) and used as a substrate of our home-made indirect ELISA for measuring the serum anti-NR2 antibodies (DeGiorgio et al., 2001; Husebye et al., 2005). The peptide has been demonstrated to have a purity of at least 95% assessed by high-performance liquid chromatography and it contains the pentapeptide consensus sequence DWDYS which is the epitope recognized by the anti-NR2 antibodies (DeGiorgio et al., 2001; Gono et al., 2011). Maxisorp 96-well microplates (NUNC, NY, USA) were coated with 0.5 μ g of the synthesized peptide in 100 μ l phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) per well and kept overnight at 4 °C. Plates were blocked with 3% fetal calf serum (Gibco, CA, USA) in PBS for 1 hour at 37 °C and subsequently incubated with serum samples at the dilutions of 1:500 and 1:1000 in PBS for 2 hours at 37 °C. The microplates were then washed with PBS-Tween and incubated with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-human IgG (Abcam, Cambridge, UK) for 1 hour at 37 °C, followed by another wash with PBS-Tween. One hundred microliters (µl) of tetramethyl benzidine (BD Biosciences, CA, USA) were subsequently added to each well. The reaction was terminated 10 minutes later by adding 2 N H₂SO₄. Optical density at 450 nm (OD₄₅₀) was measured by a Multiskan FC ELISA Microplate Reader (Thermo Scientific, MA, USA). Since sample dilution at 1:500 worked most optimally for our immunoassays, the OD₄₅₀ of serum samples at this dilution was reported. R4A monoclonal antibody (R4A mAb) was kindly provided by Dr Betty Diamond (The Feinstein Institute for Medical Research, Manhasset, NY, USA). The R4A mAb was serially diluted to serve as calibration for each plate (see Figure 2.3).





2.6 Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were calculated by the SPSS program (version 18 or version 20). Values in this thesis were reported as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) unless otherwise specified.

2.6.1 Comparison of continuous and categorical data

Comparison of continuous variables between two groups was carried out by Students't-test for independent samples when the data followed a normal distribution or if equal variance could be assumed, otherwise the Mann-Whitney U test would be used instead. Kurtosis and skewness were calculated to evaluate the normality of the data, of which the acceptable range for normal distribution was suggested to be between -1 to +1 (Chan, 2003). The Levene's test was used to test for equality of variance.

Comparison of categorical variables between two groups was executed by the χ^2 test. The Fisher's exact test would be performed instead when the frequency of occurrence was low.

2.6.2 Correlation analysis

Bivariate correlation was used to analyze the relationship between the serum levels of anti-NR2 antibodies and clinical characteristics of patients with SLE.

Statistical significance

A two-tailed P value < 0.05 was defined as statistical significance for all statistical tests unless otherwise specified.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

Study 3.1-Part A

A prospective functional MRI study for executive function in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus without neuropsychiatric symptoms

INTRODUCTION

Cognitive dysfunction, which primarily affects attention, reasoning, executive function, verbal memory, visual-spatial information processing and psychomotor speed (Bertsias et al., 2010; Hanly et al., 2005), has been recognized as one of the commonest NPSLE manifestations which may impose substantial physical, psychological and socioeconomic burden to patients and the community (Lau & Mak, 2009; Tam et al., 2008). Cognitive dysfunction is often clinically subtle and difficult to be recognized and despite that a standard battery of neuropsychological assessments for identifying cognitive dysfunction in SLE patients is currently available (Anonymous, 1999) and studies involving anatomical MRI and MRS have revealed the presence of structural cerebral white and gray matter abnormalities in patients with lupus (Ainiala et al., 2005; Lapteva et al., 2006a; Luyendijk et al., 2011), these assessments are not able to address the potential mechanism cognitive dysfunction in SLE.

fMRI has grown into the workhorse of brain imaging to study brain activation patterns associated with psychological tasks which probe specific aspects of cognition. While fMRI offers a non-invasive platform to evaluate abnormal brain activities in a number of neurological conditions such as cerebrovascular disease, migraine and multiple sclerosis (Calautti & Baron, 2003; Filippi & Rocca, 2004; Rocca et al., 2003), its application to elucidate the neuropathological mechanism underlying cognitive dysfunction in SLE patients is rare. Two recent cross-sectional studies demonstrated increased brain activation in certain cortical regions associated with cognitive tasks assessing working memory, attention and language in certain cortical regions in SLE patients when compared with healthy controls (DiFrancesco et al., 2007; Fitzgibbon et al., 2008). These observations contribute to our preliminary understanding that significant brain activation with compensatory recruitment of additional cortical regions is required for SLE patients to maintain a comparable neuropsychiatric performance as healthy individuals.

Given that cognitive dysfunction can persist and even deteriorate over time in SLE patients (Cassano et al., 2007; Mok et al., 2006), it is imperative to study the functional brain pathology of cognitive dysfunction both prevalently and longitudinally in patients with new onset SLE, with an aim to elucidate the regions of abnormal brain activation and their changes over time. We therefore undertook this longitudinal study using event-related BOLD fMRI to assess executive function in new onset SLE patients and explore the changes in brain activation signals over time after adequate disease control with immunosuppressive therapy.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Participants

Patients with newly diagnosed SLE based on the ACR revised classification criteria (Hochberg, 1997) were consecutively recruited from the Lupus Clinic, National University Hospital, Singapore. Healthy controls who were working in the the National University of Singapore were recruited and matched with SLE patients for age, sex, education level and intelligence quotient (IQ). Subjects were excluded if they were lefthanded, if they were not proficient in English, if they had a history of neurological disorder, if they had clinically significant anxiety and/or depressive symptoms, as rated and defined by the HADS with a score ≥ 8 respectively (Mak et al., 2011; Tam et al., 2008), or if they had a concurrent or past history of psychiatric disorder or were using psychotropic medications. IQ was tested using the Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence which consists of the assessment of verbal IQ, performance IQ and the full IQ by a certified clinical psychologist. Written informed consent was obtained before subject recruitment.

Wisconsin Card Sorting Test

Please refer to section 2.5.2.1

The fMRI protocol and imaging processing

Please refer to sections 2.5.2.2 and 2.5.2.3

Statistical analysis of BOLD signals

Beta-score maps were computed in the Talairach coordinate system by a randomeffects general linear model. This model was constructed with separate regressors relative to a fixation baseline for RS and FE. Each hemodynamic response function convolved each regressor, peaking at 6 seconds after onset of card stimuli or feedback evaluation, respectively. Jittering of the fixation intervals between FE and the subsequent RS assisted in event deconvolution (Graham et al., 2009). Composite beta-score maps were constructed for each event for SLE patients and healthy controls to identify significant group-activation regions. The different activation patterns between patients and healthy controls and within patients were assessed for RS and FE events separately and statistically displayed in respective beta-score maps. Application of cluster threshold to activation patterns for each map assured significance of difference.

Interpretation of activation signals

Although the traditional neural efficiency hypothesis suggests that individuals who perform better in cognitive tasks exhibit less task-relevant cortical activities demonstrated by functional imaging (Gray et al., 2003), more recent studies have provided evidence which supports that brain activation patterns are dependent on the complexity of the neuropsychological tests. For example, higher BOLD activation signals during RS and lower activation during FE were demonstrated in individuals with average IQ when compared with those with higher IQ during the performance of the WCST. These observations suggested that individuals with average IQ had poorer strategic planning during the FE stage, which required compensatory recruitment of additional cortical regions for average-IQ individuals to maintain a comparable executive performance as those with higher IQ. Thus, we hypothesize that during the WCST, decreased brain activation during FE suggests poor strategic planning skills and prompts recruitment of extra cortical regions and neural pathways during RS to compensate for the deficient strategic planning skills in order to maintain executive responses.

Assessment of clinical and serological disease activity in SLE patients

Clinical and serological disease activity of SLE was assessed using the SLEDAI and peripheral blood was obtained from patients on the day of fMRI scan. Serum was extracted by blood centrifugation and subsequently assayed for C3, C4 and anti-dsDNA levels by the standard laboratory of the hospital.

All patients were invited to undergo the second event-related fMRI scans if they demonstrated inactive disease activity indicated by SLEDAI \leq 4 points (Yee et al., 2011) and a minimum of 6 months had elapsed from the date of the first scan, coupled with a repeat of SLEDAI assessment and blood tests on the day of the second scans.

RESULTS

Demographic, clinical and results of WCST performance of new-onset SLE patients and healthy controls

Fourteen patients with new-onset SLE and 14 matched healthy controls were recruited for the study. Table 3.1 lists the information on the demographics, clinical manifestation and disease activity index of individual lupus patients involved in this study. Twelve females were included in each group. The SLE patients and controls had comparable demographic characteristics in terms of mean age (39.38 \pm 13.9 vs 34.07 \pm 14.4, year, P = 0.33), duration of education (14.43 \pm 3.4 vs 13.43 \pm 3.4, year, P = 0.45) verbal IQ (96.23 \pm 15.6 vs 100.43 \pm 11.0, P = 0.42), performance IQ (101.50 \pm 19.8 vs 104.86 \pm 11.6, P = 0.59) and full IQ (99.31 \pm 17.1 vs 103.14 \pm 11.2, P = 0.49).

No.	Age, Years	Sex	Education	Clinical manifestation of SLE	SLEDAI
1	47	F	Primary	Joint pain, Raynaud's and rashes	8
2	30	F	Undergraduate	Joint pain and nephritis	14
3	67	М	Secondary	Joint pain	12
4	28	F	Doctorate	Joint pain and rashes	24
5	54	F	Undergraduate	Joint pain and rashes	2
6	49	F	Secondary	Nephritis	8
7	34	F	Secondary	Nephritis, joint pain and rashes	8
8	30	F	Undergraduate	Joint pain and rashes	10
9	61	F	Undergraduate	Joint pain and rashes	8
10	26	F	Undergraduate	Joint pain and rashes	8
11	22	F	Master	Joint pain and pericarditis	12
12	33	F	Doctorate	Rashes and nephritis	0
13	34	М	Diploma	Rashes and nephritis	13
14	37	F	Undergraduate	Nephritis and cutaneous vasculitis	12

 Table 3.1 Demographics, clinical manifestation and disease activity of SLE patients

Abbreviations: SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; F, female; M, male; SLEDAI, systemic lupus erythematosus disease activity index.

The majority of the SLE patients had active disease on recruitment indicated by SLE markers including low serum C3, C4 and high anti-dsDNA levels with mean \pm SD (range) as 70.46 \pm 25.0 (28.00-103.00) mg/dL [normal range (NR): 85-185], 15.42 \pm 10.9 (3.00-38.00) mg/dL (NR: 10-50) and 132.50 \pm 111.3 (1.00-250.00) IU (NR < 20) respectively. The mean \pm SD (range) SLEDAI was 9.93 \pm 5.7 (0-24.00). Both groups performed comparably in the WCST regarding the number of rules identified (19.54 \pm 3.5

vs. 19.50 \pm 3.0; P = 0.50), error per rule (3.04 \pm 2.5 vs. 2.51 \pm 0.7, P = 0.38), and reaction time on recruitment (1679.01 \pm 411.3 ms vs. 1080.51 \pm 228.8 ms, P = 0.11).

Differences in brain activation signals between SLE patients and healthy controls

Feedback evaluation

During 2nd NF, 1st PF and 2nd PF, healthy controls demonstrated significantly increased brain activation in a number of cortical regions including the medial frontal gyri and precentral gyri (BA6), the insular (BA13) and the anterior cingulate gyri (BA24/32) when compared with the new-onset SLE patients. The precentral gyri and medial frontal gyri are located within the premotor and supplementary motor cortices respectively, which subserve planning of complex and coordinated motor movements, decision making, computation and reasoning. The anterior cingulate gyri are involved in response inhibition, error detection and conflict monitoring and processing. Insular is suggested to be associated with integration of sensory information, self-awareness and cognitive functioning.

On the contrary, during the first NF when the rule shift was signaled, significantly elevated activation was revealed in the left middle, left superior, and right medial frontal gyri (BA10/11) and the right parahippocampal gyrus (BA34) in SLE patients when compared to healthy controls. These frontal gyri within BA10/11 have been suggested to be involved in cognitive branching (Walsh et al., 2009), during which previously running task is maintained in a pending state for subsequent retrieval and execution upon completion of the ongoing one. The right parahippocampal gyrus is mainly responsible for memory encoding and retrieval.

During RS after 2nd NF, SLE patients demonstrated significantly enhanced activation in the right superior frontal gyrus (BA9) and both caudate bodies. Superior frontal gyrus of BA9 is located within dorsolateral prefrontal cortex which supports attention and working memory. The caudate body functions in event anticipation and formulation of response strategy for the ongoing trials.

Of note, the right precentral gyrus (BA4), postcentral gyri (BA3) and both superior parietal lobes (BA5/7) were significantly less activated during the rest of the RS events in the SLE group when compared with those of healthy controls. These cortical regions within BA3, 4 and 5/7 are primarily involved in processing of sensory information, motor execution and spatial orientation for goal-oriented behavior respectively.

A detailed summary of the signal differences during RS and FE events between SLE patients and healthy controls is detailed in Table 3.2.

	Brain region –		Falairach	l	Homisphoro	В٨
			У	Z	Tiennsphere	DA
RS after 1st NF						
SLE < Control	Control 1 Postcentral gyrus		-27	48	R	3
	2 Precentral gyrus	47	-17	39	R	4
	3 Superior parietal lobule	20	-44	56	R	5
RS after 2nd NF						
SLE > Control	4 Superior frontal gyrus	8	52	22	R	9

 Table 3.2 Regional differences in brain activation between patients with new-onset

 SLE and matched healthy controls

	5 Caudate body	-10	8	16	L	_
	6 Caudate body	10	8	16	R	_
RS after 1st PF						
SLE < Control	7 Superior parietal lobule	-29	-53	59	L	7
	8 Postcentral gyrus	-30	-31	67	L	3
1st NF						
SLE > Control	9 Superior frontal gyrus	-23	60	10	L	10
	10 Middle frontal gyrus	-25	44	-11	L	11
	11 Medial frontal gyrus	4	50	0	R	10
	12 Parahippocampal gyrus	14	-6	-18	R	34
2nd NF						
SLE < Control	13 Precentral gyrus	-50	-5	33	L	6
	14 Precentral gyrus	50	-5	34	R	6
	15 Insula	-43	-4	11	L	13
	16 Insula	41	-6	16	R	13
1st PF						
SLE < Control	17 Anterior cingulate gyrus	6	7	43	R	32
2nd PF						
SLE < Control	18 Anterior cingulate gyrus	-5	-3	47	L	24
	19 Anterior cingulate gyrus	6	-3	46	R	24
	20 Medial frontal gyrus	-4	-4	53	L	6
	21 Medial frontal gyrus	5	-4	53	R	6

Abbreviations: BA, Brodmann area; R, right; L, left; RS, response selection; FE, feedback evaluation; NF, negative feedback; PF, positive feedback

Prospective data on clinical disease activity and WCST performance in SLE patients

WCST performance

The WCST performance during the follow-up fMRI scan did not differ significantly from that during the first fMRI scan in patients with SLE regarding the number of rules identified (19.36 \pm 5.8 vs 19.54 \pm 3.5, P = 0.906), error per rule (3.04 \pm 2.5 vs 2.2 \pm 0.4, P = 0.095) and reaction time (1679.01 \pm 411.3 vs 1580.4 \pm 347.4, P = 0.17).

Clinical and serological disease activity

After a mean \pm SD (range) of 504.92 \pm 267.0 (196- 1088) days of treatment, disease activities in the SLE patients were adequately controlled as indicated by both the clinical and serological features. The mean SLEDAI decreased significantly (2.64 \pm 1.4 vs 9.93 \pm 5.7, P < 0.001), whereas that of serum anti-dsDNA level tended to improve after disease control (83.42 \pm 93.0 vs 132.5 \pm 111.3, IU, P = 0.064). Serum C3 (89.08 \pm 17.8 vs 70.46 \pm 25.0, mg/dL, P = 0.009) and C4 (20.67 \pm 8.8 vs 15.42 \pm 10.9, mg/dL, P = 0.020) levels increased significantly, whereas daily prednisolone was significantly tapered (3.82 \pm 3.5 vs 15.32 \pm 18.4, mg/d, P = 0.023).

Differences in brain activation signals in SLE patients during the first fMRI scan and the follow-up fMRI scan

Feedback evaluation

All patients who had undergone the first fMRI scans underwent the follow-up scans after sufficient disease control. During the follow-up fMRI scan, reduced cortical activation in a number of brain regions during FE were persistently demonstrated in patients with SLE when compared to the first fMRI scan. During 1st NF, reduced activation was revealed in the left middle frontal gyrus (BA6), right cuneus (BA17) and both fusiform gyri (BA37) which functions in motor planning, pattern recognition of object and color processing and word recognition respectively, while no significant difference was noted during 2nd NF. During 1st PF, the right medial and superior frontal gyri and left precentral gyrus (BA6) and the right anterior cingulate gyrus (BA32) were demonstrated to be less activated. These regions within BA6 and BA32 are suggested to be associated with motor planning and error detection and conflict monitoring respectively. At the stage of 2nd PF, the left posterior cingulate gyrus (BA23), superior parietal lobule (BA5) and middle frontal gyrus (BA9) were revealed to have reduced neuronal activities, which subserve error detection and conflict monitoring, spatial orientation and response inhibition and attention sustaining.

Response selection

After adequate disease control, SLE patients distinctively showed activation in both anterior cingulate gyri (BA32) during RS after 1st NF. Notably, significantly reduced brain activation was demonstrated during all four RS events in a number of cortical regions including the right superior and inferior parietal lobes (BA7, 40), left insula and lingual gyri, right fusiform gyrus, and both inferior and right middle frontal gyri (BA13/18/19/9), and right medial frontal gyrus (BA8). The aforementioned cortical regions located within BA7, 40, BA13/18/19/9 and BA 8 are suggested to serve the function of spatial orientation, mid-level processing of visual information and governance of eye movement respectively.

The BOLD signal differences between SLE patients at first fMRI scan and the follow-up fMRI scan is detailed in Table 3.3.

	Brain region]	Falairac	h	Hemisphere	BA
	-	Х	У	Z		
RS after 1st NF						
Follow-up > First	1 Anterior cingulate	-3	39	-6	L	32
	2 Anterior cingulate	3	38	-5	R	32
Follow-up < First	3 Inferior frontal gyrus	-48	5	30	L	9
	4 Middle frontal gyrus	46	13	34	R	9
RS after 2nd NF						
Follow-up < First	5 Inferior frontal gyrus	45	4	33	R	9
	6 Superior parietal lobule	21	-63	49	R	7
	7 Insula	-37	-21	7	L	13
	8 Fusiform gyrus	34	-72	-11	R	19
	9 Lingual gyrus	-21	-73	-8	L	18
RS after 1st PF						
Follow-up < First	10 Inferior parietal lobule	36	-46	39	R	40
RS after 2nd PF						
Follow-up < First	11 Medial frontal gyrus	7	27	41	R	8
1st NF						
Follow-up < First	12 Middle frontal gyrus	-16	-9	58	L	6

 Table 3.3 Regional differences in brain activation in SLE patients between the first fMRI scan and the follow-up fMRI scan

	13 Fusiform gyrus	-36	-57	-12	L	37
	14 Fusiform gyrus	25	-48	-9	R	37
	15 Cuneus	13	-81	9	R	17
1st PF						
Follow-up < First	16 Anterior cingulate	4	21	34	R	32
	17 Medial frontal gyrus	9	10	53	R	6
	18 Superior frontal gyrus	8	8	55	R	6
	19 Precentral gyrus	-32	-7	50	L	6
2nd PF						
Follow-up < First	20 Posterior cingulate gyrus	-3	-11	33	L	23
	21 Superior parietal lobule	-13	-41	56	L	5
	22 Middle frontal gyrus	-45	7	34	L	9

Abbreviations: BA, Brodmann area; R, right; L, left; RS, response selection; FE, feedback evaluation; NF, negative feedback; PF, positive feedback

DISCUSSION

The present prospective event-related fMRI study found that patients with newonset SLE demonstrated inferior planning strategy which required compensation on response execution during the assessment of executive function when compared with healthy controls, even after achieving sufficient disease control.

Less efficient strategic planning skills regarding planning of complex and coordinated motor movement, decision-making, computation and reasoning (BA6), error detection, conflict monitoring and processing (BA24/32), and integration of sensory information (BA13) (Craig, 2009; Phan et al., 2002) were revealed in new-onset SLE patients when compared with healthy individuals. Although our sample of SLE patients possessed better planning skills regarding cognitive branching (BA10/11) and memory encoding and retrieval (BA34) during FE as compared with the healthy controls, their overall inferior planning strategy resulted in compensatory recruitment of additional cortical regions that boosted attention, working memory (BA9), and event anticipation and strategy formulation , sensory information processing (BA3), motor execution (BA4), and spatial orientation (BA5/7) in order to perform comparably as healthy controls.

After sufficient disease control, SLE patients continued to demonstrate poorer strategic planning skills regarding motor planning (BA6), response inhibition and sustaining of attention (BA9), error detection and conflict evaluation (BA23/32), pattern recognition of object (BA17), spatial orientation (BA5), and color information processing and word recognition (BA37) when compared to the time when their disease was active. These observations suggest that sufficient clinical and serological disease control of SLE

may not be able to improve the relevant strategic planning skill. Instead, recruitment of extra cortical areas was required to enhance response inhibition, error detection, and conflicting processing and monitoring (BA32) to maintain their executive functioning, despite the fact that they relied substantially less on spatial orientation (BA7/40), visual processing (BA9/13/18/19) and governance of eye movement (BA8) during RS. Although reduced dependence on spatial orientation and visual processing may be secondary to the beneficial effects of the clinical improvement of SLE, familiarization with the spatial and screen arrangement of the WCST task during their first scans may theoretically confound the interpretation.

BOLD signal changes are sensitive to even very minute alterations of cerebral perfusion. As a systemic inflammatory condition, SLE may cause a global change in vascular reactivity and lower rate of cerebral blood flow (Giovacchini et al., 2010; Yoshida et al., 2007). It can be argued that the diffuse deactivation of BOLD signals documented in this study were due to poorer global cerebral perfusion. However, this theory cannot explain the observations that BOLD signals were selectively suppressed in a confined number of cortical regions as shown in this study. Thus, other factors such as potential pathology in certain critical connections between brain networks may contribute (DiFrancesco et al., 2007). In view of this, we carried out a mechanistic study to explore the potential malfunction of brain networks and connections and the results will be presented in Part B of this study.

This study was limited by a small sample size. However, sample size of this magnitude has consistently been demonstrated sufficient sensitivity in detecting statistical significance in BOLD signals even in NPSLE na we lupus patients (DiFrancesco et al.,

2007; Fitzgibbon et al., 2008; Rocca et al., 2006). Second, the WCST was performed twice in our SLE patients and it can be argued that patients' learning effect of WCST might confound the interpretation. However, it has been suggested that such learning effect is minimal even if the WCST is reapplied within 1 month. In addition, temporal stability has been shown in most variables probed with the WCST (Ingram et al., 1999). Nevertheless, if learning effect was operant in our patients, the performance during the follow-up scan would have likely improved. Third, the WCST does not cover the assessment of other aspects of cognition such as language and psychomotor speed. Finally, patients with clinically overt neuropsychiatric lupus or cognitive impairment were obviously not included because they might not be able to follow and perform sophisticated neuropsychological test.

In summary, our results demonstrated that subclinical cognitive dysfunction persisted and worsened in patients with SLE despite sufficient disease control. This prompts future targeted research on potentially specific autoantibodies, cytokines, or neurotransmitter which direct against the involved brain regions. Moreover, emerging neuroscience studies focused more on neural circuit-level interaction between multiple cortical regions and cognition (Kapogiannis & Mattson, 2011; Ray & Strafella, 2012; Wilbrecht & Shohamy, 2010), potential neural circuits that might underlie the subclinical cognitive dysfunction in SLE patients would be explored in the Part B of this study.

Study 3.1-Part B

Dysfunctional cortico-basal ganglia-thalamic circuit and altered hippocampalamygdala activity on cognitive set-shifting in non-neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus

INTRODUCTION

In the first part of Study 3.1 we have identified characteristic BOLD fMRI signal changes in a number of cortical brain regions in lupus patients without clinically overt neuropsychiatric manifestations. Evidence has recently suggested that cognitive dysfunction is likely related to abnormal sequential brain activities involving specific neural circuits. For instance, disturbance of executive function has been demonstrated to be associated with dysfunctional classic and extended executive circuits in schizophrenics (Eisenberg & Berman, 2010). The fronto-parietal and fronto-striatial-thalamic disconnections have been revealed to be associated with cognitive dysfunction in patients with mild cognitive impairment (Liang et al., 2011). Moreover, disturbance of the default mode network has been found in lupus patients without neuropsychiatric manifestations (Lin et al., 2011). Thus, it prompts to map the functional abnormalities occurring in potential neural circuits which mediate cognitive dysfunction in SLE patients by analyzing their sequential brain activation while they are going through various sequential stages of cognitive function test. We therefore undertook this fMRI study using the computerized modified WCST to explore the brain activities across all stages of cognitive set-shifting processes in patients with new-onset SLE without clinically overt neuropsychiatric symptoms.

PATIENTS & METHODS

Participants

Please refer to Participants of Study 3.1-Part A on Page 66-67

Wisconsin Card Sorting Test

Please refer to section 2.5.2.1

Image acquisition and imaging processing

Please refer to sections 2.5.2.2 and 2.5.2.3

Statistical analysis of BOLD signal

Beta-score maps were computed in the Talairach space using a random effects general linear model. This model was constructed with separate regressors relative to a fixation baseline, convolved with a canonical hemodynamic response function peaking at 6 seconds after onset of card stimuli or feedback, for RS and FE. Jittering of the fixation intervals between FE and subsequent RS facilitated in event deconvolution (Graham et al., 2009). Region of interest (ROI) was computed by analyzing the effect contrasts of the two categorical task factors, class (positive, negative) and order (first, subsequent) for both RS and FE. Significant clusters and peak voxels that survived the false-discovery rate (a statistical method to correct multiple comparisons) q < 0.05 were reported (Genovese et al., 2002). The cluster threshold was calculated by Cluster-level Statistical Threshold Estimator in the Brain Voyager QX software package.

RESULTS

Participants and WCST performance

We recruited 14 new-onset SLE patients and 14 matched healthy controls and they did not differ in age, sex, years of education and IQ. As far as the performance on the WCST is concerned, SLE patients and controls performed comparably in terms of the number of rules identified, the number of error per rule and the reaction time. The demographic information, clinical data and the WCST performance of the study participants have been presented in Part A of this study.

Signals on fMRI during response selection after negative feedback versus response selection after positive feedback

When rule shift was signaled, brain regions that demonstrated greater activation in RS after 1st NF when compared with RS after 1st PF (RS after 1st NF>RS after 1st PF) implied involvement in response inhibition of the previously prepotent rule and the need to search for a new rule. In healthy controls, significantly activated BOLD signals were found in both middle frontal gyri, left medial frontal gyrus, left inferior parietal lobule, right angular gyrus, right middle occipital gyrus, right middle temporal gyrus, left fusiform gyrus, right claustrum, right globus pallidus (GP) and both thalami. The GP and thalami, being the critical components of the cortico-basal ganglia thalamic-cortical circuit, were involved in response inhibition and change of behavioral set (Haber & McFarland, 2001; Stevens et al., 2007).

Intriguingly, besides brain activation in various regions within the frontal and parietal lobes, our lupus patients demonstrated activation at the declive of the cerebellar vermis while signals in the right GP and thalami were concomitantly absent. This striking finding implies the cortico-basal ganglia-thalamic-cortical circuit was dysfunctional in patients with SLE when response to prevailing rule was inhibited. On the other hand, these patients elicited activated BOLD signals in the right parahippocampal gyrus and left posterior cingulate in the condition contrast of RS after 1st NF < RS after 1st PF, which was absent in the healthy controls, implying that SLE patients required additional activities in these two regions to boost reconfiguration of response strategy for adapting to a new rule. Brain activation profile of healthy controls and SLE during RS after 1st NF versus after 1st PF is shown in Table 3.4 and Figure 3.1.

	Brain Region		alairac	h	Hamisphara	B٨
	Brain Region	Х	у	Z	Tiennsphere	DA
Healthy controls						
RS after 1st NF > RS after 1st PF	1 Middle frontal gyrus	41	25	30	R	9
(Response inhibition)	(Response inhibition) 2 Middle frontal gyrus		50	6	L	10
	3 Medial frontal gyrus	-1	19	45	L	8
	4 Angular gyrus	32	-56	39	R	39
	5 Inferior parietal lobule	-37	-56	42	L	40
6 Middle occipital gyrus		30	-83	-3	R	18
	7 Middle temporal gyrus	50	-32	0	R	21
	8 Fusiform gyrus	-37	-56	-9	L	37
	9 Globus Pallidus	14	-2	3	R	_
	10 Thalamus	12	-7	9	R	_
	11 Thalamus	-10	-8	9	L	_
	12 Claustrum	29	19	0	R	_

Table 3.4 Region of interest during RS in healthy controls and patients with SLE

RS after 1st NF < RS after 1st PF	No significant voxels
RS after 2nd NF vs. RS after 2nd PF	No significant voxels

Patients with SLE

RS after 1st NF > RS after 1st PF	13 Superior frontal gyrus	-31	55	15	L	10
(Response inhibition)	14 Middle frontal gyrus	32	10	51	R	6
	15 Middle frontal gyrus	29	49	3	R	10
	16 Middle frontal gyrus	-49	25	27	L	46
	17 Superior parietal lobule	-31	-68	51	L	7
	18 Inferior parietal lobule	44	-56	45	R	40
	19 Inferior parietal lobule	-37	-50	42	L	40
	20 Inferior parietal lobule	-55	-47	48	L	40
	21 Thalamus	-16	-8	6	L	_
	22 Claustrum	29	22	3	R	_
	23 Declive	35	-62	-21	R	_
	24 Declive	5	-74	-18	R	_
RS after 1st NF < RS after 1st PF	25 Posterior cingulate	-7	-47	21	L	30
(Reconfiguration of response strategy)	26 Parahippocampal gyrus	23	-14	-15	R	28
RS after 2nd NF vs. RS after 2nd PF	No s	ignifica	nt vox	els		

Abbreviations: ROI, Region of Interest; RS, response selection; FE, feedback evaluation; SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; BA, Brodmann Area; NF, negative feedback; PF, positive feedback; R, right; L, left; vs., versus.

Figure 3.1 Composite general linear model of the BOLD activation pattern seen on the fMRI in healthy controls and patients with newonset SLE during the condition contrast of RS after 1st NF > RS after 1st PF . Images are numbered according to the brain region numbering in Table 3.4.

			RS after 1st	NF > RS af	ter 1st PF			
Healthy	1	2	3	4	5	6	T T	
controls	8	9	10	11	12			
SLE			15	16		18	19	Activation
	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	Deactivation
Signals on fMRI during negative feedback versus positive feedback

Brain regions that showed greater activation in 2nd NF in comparison to 2nd PF (2nd NF > 2nd PF) reflected involvement in generating identity of a new rule instead of keeping the prevailing one. In healthy controls, both middle frontal gyri, left medial frontal gyrus, precentral gyrus and both inferior parietal lobules were activated in this condition. In lupus patients, the right superior frontal gyrus, bilateral middle frontal gyri, right inferior parietal lobule, left superior parietal lobule, left cingulate gyrus and the right claustrum were activated instead. By contrast, brain regions that were activated in 2nd PF in comparison with 2nd NF (2nd PF > 2nd NF) signified their contribution to maintain the established rule rather than the generation of the identity of a new rule. In this condition, healthy controls had their right precentral gyrus, right precuneus, left inferior parietal lobule, left middle temporal gyrus and both hippocampi, left amygdala, right posterior cingulate, left anterior cingulate and left cingulate gyrus (limbic system) involved. Whereas in the lupus patients, limbic involvement in rule maintenance was demonstrated only in the right hippocampus and left anterior cingulate. Regions of brain activation in healthy controls and SLE for 2nd NF versus 2nd PF are described in Table 3.5 and Figure 3.2.

	Brain Region	Т	alairac	h	Hemisphere	BA
Haglilan controls	Druin Region	Х	У	Z	Tiennsphere	DIT
Heatiny controls						
2nd NF > 2nd PF	1 Precentral gyrus	-43	1	30	L	6
(Generation of new rule identity)	2 Middle frontal gyrus	29	49	3	R	10
	3 Middle frontal gyrus	-37	50	3	L	10
	4 Medial frontal gyrus	-1	19	45	L	8
	5 Inferior parietal lobule	35	-56	42	R	7
	6 Inferior parietal lobule	-43	-44	42	L	40
2nd NF < 2nd PF	7 Precentral gyrus	32	-29	57	R	4
(Maintenance of established rule)	8 Anterior cingulate	-7	43	-6	L	32
	9 Posterior cingulate	5	-50	18	R	30
	10 Cingulate gyrus	-10	-20	39	L	24
	11 Precuneus	14	-44	51	R	7
	12 Inferior parietal lobule	-49	-26	27	L	40
	13 Postcentral gyrus	56	-23	21	R	40
	14 Middle temporal gyrus	-52	-2	-9	L	21
	15 Middle temporal gyrus	-46	-59	9	L	39
	16 Hippocampus	29	-29	-9	R	_
	17 Hippocampus	-27	-29	-9	L	_
	18 Amygdala	-19	-11	-13	L	_
1st NF vs. 1st PF	No significant voxels					
1st NF vs. 2nd NF	No	o significa	nt vox	els		
1st PF vs. 2nd PF	No significant voxels					

Table 3.5 Region of interest during FE in healthy controls and patients with SLE

Patients with SLE

2nd NF > 2nd PF	19 Superior frontal gyrus	29	49	12	R	10
(Generation of new rule identity)	20 Middle frontal gyrus	41	34	30	R	9
	21 Middle frontal gyrus	-31	58	6	L	10
	22 Middle frontal gyrus	-46	25	24	L	46
	23 Cingulate gyrus	-4	28	33	L	32
	24 Superior parietal gyrus	-37	-59	54	L	7
	25 Inferior parietal gyrus	41	-53	45	R	40
	26 Claustrum	29	19	0	R	-
2nd NF < 2nd PF	27 Precentral gyrus	50	-2	6	R	6
(Maintenance of established rule)	28 Paracentral lobule	-19	-38	54	L	5
	29 Anterior cingulate	-7	31	-9	L	32
	30 Hippocampus	29	-26	-12	R	_
1st NF vs. 1st PF	No	significa	int vox	els		
1st NF vs. 2nd NF	No significant voxels					
1st PF vs. 2nd PF	No significant voxels					

Abbreviations: ROI, Region of Interest; RS, response selection; FE, feedback evaluation; SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; BA, Brodmann Area; NF, negative feedback; PF, positive feedback; R, right; L, left; vs., versus.



Figure 3.2 Composite general linear model of the BOLD activation pattern seen on the fMRI in healthy controls and patients with newonset SLE during the condition contrast of 2nd NF > 2nd PF. Images are numbered according to the brain region numbering in Table 3.5.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we hitherto found that the cortico-basal ganglia-thalamic-cortical circuit, which is involved in response inhibition, was dysfunctional in lupus patients even if they did not manifest clinically overt neuropsychiatric symptoms. To compensate for the dysfunction of the circuit, the contralateral cerebellar and frontal areas were activated in lupus patients. Additionally, lupus patients showed altered activities at the amygdala and hippocampus while they attempted to maintain prepotent rules during cognitive set-shifting.

While healthy controls experienced the maximum demand for withholding previous prepotent rule and response inhibition throughout the cognitive set-shifting processes, they showed increased brain activations at the right middle frontal gyrus, right GP and both thalami in a synchronous pattern across the cognitive set-shifting processes (Figure 3.3A). The dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) is involved in working memory, in the switching of cognitive sets and in inhibitory control of the prepotent response (Garavan et al., 1999; Haber & McFarland, 2001). Since the right middle frontal gyrus belongs to the DLPFC, it implies that it participates in conditions which require functional working memory and switching of cognitive sets. Furthermore, it was previously proposed that response suppression required the functional integrity of the prefrontal cortex, basal ganglia and thalami. Functionally, these three regions form the cortico-basal ganglia-thalamic-cortical circuit that was believed to coordinate the function of the cortical regions involved (Alexander et al., 1986; Garavan et al., 1999; Li et al., 2006; Logan & Cowan, 1984; Stevens et al., 2007).

The indirect pathway that connected these regions has been identified, in which the cortex, striatum, external segment of GP, subthalamic nucleus, internal segment of GP, thalami and cortex were involved sequentially to implement response suppression and change of behavioral set (Alexander et al., 1990). However, brain activation at the right GP and right thalamus in patients with SLE were not observed when the cognitive demand for inhibitory response control was dominating, implying that information flow from the striatum to the thalamus was compromised which resulted in the deficit of response control in SLE patients under this circumstance. Although the left thalamus was still activated in the lupus patients, the magnitude of the activation signal was lower than that of the healthy controls in the same region (Figure 3.3B).

In addition, a number of lesion studies have shown that GP is one of the important neural components which mediate executive cognitive function (Haaxma et al., 1993; Strub, 1989). For example, patients with advanced Parkinson's disease were unable to shift attention after bilateral pallidotomy (Scott et al., 2002). Likewise, disturbance of the metabolism in the thalamus was demonstrated in children with Sturge-Weber syndrome (Alkonyi et al., 2010), of which cognitive dysfunction is one of the commonest symptoms. Therefore, the absence of right GP and right thalamic activity in our lupus patients suggests that they had impaired response inhibition and reduced capability of behavioral change secondary to cortico-basal ganglia-thalamic-cortical circuit dysfunction.

Of note, the absence of brain activation at the right GP and right thalamus aforementioned was coupled with an increase in brain activity at the declive of the right cerebellar vermis in lupus patients. A few anatomical, physiological and neuroimaging studies demonstrated that cerebellar damage led to impairment of executive function,

92

spatial cognition, language and personality change (Schmahmann, 2010). On the other hand, over-reliance on cerebellar activities was demonstrated in patients with schizophrenia, alcoholism and cocaine abuse during evaluation of working memory, verbal working memory and executive control, respectively (Desmond et al., 2003; Hester & Garavan, 2004; Meyer-Lindenberg et al., 2001; Schlosser et al., 2003). In our study, the increased activity in the right cerebellum was coupled with activation of the left prefrontal cortex (left superior frontal gyrus and middle frontal gyrus) in lupus patients. Such activation pattern is reminiscent of increased brain activation in the left frontal-right cerebellar circuit in alcoholics during verbal memory test (Desmond et al., 2003), which is in keeping with the observations that cerebellar activation often occurs in conjunction with contralateral frontal lobe activation (Hester & Garavan, 2004). In our study, analysis of brain activities at the declive of the cerebellar vermis and the left middle and superior frontal gyrus revealed rather similar activation pattern during the course of cognitive set-shifting (Figure 3.3C), further implying the conjugated role of the right cerebellum and left frontal regions during different stages of cognitive set-shifting.

Neural activities of the cerebellum, coupled with brain activation at the contralateral frontal areas, have been suggested to compensate for articulatory and inhibitory controls in alcoholics and cocaine abusers respectively in order to maintain normal cognitive function (Desmond et al., 2003; Hester & Garavan, 2004). Taken together with another recent finding of the cerebellum-basal ganglia interconnections in an anatomical study performed in primates (Bostan & Strick, 2010), we postulated that in patients with SLE, the increased right cerebellar and its coupled left prefrontal activities may serve to compensate for the dysfunction of inhibitory control secondary to the

compromised cortico-basal ganglia-thalamic-cortical circuit in order to maintain the performance of the set-shifting tasks. Concurring with the findings of other functional imaging studies, the compensatory activations that aided the dysfunctional cortico-basal ganglia-thalamic-cortical circuit which we found in our study clearly illustrated the adaptability and plasticity of the brain to recruit neural networks to serve those function which has been damaged. For instance, in order to maintain performance levels, generalized brain activations were demonstrated in subjects with age-related degeneration in motor performance of the hands (Ward & Frackowiak, 2003). Relevant to SLE, a few recent studies demonstrated generalized brain activations in lupus patients when they were performing neuropsychological tasks (DiFrancesco et al., 2007; Fitzgibbon et al., 2008; Mackay et al., 2011). Importantly, compensatory BOLD signal intensity decreased in lupus patients with disease duration of longer than 10 years, suggesting that potential compensatory activations may decrease when irreversible neuronal damage has set in (Mackay et al., 2011).

Figure 3.3 Brain signal changes across the cognitive set-shifting process. A, Cortico-basal ganglia loop activity in healthy control subjects. B, Left thalamus activity in healthy controls and patients with new-onset SLE. C, Cerebellar-contralateral frontal activity in SLE patients. The Talairach x, y, and z coordinates for the right declive of the cerebellar vermis are shown in the key to C to distinguish the two graphs. Numbered images at the bottom correspond to the numbered β score graphs at the top.



When study participants were posed to a challenge to adapt to a new rule during cognitive-set shifting, SLE patients activated their right parahippocampal gyrus and left posterior cingulate in order to reconfigure their response strategy and to adapt to a new rule, while amongst the healthy controls, no significant brain activities in these two regions were observed. The altered activities of the posterior cingulate and parahippocampus were consistent with two recently published studies in SLE patients without NPSLE and in patients with schizophrenia (Garrity et al., 2007; Lin et al., 2011), which suggested the attenuation of intrinsic DMN, episodic memory problem and related cognitive deficits. The DMN is regarded as a resting state of brain function and involved in planning of future events and on-going information processing.

Brain regions where involvement of new rule generation dominates that of the maintenance of an established rule were revealed during the condition contrast 2nd NF > 2nd PF. In healthy controls, both hippocampi were deactivated in this contrast, indicating their involvement in maintaining an identified rule. Most brain regions that contributed more to rule generation than maintenance in SLE patients and healthy subjects overlapped, suggesting that brain activities underlying this cognitive process remained intact in lupus patients. Further analysis revealed that activities of both hippocampi initially decreased during the "generate" event when the identity of the new rule was unknown. Subsequently during the "update" and "maintain" events while the new rule was identified and maintained in memory, both hippocampi were activated. This finding was consistent with the putative role of the hippocampus in set-shifting in which decreased hippocampal activity at the generation event would facilitate active forgetting of the previous rule and shift to a new cognitive set, while the subsequent increased

hippocampal activity at the update and maintenance events would enhance learning of the new rule to guide ensuing trials (Graham et al., 2009). Interestingly, the left amygdala appeared to follow a synchronous activity pattern as both hippocampi across all stages of set-shifting (Figure 3.4A).

The brain activation underlying FE has been proposed as a result of the response to reward or punishment of the feedback stimulus (Monchi et al., 2001). Hippocampal activities appear to be reinforced and maintained by the amygdala through generation of rewards (Joseph, 1996), suggesting the coupled role of amygdala and hippocampus in set-shifting processes observed in our study. However, the involvement of the left hippocampus and left amygdala in rule maintenance was absent in our SLE patients, implying a compromise of the active forgetting-learning dynamics in set-shifting despite that the right hippocampus was still required to maintain the established rule in a pattern similar to that in healthy controls (Figure 3.4B). As in patients with SLE, altered amygdala and hippocampal activities within DMN were demonstrated in patients with depression and Alzheimer's disease (Sheline et al., 2009; Zhou et al., 2010). These findings may signify a potential common pathological basis of the disrupted forgettinglearning dynamics which involves the amygdala and hippocampi in patients with SLE, depression and dementia. Figure 3.4 Brain signal changes in the hippocampus and amygdala across the cognitive set-shifting process. A, Hippocampal and amygdala activity in healthy control subjects. B, Right hippocampal activity in healthy controls and patients with new-onset SLE. Numbered images at the bottom correspond to the numbered β score graphs at the top



While further mechanistic evaluation is required to explain the BOLD signal changes especially those involved in hippocampus-amygdala coupling and the absence of BOLD signals in the hippocampus and amygdala in our patients with SLE, the wellinvestigated anti-ribosomal P and anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) antibodies may be potentially contributory. A clinical study in the 1980s demonstrated that the serum titre of anti-ribosomal P antibodies was selectively raised in lupus patients with active psychosis although not all subsequent studies could replicate the associations between the antibodies and psychosis and depression in patients with SLE (Bonfa et al., 1987). Nevertheless, induction of autoimmune depression in C3H/HeJ mice by intracerebroventricular injection of affinity-purified anti-ribosomal P antibodies revealed that the antibodies bound specifically to the pyramidal cell layer and dentate gyrus of the hippocampus and other areas of the limbic system which could be significantly counteracted by anti-idiotypic antibodies to anti-ribosomal P antibodies (Katzav et al., 2007). The NMDAR are mainly expressed in the neurons of the hippocampi and amygdala. Under physiologic conditions, the neurotransmitter glutamate activates the receptors and mediates learning and memory by manipulating synaptic plasticity (Diamond, 2010). In animal models, antagonising the NR2 subunit of the NMDAR (anti-NR2 antibody) led to impaired memory and learning (Diamond, 2010). Because anti-NR2 is present in the serum and cerebrospinal fluid in NPSLE patients (Diamond, 2010), a potential pathogenic role of anti-NR2 antibody in cognitive dysfunction is advocated (Aranow et al., 2010). Indeed, anti-NR2 purified from lupus patients was able to induce cognitive impairment, memory deficit and hippocampal neurotoxicity in BALB/c mice (Kowal et al., 2006; Lapteva et al., 2006b). Recently, it has been shown that anti-NR2 antibody exerted its cytotoxic effect of the neurons by increasing intracellular calcium through inhibition of the binding capacity of zinc (Zn) in the Zn-binding site of the NMDAR which resulted in reduced cell viability (Gono et al., 2011). The potential relationship between serum anti-NR2 antibodies and the fMRI BOLD signals at the hippocampi and amygdala in these lupus patients will be explored in the subsequent study reported in this thesis.

This study has a few limitations. First, the sample size is relatively small. However, sample size of this magnitude has consistently been demonstrating sufficient sensitivity of BOLD signals to achieve statistical significance (Graham et al., 2009; Monchi et al., 2001). Second, patients with SLE were given prednisolone treatment at the time of the fMRI scan, and the possible effects of medication on BOLD signals may confound our interpretation. Since the majority of patients underwent fMRI scan within 2 months of the diagnosis of SLE with the average (\pm SD) exposure of initial immunosuppressive therapy of 36.86 \pm 35.5 days (range: 8-143 days) prior to the scan, the effect of treatment on BOLD signals should be minimal.

Taken together, our findings demonstrated that patients with SLE, even without clinically overt neuropsychiatric symptoms, had abnormal sequential brain activities involving the basal ganglia, hippocampi and amygdala, which indicated a compromised cortico-basal ganglia-thalamic-cortical circuit and hippocampus-amygdala coupling in comparison with healthy subjects. These results translate into potential compromise in response inhibition and the active forgetting-learning dynamics in lupus patients. Moreover, patients with SLE demonstrated over-reliance on the cerebellar-contralateral frontal conjunction activities to compensate for the dysfunction of the compromised cortico-basal ganglia-thalamo-cortical circuit.

Study 3.2

Serum anti-NR2 alone is not an ideal marker of subclinical working memory and learning deficits assessed based on abnormal functional brain signals in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus

INTRODUCTION

In Study 3.1, we have identified a number of cortical regions, networks and connections that are associated with subclinical neuropsychiatric symptoms in SLE patients. However, as an autoimmune disease, the immune mechanism underlying the abnormal neural activities in these cortical regions and networks of patients with SLE remains unclear. Autoantibodies, being a hallmark of SLE, have been extensively studied for an aim to explain the mechanism of cognitive dysfunction in patients with SLE but the results have been inconclusive (Colasanti et al., 2009; Hanly et al., 2008; Hanly et al., 2011; McLaurin et al., 2005; Seaman et al., 1995). Anti-NR2 antibodies which direct against the NR2A and NR2B subunits of the NMDARs have been more consistently demonstrated to be capable of disturbing learning and memory, in both animal models and human studies (DeGiorgio et al., 2001). While a number of studies revealed significantly higher level of anti-NR2 antibodies in the CSF of lupus patients with neuropsychiatric symptoms (Arinuma et al., 2008; Fragoso-Loyo et al., 2008; Yoshio et al., 2006), the association between serum anti-NR2 antibodies and cognitive impairment remained inconsistent (Lauvsnes & Omdal, 2012). Furthermore, the potential use of serum anti-NR2 antibodies to detect subclinical impairment of learning and working memory indicated by abnormal BOLD fMRI signals is not thoroughly investigated.

102

In Part B of Study 3.1, we have found that when lupus patients were challenged with a high cognitive demand for learning and working memory, there was a complete absence of signals in the amygdala and left hippocampus, in contrast to their healthy counterparts whose signals in these brain regions were unaffected. Since the NMDARs are most densely populated in the hippocampi and amygdala and are involved in mediating learning and working memory, the discordant activities in the hippocampus and amygdala in lupus patients we found on fMRI are postulated to be related to the anti-NR2 antibodies. Additionally, because our preceding Study 3.1 provided objective evidence of brain involvement in subclinical cognitive impairment, the fMRI signals are able to offer a reasonably sensitive reference to examine if serum anti-NR2 antibodies are clinically useful to detect the subclinical cognitive impairment in patients with SLE. Hence, we undertook this study which carries two aims. First, we aimed to confirm if the serum level of anti-NR2 antibodies in patients with SLE is higher than that of healthy individuals and whether it correlates with clinical and serological disease activity of SLE. Second, we attempted to explore the potential clinical applicability of serum anti-NR2 antibodies in detecting subclinical neuropsychiatric manifestation of SLE by studying the relationship between serum anti-NR2 antibodies and the blood-oxygen-level-dependent (BOLD) signals of fMRI at the hippocampi and amygdala in lupus patients without clinically overt neuropsychiatric symptoms.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Recruitment of study participants and clinical assessment of SLE

Patients who fulfilled the American College of Rheumatology classification criteria for SLE (Hochberg, 1997) were recruited between March 2008 and June 2012 consecutively from the Lupus Clinic of the National University Hospital, Singapore. Healthy subjects matched with lupus patients for age (±4 years) and sex were recruited during the same study period for comparison. The demographic data of the patients and healthy subjects were obtained during clinical interview and medical record review. Disease activity of the patients with SLE was measured by the Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity Index (SLEDAI) (Yee et al., 2011). Peripheral blood samples were collected via venipuncture of the antecubital veins and the sera were assayed for complement (C3, C4) and anti-dsDNA levels in the standard laboratory of the hospital. Written informed consent was obtained from the subjects recruited for this study and the study was approved by the local ethics committee.

Measurement of anti-NR2 antibody

Please refer to section 2.5.3

fMRI study

During the recruitment period of this study, 14 new onset lupus patients and 14 matched healthy controls were recruited in the preceding Study 3.1-Part B which investigated sequential brain activation during cognitive set-shifting. These 14 patients with new onset SLE had no history of neurological disorder and/or psychiatric disorder, clinically significant anxiety and/or depression and use of psychotropic medications. In addition, they were negative for antiphospholipid antibodies and lupus anticoagulants. The WCST paradigm, imaging acquisition, imaging processing and statistical analysis of

BOLD signal of this study are the same as those listed in the Method section of Study 3.1-Part B.

RESULTS

Demographic and clinical features of patients with SLE and healthy controls

We recruited 64 patients with SLE and 67 healthy controls. The age and gender proportion were comparable between the lupus and healthy control groups with matching. Amongst the lupus patients, the mean \pm SD serum C3, C4 and anti-dsDNA levels were 77.86 \pm 31.0 mg/dl, 17.05 \pm 11.5 mg/dl and 101.46 \pm 85.9 IU respectively. The mean \pm SD SLEDAI was 6.70 \pm 5.7. Among the 64 SLE patients, 6 had history of neuropsychiatric features in which 4 had psychosis, 1 had seizures and 1 had cerebrovascular disease. Also, amongst the 64 lupus patients recruited, 12 of them without a history of NPSLE who participated and were analyzed in the fMRI study had no significant difference in terms of age, gender and the serum levels of C3, C4 and antidsDNA and the SLEDAI when compared with those of the rest of the 52 patients with SLE. Table 3.6 summarizes the demographic and clinical information of patients with SLE and healthy subjects. Table 3.7 depicts the comparison of demographic information and clinical features between those patients who had and those did not have fMRI scan performed.

	SLE (n = 64)	Control $(n = 67)$	<i>P</i> value
	Mean	$n \pm SD$	
	ra) (ra	nge) al rangel	
	Numl	ber (%)	
Age, years	40.02 ± 13.8	41.12 ± 13.2	0.585
Female, n	56 (87.5)	58 (86.6)	0.874
	77.86 ±31.0		
C3, mg/dl	(16.00 - 201.00)	_	_
	[85 - 185]		
	17.05 ± 11.5		
C4, mg/dl	(2.00 - 48.00)	—	—
	[10 - 50]		
	101.46 ±85.9		
Anti-dsDNA, IU	(2.00 - 250.00)	—	—
	[< 20]		
SLEDAL	6.70 ±5.7	_	_
SLEDAI	(0 - 26)	—	—
Disease duration, months	41.84 ±61.6	—	_
Prednisolone, mg/day	13.47 ± 15.0	—	_
Rash	28 (43.8)	—	—
Discoid rash	3 (4.7)	—	_
Photosensitivity	14 (21.9)	—	—
Oral ulcers	11 (17.2)	—	—
Arthritis	35 (54.7)	—	_
Serositis	5 (7.8)	_	_

Table 3.6 Demographic and clinical features of study participants

Renal disorder	15 (23.4)	—	—
Neurologic disorder*	6 (9.4)	_	—
Haematological disorder	31 (48.4)	—	—
Immunological disorder	57 (89.1)	—	_
ANA positivity	63 (98.4)	_	_

Abbreviation: SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; SD, standard deviation; anti-dsDNA, anti-double strand DNA; SLEDAI, Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity index; ANA, anti-nuclear antibodies. * Psychosis in four, seizure in one and cerebrovascular disease in one patients respectively

	SLE with fMRI scan	SLE without fMRI scan	P value	
	(n = 12)	(n = 52)		
	Mean ±S	D (range)		
	[normal range]			
•	Numb	er (%)	0.010	
Age, years	40.25 ± 14.3	39.96 ± 13.9	0.918	
Female, n	10 (83.3)	46 (88.5)	0.631	
C3 mg/dl	67.17 ±25.5 (28.00-117.00)	80.12 ±31.6 (16.00-201.00)	0 132	
C5, IIIg/d1	[85 - 185]	[85 - 185]	0.132	
C4, mg/dl	12.92 ±9.0 (3.00-34.00)	17.92 ±11.4 (2.00-48.00)	0 146	
	[10 - 50]	[10 - 50]	0.140	
Anti-dsDNA, IU	123.58 ±104.4 (2.00-250.00)	96.77 ±80.6 (3.00-250.00)	0 535	
	[< 20]	[< 20]	0.555	
High anti-NR2	0 (0)	6 (11.5)	0.216	
SLEDAI	9.00 ±7.0 (4-25)	6.17 ±5.3 (0-26)	0.221	
Prednisolone,	15.00 + 16.1	13.12 ± 14.0	0 206	
mg/day	13.00 ± 10.1	13.12 ± 14.9	0.390	

 Table 3.7 Comparison of demographic and clinical features and anti-NR2 antibodies

 between SLE patients with and without fMRI scan

Abbreviation: SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; fMRI, functional magnetic resonance imaging; SD, standard deviation; anti-dsDNA, anti-double strand DNA antibodies; SLEDAI, Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity Index

Assessment of anti-NR2 antibodies in patients with SLE and healthy controls

SLE patients demonstrated significantly higher levels of serum anti-NR2 antibodies than that of the healthy controls (OD₄₅₀ value: 0.147 ± 0.095 vs. 0.106 ± 0.080 , P = 0.001) (see Figure 3.5). The proportion of patients with high anti-NR2 levels amongst the 12 lupus patients who participated in the fMRI study did not significantly differ from that of the rest 52 patients without undergoing fMRI (see Table 3.8). Additionally, the OD₄₅₀ of anti-NR2 antibodies of these 12 patients ranged from 0.031 to 0.256, implying

that none of these 12 lupus patients who underwent the fMRI study had high anti-NR2 level. When analyzed based on the high/low anti-NR2 cut-off value which is 0.266, six of the 64 (9.4%) of lupus patients were categorized into the high anti-NR2 group but none of them had neuropsychiatric manifestation (see the footnote of Figure 3.5). Conversely, the OD_{450} of anti-NR2 antibodies in 6 lupus patients with history of neurological and/or psychiatric disorders ranged from 0.0765 to 0.265, indicating their serum anti-NR2 antibody levels were low.

Figure 3.5 Measurement of serum anti-NR2 antibodies in SLE patients and healthy controls



Footnote: Amongst the 6 out of the 64 SLE patients with high anti-NR2 level: 1 had discoid rash, 1 had photosensitivity, 1 had oral ulcers, 5 had arthritis, 1 had serositis, 2 had nephritis and 2 had haematological manifestations. All of the 6 high anti-NR2 patients were positive for ANA but none of them had NPSLE.

Correlation between anti-NR2 antibodies, serum C3, C4 and anti-dsDNA antibodies

The high and low anti-NR2 groups in the SLE patients did not significantly differ in terms of mean age, gender proportion, serum C3 and anti-dsDNA levels and the SLEDAI, although the serum level of C4 was higher in the high anti-NR2 group (P =0.003). No significant correlation was found between the serum anti-NR2 antibodies and serum anti-dsDNA antibodies, C3 and C4, and the SLEDAI when serum anti-NR2 antibody titer was assessed as a continuous variable. The comparison of clinical features between patients of the high and low serum anti-NR2 groups is shown in Table 3.8.

	SLE (n = 64)			
	Mean \pm SD (range)			
	[normal range]			
	Numb	er (%)		
	High anti-NR2 $(n = 6)$	$\frac{1}{1000} \text{Low anti-NR2 (n = 58)}{1000}$	0.00.6	
Age, years	46.67 ± 17.4	39.33 ± 13.4	0.336	
Female	6 (100)	50 (86.2)	0.597	
C3 mg/dl	94.17 ±13.6 (82.00-115.00)	76.14 ±31.9 (16.00-201.00)	0.073	
C3, ing/ui	[85 - 185]	[85 - 185]	0.075	
C4, mg/dl	30.33 ±10.2 (21.00-48.00)	15.57 ±5.7 (2.00-48.00)	0.003	
	[10 - 50]	[10 - 50]	0.005	
Anti-dsDNA III	44.83 ±33.8 (8.00-101.00)	107.42 ±87.7 (2.00-250.00)	0 175	
	[< 20]	[< 20]	0.175	
SLEDAI	3.67 ±3.9 (0-10)	7.02 ±5.8 (0-26)	0.147	
Disease duration,	98.33 ±141.0	36.00 ±45.6	0.282	

Table 3.8 Comparison of clinical characteristics between high and low anti-NR2 group and correlation between anti-NR2 antibodies and clinical parameters in SLE patients

Prednisolone, mg/day	5.83 ±2.64	14.26 ±15.5	0.464
Anti-NR2 versus	Spearman's correla	tion	
C3	- 0.107		0.406
C4	0.077		0.557
Anti-dsDNA	- 0.005		0.969
SLEDAI	- 0.054		0.676
Prednisolone	-0.062		0.625
Beta score (R Hippocampus)	0.294		0.354

Abbreviation: SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus; SD, standard deviation; anti-dsDNA, anti-double strand DNA; SLEDAI, Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity Index; R, right.

WCST performance, abnormal neuronal activities at the hippocampus and amygdala and their association with anti-NR2 antibodies

The 12 SLE patients and 14 healthy controls recruited for the Study 3.1 showed no significant differences in the number of rules identified (17.83 vs. 19.50, p = 0.462), number of error per shift (3.23 vs. 2.51, p = 0.820) and reaction time (1726.04 vs. 1808.51, p = 0.705) regarding the performance of WCST. However, consistent with our findings in Part B of Study 3.1, only the right hippocampus was involved in the specific cognitive stage when learning and memory were most demanded during the WCST in the 12 SLE patients who involved in the fMRI study (see Figure 3.6), whereas both hippocampi and the left amygdala were involved during the same cognitive stage in the healthy counterparts. These findings signified that the impairment of working memory and learning was subclinical in our SLE patients. However, no significant relationship was found between the level of serum anti-NR2 antibodies and the beta score of neuronal activities at the right hippocampus in these 12 patients (Spearman's ρ =0.294, P = 0.354).



Figure 3.6 Discordant hippocampal and amygdala activities in 12 non-NPSLE patients

Cortical areas involved in learning are highlighted in blue

DISCUSSION

While it was found that the serum levels of anti-NR2 antibodies in patients with SLE were significantly higher than that of the age- and gender-matched healthy controls, we found no significant correlation between serum anti-NR2 antibodies and both clinical and serological markers of lupus disease activity. In addition, patients with clinically overt neuropsychiatric manifestation did not have high anti-NR2 antibody levels. Although no significant correlation was found between serum C4 and anti-NR2 antibodies, serum C4 level was higher in the high anti-NR2 group than that of the low

anti-NR2 group. Mechanistically, unlike lupus nephritis where glomerular immune complex deposition and complement-dependent cytotoxicity are the main pathophysiological processes (Nangaku & Couser, 2005), anti-NR2 antibodies do not induce neuronal injury via immune complex formation because their Fab¹₂ fragments *per se* are capable of inducing neuronal death without the need for the Fc portion of the antibodies to activate the complement cascade (Diamond & Volpe, 2012). These findings strengthen the observations that the presence of anti-NR2 antibodies was unlikely related to the disease activity of SLE and immune-complex mediated neuronal injury (Diamond & Volpe, 2012; Gono et al., 2011; Kozora et al., 2010; Omdal et al., 2005).

When anti-NR2 antibodies from the sera or CSF of patients with SLE were introduced into mice brains, these mice demonstrated neuronal death in the hippocampus or amygdala and subsequently memory deficit and emotion disturbance caused by anti-NR2 antibodies (DeGiorgio et al., 2001; Huerta et al., 2006; Kowal et al., 2004). Since the NMDARs are highly expressed in the hippocampi and amygdala and are critical in learning and processing memory, it prompted us to examine whether serum anti-NR2 antibody levels were altered in lupus patients who demonstrated subclinical impairment in memory and learning on fMRI. The 12 lupus patients without NPSLE did not have high serum level of anti-NR2 antibodies and no significant correlation was found between their serum anti-NR2 antibodies and the magnitude of function brain activation at the right hippocampus on fMRI. Although studies addressing the relationship between serum anti-NR2 antibodies and neuropsychiatric lupus manifestations revealed inconsistent results (Gono et al., 2011; Hanly et al., 2006; Hanly et al., 2008; Hanly et al., 2011; Hanly et al., 2012; Harrison et al., 2006; Husebye et al., 2005; Kozora et al., 2010; Lapteva et al., 2006a; Omdal et al., 2005; Petri et al., 2010; Steup-Beekman et al., 2007), all as-yet published studies consistently demonstrated a significant association between anti-NR2 antibodies in the CSF and NPSLE (Arinuma et al., 2008; Fragoso-Loyo et al., 2008; Yoshio et al., 2006). These data suggest that anti-NR2 antibodies in the CSF rather than those in the sera are more reliable in detecting neuropsychiatric syndromes in lupus patients.

In murine models, mice with intact BBB showed no detectable brain pathology and they performed normally in behavioral and cognitive tasks even if the anti-NR2 antibodies were present in the peripheral circulation (Wang et al., 2003). However, neuronal death at the hippocampi or amygdala and the resultant impairment of hippocampus-dependent memory and amygdala-related fear-conditioning were observed when anti-NR2 antibodies from lupus patients were introduced into the mice after a breach of the BBB by using lipopolysaccharide or epinephrine (Huerta et al., 2006; Kowal et al., 2006; Kowal et al., 2004). Given the evidence that the level of anti-NR2 antibodies in the CSF is positively correlated with that in the serum of lupus patients and the BBB of lupus patients is potentially leaking as a result of active disease and glucocorticoid treatment (Appenzeller et al., 2005; Yoshio et al., 2006), the serum anti-NR2 antibodies of our lupus patients might have penetrated the BBB and disturbed the neural mechanisms of working memory and learning as shown by the abnormal fMRI signals despite the potentially low level of the antibodies in the CSF. This phenomenon is not surprising because anti-NR2 antibodies at a very low concentration in the CSF (10 µg/ml) could induce transient alterations of synaptic potentials (Faust et al., 2010). Thus, the integrity of BBB appears to be a crucial factor in the pathogenesis of NPSLE.

Importantly, anti-NR2 antibodies preferentially bind to NMDARs during their activated state whereby the cognitive demand for learning and memory is high (Faust et al., 2010). In our 12 patients who underwent fMRI, neuroplasticity alterations of the hippocampi and amygdala were demonstrated while the cognitive demand for learning and memory reached the maximum during the WCST, which was also the moment when the NMDARs reached the activated state and invited binding with anti-NR2.

This study has a few limitations. First, fMRI scan was not performed in all of our lupus patients due to funding constraint and patients' reluctance owing to commitment of the long scanning time. Nevertheless, the 12 lupus patients who underwent fMRI had comparable demographic and clinical characteristics when compared to the rest of the SLE patients of this study. Second, because our aim is to test the clinical applicability of serum anti-NR2 for detecting subclinical NPSLE, CSF was not obtained in our patients for analysis. Thus, correlation between CSF and serum anti-NR2 levels could not be determined in our study. Third, as described previously in the conclusions of Study 3.1, medications such as glucocorticoids might affect BOLD fMRI signals despite the fact that it was practically challenging to match for disease activity and glucocorticoid doses in different groups.

In summary, while we found significantly higher serum levels of anti-NR2 antibodies in lupus patients in comparison with age- and sex-matched healthy controls, the presence of serum anti-NR2 antibodies in patients with SLE was unrelated to the clinical and serological disease activity of SLE. In addition, serum anti-NR2 antibodies are not associated with subclinical neuronal disturbance at the hippocampus and amygdala assessed based on fMRI. Taken together with the results of other studies

(Fragoso-Loyo et al., 2008; Hanly et al., 2006; Hanly et al., 2008; Hanly et al., 2011; Hanly et al., 2012; Harrison et al., 2006; Husebye et al., 2005; Kozora et al., 2010; Petri et al., 2010; Steup-Beekman et al., 2007), we conclude that serum anti-NR2 level alone is not an optimal biomarker to detect subclinical neuropsychiatric SLE. Since obtaining CSF in lupus patients without neuropsychiatric manifestations is hindered by practical and ethical issues, further studies assessing the clinical applicability of the combination of serum anti-NR2 level and non-invasive assessment of the integrity of BBB opens an attractive research direction which aims to detect and monitor subclinical neuropsychiatric manifestations in patients with SLE.

CHAPTER 4

CONCLUSIONS

4.1 Summary of the aims of this thesis

Although cognitive dysfunction has been identified as one of the most prevalent neuropsychiatric manifestations of SLE (Lahita, 2011) which carries a negative impact on the health-related quality of life and vocational as well as societal aspects in patients with SLE (Kiani & Petri, 2010; Panopalis et al., 2007; Williams et al., 2011), the underlying neuropathophysiology remains elusive. The aims of this thesis are to unravel the anatomical and functional brain involvement in subclinical cognitive dysfunction by employing BOLD fMRI and explore the potential role of serum anti-NR2 antibodies in subclinical cognitive dysfunction in patients with SLE. The rationale of using fMRI signals as surrogates to gauge subclinical cognitive dysfunction is because this modality of investigation has been consistently shown to be a sensitive tool to detect subclinical brain involvement, both anatomically and functionally. It is hoped that through the series of studies reported in this thesis, researchers and clinicians can further understand the underlying pathophysiology of cognitive dysfunction in SLE so that more focused and pragmatic research can be planned and implemented in order to target certain anatomical regions and functional pathways of the brain in SLE.

4.2 Summary of the results

It was shown in Part A of the first study that while patients with new-onset SLE demonstrated comparable WCST performance as their matched healthy counterparts,

deficits in executive function was revealed in these lupus patients as indicated by their inferior strategic planning skills revealed by the BOLD fMRI signals. As a result, additional cortical regions which are involved in the execution of goal-directed tasks were recruited in these lupus patients in order to compensate for their inferior strategic planning skills. Surprisingly, their inefficient strategic planning skills and the subsequent compensatory mechanism which boosted error detection and conflict processing persisted even after adequate control of their lupus disease activity. These observations may be able to explain why cognitive function may continue to decline even after adequate control of lupus disease activity.

With an aim to map potential dysfunctional neural pathways which mediate subclinical cognitive dysfunction in patients with SLE, the brain activities across different stages of cognitive set-shifting processes during the performance of the WCST in the new-onset SLE patients were explored by fMRI in Part B of the first study. During the condition when the cognitive demand for withholding previous prepotent rule and response inhibition was dominating, the cortico-basal ganglia-thalamic-cortical circuit was demonstrated to be involved in healthy individuals. On the contrary, the right GP and right thalamus within this circuit were dysfunctional in these lupus patients even if they had no clinically overt neuropsychiatric symptoms. To compensate for this compromised neural circuit, the contralateral cerebellum frontal connection was recruited in order to maintain comparable WCST performance as healthy individuals. During the condition when the subjects were actively forgetting the prevailing rule and attempting to maintain the identified rule, the healthy controls showed decreased activation at both the hippocampi and left amygdala. However, the involvement of the left hippocampus and left amygdala in the same condition was absent in lupus patients, implying that the active forgetting-learning dynamics in lupus patients was disrupted. As for the potential implication in clinical practice, our findings suggest that physicians taking care of lupus patients may need to be aware of their potential reluctance to change their existing knowledge and adapt to new ones, such as in situations where pharmacological treatment and lifestyle need to be modified for optimizing disease control and preventing organ damage.

In the second study, we found that the serum levels of anti-NR2 antibodies were significantly higher in patients with SLE than that of the healthy individuals. No correlation was revealed between serum anti-NR2 antibodies and clinical and serological lupus disease activity. Furthermore, no significant association was demonstrated between serum anti-NR2 antibodies and subclinical neuronal disturbance at the hippocampus and amygdala in SLE patients without clinically overt neuropsychiatric symptoms as revealed by the BOLD fMRI signals. These findings appear to suggest that serum anti-NR2 level alone is not an optimal marker for subclinical neuropsychiatric manifestation of SLE.

4.3 Ethical consideration

All these three studies have obtained approval from the institutional ethics committee before they were carried out. Ethical issues that were commonly raised in biomedical studies, especially in studies involving fMRI, were taken into account in our studies.

Firstly, our fMRI studies were all conducted in adults with clinically normal cognitive function. Other individuals involved in Study 3.2 were adults as well. Thus, all

the studies presented here did not involve any vulnerable personnel, such as pregnant women or children. Secondly, written informed consent was sought from all participants in our studies. Thirdly, the fMRI scans were carried out using standard procedure in the Functional Imaging Center in NUH by certificated technicians. Lastly, the confidentiality and privacy of all study participants were carefully secured and all the results would be exclusively used in the research settings.

4.4 Future work

The dysfunctional cortico-basal ganglia-thalamic-cortical circuit and abnormal hippocampal-amygdala activities have been hitherto demonstrated in our new-onset non-neuropsychiatric SLE patients. Evaluation of aforementioned neural circuits in the SLE patients after sufficient disease control might be helpful to give further insight into the pathogenesis of cognitive dysfunction in SLE patients. Furthermore, it might be helpful to identify the cortical regions and neural circuits of which the abnormal activities are capable of predicting cognitive dysfunction in SLE patients by prospectively following up the SLE patients involved in the fMRI study, assessing their cognitive function and stratifying them based on their cognitive function condition.

Search for novel and specific mediators and antibodies against these neural pathways using rodent models would further enrich our knowledge of biological factors related to lupus cognitive impairment. In addition, our findings suggest that the serum titre of anti-NR2 antibodies alone is not a sensitive marker to detect subclinical cognitive dysfunction in patients with SLE although other studies have shown that its CSF equivalent is associated with neuropsychiatric manifestations in lupus patients. Given the important role of the integrity of BBB in the pathogenesis of lupus cognitive dysfunction induced by anti-NR2 antibodies, further studies addressing the clinical applicability of the combination of serum anti-NR2 level and non-invasive assessment of the integrity of BBB is a relevant strategy to detect and monitor the subclinical neuropsychiatric symptoms in patients with SLE.

4.5 Overall summary of this thesis

In summary, patients with new-onset SLE without clinically overt neuropsychiatric symptoms demonstrated inferior strategic planning skills which required compensatory recruitment of additional cortical regions during the execution of goaldirected task in order to maintain normal executive function at the time of diagnosis and after sufficient disease control. Additionally, SLE patients demonstrated dysfunctional neural circuits and connections that contribute to response inhibition and active forgetting-learning dynamics during cognitive set-shifting. Furthermore, SLE patients were demonstrated to have significantly higher level of serum anti-NR2 antibodies although the level of the antibodies did not correlate with clinical neuropsychiatric symptoms and were not associated with abnormal neural activities in the hippocampus and amygdala as demonstrated by the BOLD fMRI signals in those regions. These findings collectively suggest that anti-NR2 alone was not an optimal marker for clinical and subclinical neuropsychiatric manifestations in patients with SLE.

REFERENCES

Abreu, M.R., Jakosky, A., Folgerini, M., Brenol, J.C., Xavier, R.M., and Kapczinsky, F. (2005). Neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus: correlation of brain MR imaging, CT, and SPECT. Clinical imaging *29*, 215-221.

Ainiala, H., Dastidar, P., Loukkola, J., Lehtimaki, T., Korpela, M., Peltola, J., and Hietaharju, A. (2005). Cerebral MRI abnormalities and their association with neuropsychiatric manifestations in SLE: a population-based study. Scandinavian journal of rheumatology *34*, 376-382.

Ainiala, H., Hietaharju, A., Dastidar, P., Loukkola, J., Lehtimaki, T., Peltola, J., Korpela, M., Heinonen, T., and Nikkari, S.T. (2004). Increased serum matrix metalloproteinase 9 levels in systemic lupus erythematosus patients with neuropsychiatric manifestations and brain magnetic resonance imaging abnormalities. Arthritis and rheumatism *50*, 858-865.

Ainiala, H., Hietaharju, A., Loukkola, J., Peltola, J., Korpela, M., Metsanoja, R., and Auvinen, A. (2001). Validity of the new American College of Rheumatology criteria for neuropsychiatric lupus syndromes: a population-based evaluation. Arthritis and rheumatism *45*, 419-423.

Alexander, G.E., Crutcher, M.D., and DeLong, M.R. (1990). Basal gangliathalamocortical circuits: parallel substrates for motor, oculomotor, "prefrontal" and "limbic" functions. Prog Brain Res *85*, 119-146.
Alexander, G.E., DeLong, M.R., and Strick, P.L. (1986). Parallel organization of functionally segregated circuits linking basal ganglia and cortex. Annu Rev Neurosci *9*, 357-381.

Alkonyi, B., Chugani, H.T., Behen, M., Halverson, S., Helder, E., Makki, M.I., and Juhasz, C. (2010). The role of the thalamus in neuro-cognitive dysfunction in early unilateral hemispheric injury: a multimodality imaging study of children with Sturge-Weber syndrome. Eur J Paediatr Neurol *14*, 425-433.

Anonymous (1999). The American College of Rheumatology nomenclature and case definitions for neuropsychiatric lupus syndromes. Arthritis and rheumatism *42*, 599-608.

Antonchak, M.A., Saoudian, M., Khan, A.R., Brunner, H.I., and Luggen, M.E. (2011). Cognitive dysfunction in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: a controlled study. The Journal of rheumatology *38*, 1020-1025.

Appenzeller, S., Li, L.M., Costallat, L.T., and Cendes, F. (2005). Evidence of reversible axonal dysfunction in systemic lupus erythematosus: a proton MRS study. Brain : a journal of neurology *128*, 2933-2940.

Aranow, C., Diamond, B., and Mackay, M. (2010). Glutamate receptor biology and its clinical significance in neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Rheumatic diseases clinics of North America *36*, 187-201, x-xi.

Arinuma, Y., Yanagida, T., and Hirohata, S. (2008). Association of cerebrospinal fluid anti-NR2 glutamate receptor antibodies with diffuse neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *58*, 1130-1135.

123

Bachen, E.A., Chesney, M.A., and Criswell, L.A. (2009). Prevalence of mood and anxiety disorders in women with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *61*, 822-829.

Ballestar, E., Esteller, M., and Richardson, B.C. (2006). The epigenetic face of systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol *176*, 7143-7147.

Ballinger, A. (2012). Essentials of Kumar & Clark's clinical medicine, 5th edn (Edinburgh ; New York: Saunders).

Beer, K.R., Lorincz, A.L., Medenica, M.M., Albertini, J., Baron, J., Drinkard, L., and Swartz, T. (1994). Insecticide-induced lupus erythematosus. International journal of dermatology *33*, 860-862.

Beleza, P. (2012). Acute symptomatic seizures: a clinically oriented review. The neurologist *18*, 109-119.

Benedict, R.H., Shucard, J.L., Zivadinov, R., and Shucard, D.W. (2008). Neuropsychological impairment in systemic lupus erythematosus: a comparison with multiple sclerosis. Neuropsychology review *18*, 149-166.

Bennett, G.W., Ballard, T.M., Watson, C.D., and Fone, K.C. (1997). Effect of neuropeptides on cognitive function. Experimental gerontology *32*, 451-469.

Berman, K.F., Zec, R.F., and Weinberger, D.R. (1986). Physiologic dysfunction of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. II. Role of neuroleptic treatment, attention, and mental effort. Archives of general psychiatry *43*, 126-135.

Bertsias, G.K., and Boumpas, D.T. (2010). Pathogenesis, diagnosis and management of neuropsychiatric SLE manifestations. Nature reviews Rheumatology *6*, 358-367.

Bertsias, G.K., Ioannidis, J.P., Aringer, M., Bollen, E., Bombardieri, S., Bruce, I.N., Cervera, R., Dalakas, M., Doria, A., Hanly, J.G., *et al.* (2010). EULAR recommendations for the management of systemic lupus erythematosus with neuropsychiatric manifestations: report of a task force of the EULAR standing committee for clinical affairs. Annals of the rheumatic diseases *69*, 2074-2082.

Birkedal-Hansen, H., Moore, W.G., Bodden, M.K., Windsor, L.J., Birkedal-Hansen, B., DeCarlo, A., and Engler, J.A. (1993). Matrix metalloproteinases: a review. Critical reviews in oral biology and medicine : an official publication of the American Association of Oral Biologists *4*, 197-250.

Blanchong, C.A., Chung, E.K., Rupert, K.L., Yang, Y., Yang, Z., Zhou, B., Moulds, J.M., and Yu, C.Y. (2001). Genetic, structural and functional diversities of human complement components C4A and C4B and their mouse homologues, Slp and C4. International immunopharmacology *1*, 365-392.

Blanco, P., Palucka, A.K., Gill, M., Pascual, V., and Banchereau, J. (2001). Induction of dendritic cell differentiation by IFN-alpha in systemic lupus erythematosus. Science *294*, 1540-1543.

Bleiberg, J., Cernich, A.N., Cameron, K., Sun, W., Peck, K., Ecklund, P.J., Reeves, D.,Uhorchak, J., Sparling, M.B., and Warden, D.L. (2004). Duration of cognitiveimpairment after sports concussion. Neurosurgery 54, 1073-1078; discussion 1078-1080.

Bleiberg, J., Kane, R.L., Reeves, D.L., Garmoe, W.S., and Halpern, E. (2000). Factor analysis of computerized and traditional tests used in mild brain injury research. The Clinical neuropsychologist *14*, 287-294.

Bluestein, H.G., Williams, G.W., and Steinberg, A.D. (1981). Cerebrospinal fluid antibodies to neuronal cells: association with neuropsychiatric manifestations of systemic lupus erythematosus. The American journal of medicine *70*, 240-246.

Blumenthal, D.E. (2002). Tired, aching, ANA-positive: does your patient have lupus or fibromyalgia? Cleveland Clinic journal of medicine *69*, 143-146, 151-142.

Bombardier, C., Gladman, D.D., Urowitz, M.B., Caron, D., and Chang, C.H. (1992). Derivation of the SLEDAI. A disease activity index for lupus patients. The Committee on Prognosis Studies in SLE. Arthritis and rheumatism *35*, 630-640.

Bonfa, E., Golombek, S.J., Kaufman, L.D., Skelly, S., Weissbach, H., Brot, N., and Elkon, K.B. (1987). Association between lupus psychosis and anti-ribosomal P protein antibodies. The New England journal of medicine *317*, 265-271.

Bookheimer, S.Y., Strojwas, M.H., Cohen, M.S., Saunders, A.M., Pericak-Vance, M.A., Mazziotta, J.C., and Small, G.W. (2000). Patterns of brain activation in people at risk for Alzheimer's disease. The New England journal of medicine *343*, 450-456.

Bosma, G.P., Rood, M.J., Zwinderman, A.H., Huizinga, T.W., and van Buchem, M.A. (2000). Evidence of central nervous system damage in patients with neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus, demonstrated by magnetization transfer imaging. Arthritis and rheumatism *43*, 48-54.

Bostan, A.C., and Strick, P.L. (2010). The cerebellum and basal ganglia are interconnected. Neuropsychology review *20*, 261-270.

Brey, R.L., Holliday, S.L., Saklad, A.R., Navarrete, M.G., Hermosillo-Romo, D.,
Stallworth, C.L., Valdez, C.R., Escalante, A., del Rincon, I., Gronseth, G., *et al.* (2002).
Neuropsychiatric syndromes in lupus: prevalence using standardized definitions.
Neurology 58, 1214-1220.

Brunner, H.I., Ruth, N.M., German, A., Nelson, S., Passo, M.H., Roebuck-Spencer, T., Ying, J., and Ris, D. (2007). Initial validation of the Pediatric Automated Neuropsychological Assessment Metrics for childhood-onset systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *57*, 1174-1182.

Buchsbaum, B.R., Greer, S., Chang, W.L., and Berman, K.F. (2005). Meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies of the Wisconsin card-sorting task and component processes. Human brain mapping *25*, 35-45.

Buyon, J.P., Petri, M.A., Kim, M.Y., Kalunian, K.C., Grossman, J., Hahn, B.H., Merrill, J.T., Sammaritano, L., Lockshin, M., Alarcon, G.S., *et al.* (2005). The effect of combined estrogen and progesterone hormone replacement therapy on disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus: a randomized trial. Annals of internal medicine *142*, 953-962.

Calautti, C., and Baron, J.C. (2003). Functional neuroimaging studies of motor recovery after stroke in adults: a review. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation *34*, 1553-1566.

Carbotte, R.M., Denburg, S.D., and Denburg, J.A. (1986). Prevalence of cognitive impairment in systemic lupus erythematosus. The Journal of nervous and mental disease *174*, 357-364.

Cassano, G., Roverano, S., Paira, S., Bellomio, V., Lucero, E., Berman, A., Spindler, A., Trobo, R., Somma, L.F., Graf, C., *et al.* (2007). Accrual of organ damage over time in Argentine patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: a multi-centre study. Clinical rheumatology *26*, 2017-2022.

Castellano, G., Woltman, A.M., Schlagwein, N., Xu, W., Schena, F.P., Daha, M.R., and van Kooten, C. (2007). Immune modulation of human dendritic cells by complement. European journal of immunology *37*, 2803-2811.

Cavaco, S., Martins da Silva, A., Santos, E., Coutinho, E., Marinho, A., Moreira, I., Goncalves, A., Pinto, C., Teixeira-Pinto, A., and Vasconcelos, C. (2012). Are cognitive and olfactory dysfunctions in neuropsychiatric lupus erythematosus dependent on anxiety or depression? The Journal of rheumatology *39*, 770-776.

Chan, R.C., Shum, D., Toulopoulou, T., and Chen, E.Y. (2008). Assessment of executive functions: review of instruments and identification of critical issues. Archives of clinical neuropsychology : the official journal of the National Academy of Neuropsychologists *23*, 201-216.

Chan, Y.H. (2003). Biostatistics 101: data presentation. Singapore medical journal *44*, 280-285.

Chang, L., Ernst, T., Witt, M.D., Ames, N., Gaiefsky, M., and Miller, E. (2002). Relationships among brain metabolites, cognitive function, and viral loads in antiretroviral-naive HIV patients. NeuroImage *17*, 1638-1648.

Chang, Y.K., Yang, W., Zhao, M., Mok, C.C., Chan, T.M., Wong, R.W., Lee, K.W., Mok, M.Y., Wong, S.N., Ng, I.O., *et al.* (2009). Association of BANK1 and TNFSF4 with systemic lupus erythematosus in Hong Kong Chinese. Genes and immunity *10*, 414-420.

Chen, H.S., and Lipton, S.A. (2006). The chemical biology of clinically tolerated NMDA receptor antagonists. Journal of neurochemistry *97*, 1611-1626.

Coan, E.J., and Collingridge, G.L. (1985). Magnesium ions block an N-methyl-Daspartate receptor-mediated component of synaptic transmission in rat hippocampus. Neuroscience letters *53*, 21-26.

Colasanti, T., Delunardo, F., Margutti, P., Vacirca, D., Piro, E., Siracusano, A., and Ortona, E. (2009). Autoantibodies involved in neuropsychiatric manifestations associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. Journal of neuroimmunology *212*, 3-9.

Colombo, G., Hansen, C., Hoffman, P.L., and Grant, K.A. (1992). Decreased performance in a delayed alternation task by rats genetically deficient in vasopressin. Physiology & behavior *52*, 827-830.

Conti, F., Alessandri, C., Perricone, C., Scrivo, R., Rezai, S., Ceccarelli, F., Spinelli, F.R., Ortona, E., Marianetti, M., Mina, C., *et al.* (2012). Neurocognitive dysfunction in systemic lupus erythematosus: association with antiphospholipid antibodies, disease activity and chronic damage. PloS one 7, e33824.

Costenbader, K.H., Karlson, E.W., and Mandl, L.A. (2002). Defining lupus cases for clinical studies: the Boston weighted criteria for the classification of systemic lupus erythematosus. The Journal of rheumatology *29*, 2545-2550.

Craig, A.D. (2009). How do you feel--now? The anterior insula and human awareness. Nature reviews Neuroscience *10*, 59-70.

Creange, A., Sharshar, T., Planchenault, T., Christov, C., Poron, F., Raphael, J.C., and Gherardi, R.K. (1999). Matrix metalloproteinase-9 is increased and correlates with severity in Guillain-Barre syndrome. Neurology *53*, 1683-1691.

Crispin, J.C., Kyttaris, V.C., Juang, Y.T., and Tsokos, G.C. (2008). How signaling and gene transcription aberrations dictate the systemic lupus erythematosus T cell phenotype. Trends in immunology *29*, 110-115.

Crispin, J.C., Liossis, S.N., Kis-Toth, K., Lieberman, L.A., Kyttaris, V.C., Juang, Y.T., and Tsokos, G.C. (2010). Pathogenesis of human systemic lupus erythematosus: recent advances. Trends in molecular medicine *16*, 47-57.

Csepany, T., Gulyas, B., Tron, L., Szakall, S., Kiss, E., Kollar, J., Sikula, J., Szegedi, G., and Csiba, L. (1997). [Cerebral positron emission tomographic study in systemic lupus erythematosus]. Orvosi hetilap *138*, 1947-1952.

Cunninghame Graham, D.S., Graham, R.R., Manku, H., Wong, A.K., Whittaker, J.C., Gaffney, P.M., Moser, K.L., Rioux, J.D., Altshuler, D., Behrens, T.W., *et al.* (2008). Polymorphism at the TNF superfamily gene TNFSF4 confers susceptibility to systemic lupus erythematosus. Nature genetics *40*, 83-89.

Dahl, A., Omdal, R., Waterloo, K., Joakimsen, O., Jacobsen, E.A., Koldingsnes, W., and Mellgren, S.I. (2006). Detection of cerebral embolic signals in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry *77*, 774-779.

Dalmau, J., Tuzun, E., Wu, H.Y., Masjuan, J., Rossi, J.E., Voloschin, A., Baehring, J.M., Shimazaki, H., Koide, R., King, D., *et al.* (2007). Paraneoplastic anti-N-methyl-Daspartate receptor encephalitis associated with ovarian teratoma. Annals of neurology *61*, 25-36.

de Veer, M.J., Holko, M., Frevel, M., Walker, E., Der, S., Paranjape, J.M., Silverman, R.H., and Williams, B.R. (2001). Functional classification of interferon-stimulated genes identified using microarrays. Journal of leukocyte biology *69*, 912-920.

de Wied, D., and van Ree, J.M. (1982). Neuropeptides, mental performance and aging. Life sciences *31*, 709-719.

Deapen, D., Escalante, A., Weinrib, L., Horwitz, D., Bachman, B., Roy-Burman, P., Walker, A., and Mack, T.M. (1992). A revised estimate of twin concordance in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *35*, 311-318.

Decker, P., Singh-Jasuja, H., Haager, S., Kotter, I., and Rammensee, H.G. (2005). Nucleosome, the main autoantigen in systemic lupus erythematosus, induces direct dendritic cell activation via a MyD88-independent pathway: consequences on inflammation. J Immunol *174*, 3326-3334.

DeGiorgio, L.A., Konstantinov, K.N., Lee, S.C., Hardin, J.A., Volpe, B.T., and Diamond, B. (2001). A subset of lupus anti-DNA antibodies cross-reacts with the NR2 glutamate receptor in systemic lupus erythematosus. Nature medicine *7*, 1189-1193.

Demas, K.L., Keenan, B.T., Solomon, D.H., Yazdany, J., and Costenbader, K.H. (2010). Osteoporosis and cardiovascular disease care in systemic lupus erythematosus according to new quality indicators. Seminars in arthritis and rheumatism *40*, 193-200.

Denburg, S.D., Carbotte, R.M., and Denburg, J.A. (1987). Cognitive impairment in systemic lupus erythematosus: a neuropsychological study of individual and group deficits. Journal of clinical and experimental neuropsychology *9*, 323-339.

Denburg, S.D., Carbotte, R.M., and Denburg, J.A. (1994). Corticosteroids and neuropsychological functioning in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *37*, 1311-1320.

Denburg, S.D., Carbotte, R.M., Ginsberg, J.S., and Denburg, J.A. (1997). The relationship of antiphospholipid antibodies to cognitive function in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society : JINS *3*, 377-386.

Denburg, S.D., and Denburg, J.A. (2003). Cognitive dysfunction and antiphospholipid antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus *12*, 883-890.

Desmond, J.E., Chen, S.H., DeRosa, E., Pryor, M.R., Pfefferbaum, A., and Sullivan, E.V. (2003). Increased frontocerebellar activation in alcoholics during verbal working memory: an fMRI study. NeuroImage *19*, 1510-1520.

Devous, M.D., Sr. (2005). Single-photon emission computed tomography in neurotherapeutics. NeuroRx : the journal of the American Society for Experimental NeuroTherapeutics *2*, 237-249.

Diamond, B. (2010). Antibodies and the Brain: Lessons from Lupus. J Immunol 185, 2637-2640.

Diamond, B., and Volpe, B.T. (2012). A model for lupus brain disease. Immunological reviews 248, 56-67.

Dickerson, B.C. (2007). Advances in functional magnetic resonance imaging: technology and clinical applications. Neurotherapeutics : the journal of the American Society for Experimental NeuroTherapeutics *4*, 360-370.

DiFrancesco, M.W., Holland, S.K., Ris, M.D., Adler, C.M., Nelson, S., DelBello, M.P., Altaye, M., and Brunner, H.I. (2007). Functional magnetic resonance imaging assessment of cognitive function in childhood-onset systemic lupus erythematosus: a pilot study. Arthritis and rheumatism *56*, 4151-4163.

Ding, D., Mehta, H., McCune, W.J., and Kaplan, M.J. (2006). Aberrant phenotype and function of myeloid dendritic cells in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol *177*, 5878-5889.

Doreau, A., Belot, A., Bastid, J., Riche, B., Trescol-Biemont, M.C., Ranchin, B., Fabien, N., Cochat, P., Pouteil-Noble, C., Trolliet, P., *et al.* (2009). Interleukin 17 acts in synergy with B cell-activating factor to influence B cell biology and the pathophysiology of systemic lupus erythematosus. Nature immunology *10*, 778-785.

Dousset, V., Armand, J.P., Huot, P., Viaud, B., and Caille, J.M. (1997). Magnetization transfer imaging in AIDS-related brain diseases. Neuroimaging clinics of North America *7*, 447-460.

Driver, C.B., Wallace, D.J., Lee, J.C., Forbess, C.J., Pourrabbani, S., Minoshima, S., Waxman, A.D., and Weisman, M.H. (2008). Clinical validation of the watershed sign as a marker for neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *59*, 332-337.

Eisenberg, D.P., and Berman, K.F. (2010). Executive function, neural circuitry, and genetic mechanisms in schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology *35*, 258-277.

Ellison, G. (1995). The N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonists phencyclidine, ketamine and dizocilpine as both behavioral and anatomical models of the dementias. Brain research Brain research reviews *20*, 250-267.

Emmer, B.J., Steup-Beekman, G.M., Steens, S.C., Huizinga, T.W., van Buchem, M.A., and van der Grond, J. (2008). Correlation of magnetization transfer ratio histogram parameters with neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus criteria and proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy: association of magnetization transfer ratio peak height with neuronal and cognitive dysfunction. Arthritis and rheumatism *58*, 1451-1457.

Esdaile, J.M., Abrahamowicz, M., Grodzicky, T., Li, Y., Panaritis, C., du Berger, R., Cote, R., Grover, S.A., Fortin, P.R., Clarke, A.E., *et al.* (2001). Traditional Framingham risk factors fail to fully account for accelerated atherosclerosis in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *44*, 2331-2337.

Faust, T.W., Chang, E.H., Kowal, C., Berlin, R., Gazaryan, I.G., Bertini, E., Zhang, J., Sanchez-Guerrero, J., Fragoso-Loyo, H.E., Volpe, B.T., *et al.* (2010). Neurotoxic lupus autoantibodies alter brain function through two distinct mechanisms. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *107*, 18569-18574.

Feng, X., Wu, H., Grossman, J.M., Hanvivadhanakul, P., FitzGerald, J.D., Park, G.S., Dong, X., Chen, W., Kim, M.H., Weng, H.H., *et al.* (2006). Association of increased interferon-inducible gene expression with disease activity and lupus nephritis in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *54*, 2951-2962.

Figueiredo-Braga, M., Mota-Garcia, F., O'Connor, J.E., Garcia, J.R., Mota-Cardoso, R., Cardoso, C.S., and de Sousa, M. (2009). Cytokines and anxiety in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients not receiving antidepressant medication: a little-explored frontier and some of its brief history. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences *1173*, 286-291.

Filippi, M., and Rocca, M.A. (2004). Cortical reorganisation in patients with MS. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry *75*, 1087-1089.

135

Filippi, M., and Rovaris, M. (2000). Magnetisation transfer imaging in multiple sclerosis. Journal of neurovirology *6 Suppl 2*, S115-120.

Filley, C.M., Kozora, E., Brown, M.S., Miller, D.E., West, S.G., Arciniegas, D.B., Grimm, A., and Zhang, L. (2009). White matter microstructure and cognition in nonneuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Cognitive and behavioral neurology : official journal of the Society for Behavioral and Cognitive Neurology *22*, 38-44.

Fitzgibbon, B.M., Fairhall, S.L., Kirk, I.J., Kalev-Zylinska, M., Pui, K., Dalbeth, N., Keelan, S., Robinson, E., During, M., and McQueen, F.M. (2008). Functional MRI in NPSLE patients reveals increased parietal and frontal brain activation during a working memory task compared with controls. Rheumatology (Oxford) *47*, 50-53.

Fliegner, K.H., Ching, G.Y., and Liem, R.K. (1990). The predicted amino acid sequence of alpha-internexin is that of a novel neuronal intermediate filament protein. The EMBO journal *9*, 749-755.

Fossati, P., Ergis, A.M., and Allilaire, J.F. (2002). [Executive functioning in unipolar depression: a review]. L'Encephale *28*, 97-107.

Fragoso-Loyo, H., Cabiedes, J., Orozco-Narvaez, A., Davila-Maldonado, L., Atisha-Fregoso, Y., Diamond, B., Llorente, L., and Sanchez-Guerrero, J. (2008). Serum and cerebrospinal fluid autoantibodies in patients with neuropsychiatric lupus erythematosus. Implications for diagnosis and pathogenesis. PloS one *3*, e3347.

Fragoso-Loyo, H., Richaud-Patin, Y., Orozco-Narvaez, A., Davila-Maldonado, L., Atisha-Fregoso, Y., Llorente, L., and Sanchez-Guerrero, J. (2007). Interleukin-6 and chemokines in the neuropsychiatric manifestations of systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *56*, 1242-1250.

Frahm, J., Dechent, P., Baudewig, J., and Merboldt, K.D. (2004). Advances in functional MRI of the human brain. Prog Nucl Mag Res Sp *44*, 1-32.

Fuleihan, R., Ramesh, N., Loh, R., Jabara, H., Rosen, R.S., Chatila, T., Fu, S.M.,
Stamenkovic, I., and Geha, R.S. (1993). Defective expression of the CD40 ligand in X
chromosome-linked immunoglobulin deficiency with normal or elevated IgM.
Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *90*,
2170-2173.

Furie, K.L., Kasner, S.E., Adams, R.J., Albers, G.W., Bush, R.L., Fagan, S.C., Halperin, J.L., Johnston, S.C., Katzan, I., Kernan, W.N., *et al.* (2011). Guidelines for the prevention of stroke in patients with stroke or transient ischemic attack: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the american heart association/american stroke association. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation *42*, 227-276.

Furukawa, F., Kashihara-Sawami, M., Lyons, M.B., and Norris, D.A. (1990). Binding of antibodies to the extractable nuclear antigens SS-A/Ro and SS-B/La is induced on the surface of human keratinocytes by ultraviolet light (UVL): implications for the pathogenesis of photosensitive cutaneous lupus. The Journal of investigative dermatology *94*, 77-85. Garavan, H., Ross, T.J., and Stein, E.A. (1999). Right hemispheric dominance of inhibitory control: an event-related functional MRI study. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *96*, 8301-8306.

Garrity, A.G., Pearlson, G.D., McKiernan, K., Lloyd, D., Kiehl, K.A., and Calhoun, V.D. (2007). Aberrant "default mode" functional connectivity in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry *164*, 450-457.

Gaynor, B., Putterman, C., Valadon, P., Spatz, L., Scharff, M.D., and Diamond, B. (1997). Peptide inhibition of glomerular deposition of an anti-DNA antibody. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *94*, 1955-1960.

Genovese, C.R., Lazar, N.A., and Nichols, T. (2002). Thresholding of statistical maps in functional neuroimaging using the false discovery rate. NeuroImage *15*, 870-878.

Gerl, V., Lischka, A., Panne, D., Grossmann, P., Berthold, R., Hoyer, B.F., Biesen, R., Bruns, A., Alexander, T., Jacobi, A., *et al.* (2010). Blood dendritic cells in systemic lupus erythematosus exhibit altered activation state and chemokine receptor function. Annals of the rheumatic diseases *69*, 1370-1377.

Gilad, R., Lampl, Y., Eshel, Y., Barak, V., and Sarova-Pinhas, I. (1997). Cerebrospinal fluid soluble interleukin-2 receptor in cerebral lupus. British journal of rheumatology *36*, 190-193.

Giovacchini, G., Mosca, M., Manca, G., Della Porta, M., Neri, C., Bombardieri, S., Ciarmiello, A., Strauss, H.W., Mariani, G., and Volterrani, D. (2010). Cerebral blood flow in depressed patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. The Journal of rheumatology *37*, 1844-1851.

Gladman, D.D., Goldsmith, C.H., Urowitz, M.B., Bacon, P., Bombardier, C., Isenberg, D., Kalunian, K., Liang, M.H., Maddison, P., Nived, O., *et al.* (1992). Crosscultural validation and reliability of 3 disease activity indices in systemic lupus erythematosus. The Journal of rheumatology *19*, 608-611.

Gladman, D.D., Goldsmith, C.H., Urowitz, M.B., Bacon, P., Bombardier, C., Isenberg, D., Kalunian, K., Liang, M.H., Maddison, P., Nived, O., *et al.* (1994). Sensitivity to change of 3 Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity Indices: international validation. The Journal of rheumatology *21*, 1468-1471.

Gladman, D.D., Urowitz, M.B., Goldsmith, C.H., Fortin, P., Ginzler, E., Gordon, C., Hanly, J.G., Isenberg, D.A., Kalunian, K., Nived, O., *et al.* (1997). The reliability of the Systemic Lupus International Collaborating Clinics/American College of Rheumatology Damage Index in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *40*, 809-813.

Gleicher, N. (1992). Autoantibodies in normal and abnormal pregnancy. Am J Reprod Immunol 28, 269-273.

Gochberg, D.F., and Gore, J.C. (2007). Quantitative magnetization transfer imaging via selective inversion recovery with short repetition times. Magnetic resonance in medicine : official journal of the Society of Magnetic Resonance in Medicine / Society of Magnetic Resonance in Medicine *57*, 437-441.

Golby, A., Silverberg, G., Race, E., Gabrieli, S., O'Shea, J., Knierim, K., Stebbins, G., and Gabrieli, J. (2005). Memory encoding in Alzheimer's disease: an fMRI study of explicit and implicit memory. Brain : a journal of neurology *128*, 773-787.

Gono, T., Kawaguchi, Y., Kaneko, H., Nishimura, K., Hanaoka, M., Kataoka, S., Okamoto, Y., Katsumata, Y., and Yamanaka, H. (2011). Anti-NR2A antibody as a predictor for neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Rheumatology (Oxford) *50*, 1578-1585.

Graham, R.R., Cotsapas, C., Davies, L., Hackett, R., Lessard, C.J., Leon, J.M., Burtt, N.P., Guiducci, C., Parkin, M., Gates, C., *et al.* (2008). Genetic variants near TNFAIP3 on 6q23 are associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. Nature genetics *40*, 1059-1061.

Graham, S., Phua, E., Soon, C.S., Oh, T., Au, C., Shuter, B., Wang, S.C., and Yeh, I.B. (2009). Role of medial cortical, hippocampal and striatal interactions during cognitive set-shifting. NeuroImage *45*, 1359-1367.

Grant, D.A., and Berg, E.A. (1948). A behavioral analysis of degree of reinforcement and ease of shifting to new responses in a Weigl-type card-sorting problem. Journal of experimental psychology *38*, 404-411.

Gray, J.R., Chabris, C.F., and Braver, T.S. (2003). Neural mechanisms of general fluid intelligence. Nat Neurosci *6*, 316-322.

Gujar, S.K., Maheshwari, S., Bjorkman-Burtscher, I., and Sundgren, P.C. (2005). Magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Journal of neuro-ophthalmology : the official journal of the North American Neuro-Ophthalmology Society *25*, 217-226.

Gulinello, M., and Putterman, C. (2011). The MRL/lpr mouse strain as a model for neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Journal of biomedicine & biotechnology 2011, 207504.

Gupta, R.K., Kathuria, M.K., and Pradhan, S. (1999). Magnetization transfer MR imaging in CNS tuberculosis. AJNR American journal of neuroradiology *20*, 867-875.

Haaxma, R., Robbins, T.W., James, M., Brouwer, W.H., Colebatch, J.G., and Marsden,C.D. (1993). Neurobehavioral Changes in a Patient with Bilateral Lesions of the Globus-Pallidus. Behav Neurol *6*, 229-237.

Haber, S., and McFarland, N.R. (2001). The place of the thalamus in frontal corticalbasal ganglia circuits. Neuroscientist *7*, 315-324.

Han, J.W., Zheng, H.F., Cui, Y., Sun, L.D., Ye, D.Q., Hu, Z., Xu, J.H., Cai, Z.M., Huang,
W., Zhao, G.P., *et al.* (2009). Genome-wide association study in a Chinese Han
population identifies nine new susceptibility loci for systemic lupus erythematosus.
Nature genetics *41*, 1234-1237.

Handa, R., Sahota, P., Kumar, M., Jagannathan, N.R., Bal, C.S., Gulati, M., Tripathi, B.M., and Wali, J.P. (2003). In vivo proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) and single photon emission computerized tomography (SPECT) in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). Magnetic resonance imaging *21*, 1033-1037.

Hanly, J.G. (2005). Neuropsychiatric lupus. Rheumatic diseases clinics of North America *31*, 273-298, vi.

Hanly, J.G. (2007). New insights into central nervous system lupus: a clinical perspective. Current rheumatology reports *9*, 116-124.

Hanly, J.G., and Fisk, J.D. (2011). Diagnosis of cognitive impairment in adult and pediatric SLE. Nature reviews Rheumatology *7*, 564-565.

Hanly, J.G., Fisk, J.D., McCurdy, G., Fougere, L., and Douglas, J.A. (2005). Neuropsychiatric syndromes in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis. The Journal of rheumatology *32*, 1459-1456.

Hanly, J.G., Fisk, J.D., Sherwood, G., Jones, E., Jones, J.V., and Eastwood, B. (1992a). Cognitive impairment in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. The Journal of rheumatology *19*, 562-567.

Hanly, J.G., and Harrison, M.J. (2005). Management of neuropsychiatric lupus. Best practice & research Clinical rheumatology *19*, 799-821.

Hanly, J.G., Hong, C., Smith, S., and Fisk, J.D. (1999). A prospective analysis of cognitive function and anticardiolipin antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *42*, 728-734.

Hanly, J.G., McCurdy, G., Fougere, L., Douglas, J.A., and Thompson, K. (2004). Neuropsychiatric events in systemic lupus erythematosus: attribution and clinical significance. The Journal of rheumatology *31*, 2156-2162. Hanly, J.G., Omisade, A., Su, L., Farewell, V., and Fisk, J.D. (2010). Assessment of cognitive function in systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, and multiple sclerosis by computerized neuropsychological tests. Arthritis and rheumatism *62*, 1478-1486.

Hanly, J.G., Robichaud, J., and Fisk, J.D. (2006). Anti-NR2 glutamate receptor antibodies and cognitive function in systemic lupus erythematosus. The Journal of rheumatology *33*, 1553-1558.

Hanly, J.G., Urowitz, M.B., Siannis, F., Farewell, V., Gordon, C., Bae, S.C., Isenberg, D.,
Dooley, M.A., Clarke, A., Bernatsky, S., *et al.* (2008). Autoantibodies and
neuropsychiatric events at the time of systemic lupus erythematosus diagnosis: results
from an international inception cohort study. Arthritis and rheumatism *58*, 843-853.

Hanly, J.G., Urowitz, M.B., Su, L., Bae, S.C., Gordon, C., Clarke, A., Bernatsky, S., Vasudevan, A., Isenberg, D., Rahman, A., *et al.* (2011). Autoantibodies as biomarkers for the prediction of neuropsychiatric events in systemic lupus erythematosus. Annals of the rheumatic diseases *70*, 1726-1732.

Hanly, J.G., Urowitz, M.B., Su, L., Gordon, C., Bae, S.C., Sanchez-Guerrero, J., Romero-Diaz, J., Wallace, D.J., Clarke, A.E., Ginzler, E., *et al.* (2012). Seizure disorders in systemic lupus erythematosus results from an international, prospective, inception cohort study. Annals of the rheumatic diseases *71*, 1502-1509. Hanly, J.G., Walsh, N.M., Fisk, J.D., Eastwood, B., Hong, C., Sherwood, G., Jones, J.V.,Jones, E., and Elkon, K. (1993). Cognitive impairment and autoantibodies in systemiclupus erythematosus. British journal of rheumatology *32*, 291-296.

Hanly, J.G., Walsh, N.M., and Sangalang, V. (1992b). Brain pathology in systemic lupus erythematosus. The Journal of rheumatology *19*, 732-741.

Harley, J.B., Alarcon-Riquelme, M.E., Criswell, L.A., Jacob, C.O., Kimberly, R.P.,
Moser, K.L., Tsao, B.P., Vyse, T.J., Langefeld, C.D., Nath, S.K., *et al.* (2008). Genomewide association scan in women with systemic lupus erythematosus identifies
susceptibility variants in ITGAM, PXK, KIAA1542 and other loci. Nature genetics *40*,
204-210.

Harrison, M.J., Morris, K.A., Horton, R., Toglia, J., Barsky, J., Chait, S., Ravdin, L., and Robbins, L. (2005). Results of intervention for lupus patients with self-perceived cognitive difficulties. Neurology *65*, 1325-1327.

Harrison, M.J., and Ravdin, L.D. (2002). Cognitive dysfunction in neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Current opinion in rheumatology *14*, 510-514.

Harrison, M.J., Ravdin, L.D., and Lockshin, M.D. (2006). Relationship between serum NR2a antibodies and cognitive dysfunction in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *54*, 2515-2522.

Harvey, A.M., Shulman, L.E., Tumulty, P.A., Conley, C.L., and Schoenrich, E.H. (1954). Systemic lupus erythematosus: review of the literature and clinical analysis of 138 cases. Medicine *33*, 291-437. Heaton., R.K., Chelune., G.J., Talley., J.L., Kay., G.G., and Curtiss., G. (1993). Wisconsin Card Sorting Test Manual: Revised and expanded (Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources Inc).

Hester, R., and Garavan, H. (2004). Executive dysfunction in cocaine addiction: evidence for discordant frontal, cingulate, and cerebellar activity. J Neurosci *24*, 11017-11022.

Hill, E.L. (2004). Executive dysfunction in autism. Trends in cognitive sciences 8, 26-32.

Hochberg, M.C. (1997). Updating the American College of Rheumatology revised criteria for the classification of systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism 40, 1725.

Hoffman, G.S. (1978). Polyarthritis: the differential diagnosis of rheumatoid arthritis. Seminars in arthritis and rheumatism *8*, 115-141.

Holland, S.K., Plante, E., Weber Byars, A., Strawsburg, R.H., Schmithorst, V.J., and Ball, W.S., Jr. (2001). Normal fMRI brain activation patterns in children performing a verb generation task. NeuroImage *14*, 837-843.

Hom, G., Graham, R.R., Modrek, B., Taylor, K.E., Ortmann, W., Garnier, S., Lee, A.T., Chung, S.A., Ferreira, R.C., Pant, P.V., *et al.* (2008). Association of systemic lupus erythematosus with C8orf13-BLK and ITGAM-ITGAX. The New England journal of medicine *358*, 900-909. Huerta, P.T., Kowal, C., DeGiorgio, L.A., Volpe, B.T., and Diamond, B. (2006). Immunity and behavior: antibodies alter emotion. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *103*, 678-683.

Huettel, S.A., Song, A.W., and McCarthy, G. (2004). Functional magnetic resonance imaging (Sunderland, Mass.: Sinauer Associates, Publishers).

Husebye, E.S., Sthoeger, Z.M., Dayan, M., Zinger, H., Elbirt, D., Levite, M., and Mozes, E. (2005). Autoantibodies to a NR2A peptide of the glutamate/NMDA receptor in sera of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Annals of the rheumatic diseases *64*, 1210-1213.

Ibanez, D., Gladman, D.D., Touma, Z., Nikpour, M., and Urowitz, M.B. (2011). Optimal frequency of visits for patients with systemic lupus erythematosus to measure disease activity over time. The Journal of rheumatology *38*, 60-63.

Inglese, M., Rovaris, M., Bianchi, S., La Mantia, L., Mancardi, G.L., Ghezzi, A., Montagna, P., Salvi, F., and Filippi, M. (2001). Magnetic resonance imaging, magnetisation transfer imaging, and diffusion weighted imaging correlates of optic nerve, brain, and cervical cord damage in Leber's hereditary optic neuropathy. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry *70*, 444-449.

Ingram, F., Greve, K.W., Ingram, P.T., and Soukup, V.M. (1999). Temporal stability of the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test in an untreated patient sample. The British journal of clinical psychology / the British Psychological Society *38* (*Pt 2*), 209-211.

Insel, T.R., O'Brien, D.J., and Leckman, J.F. (1999). Oxytocin, vasopressin, and autism: is there a connection? Biological psychiatry *45*, 145-157.

Jacobi, A.M., Zhang, J., Mackay, M., Aranow, C., and Diamond, B. (2009). Phenotypic characterization of autoreactive B cells--checkpoints of B cell tolerance in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. PloS one *4*, e5776.

Jakes, R.W., Bae, S.C., Louthrenoo, W., Mok, C.C., Navarra, S.V., and Kwon, N. (2012). Systematic review of the epidemiology of systemic lupus erythematosus in the Asia-Pacific region: prevalence, incidence, clinical features, and mortality. Arthritis care & research *64*, 159-168.

James, J.A., and Robertson, J.M. (2012). Lupus and Epstein-Barr. Current opinion in rheumatology 24, 383-388.

Jin, O., Kavikondala, S., Mok, M.Y., Sun, L., Gu, J., Fu, R., Chan, A., Yeung, J., Nie, Y., and Lau, C.S. (2010). Abnormalities in circulating plasmacytoid dendritic cells in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis research & therapy *12*, R137.

Jin, O., Kavikondala, S., Sun, L., Fu, R., Mok, M.Y., Chan, A., Yeung, J., and Lau, C.S. (2008). Systemic lupus erythematosus patients have increased number of circulating plasmacytoid dendritic cells, but decreased myeloid dendritic cells with deficient CD83 expression. Lupus *17*, 654-662.

Johansson, M., Arlestig, L., Moller, B., Smedby, T., and Rantapaa-Dahlqvist, S. (2005). Oestrogen receptor {alpha} gene polymorphisms in systemic lupus erythematosus. Annals of the rheumatic diseases *64*, 1611-1617. Joseph, R. (1996). Neuropsychiatry, neuropsychology, and clinical neuroscience : emotion, evolution, cognition, language, memory, brain damage, and abnormal behavior, 2nd edn (Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins).

Jung, R.E., Chavez, R.S., Flores, R.A., Qualls, C., Sibbitt, W.L., Jr., and Roldan, C.A. (2012). White matter correlates of neuropsychological dysfunction in systemic lupus erythematosus. PloS one *7*, e28373.

Kane, R.L., Roebuck-Spencer, T., Short, P., Kabat, M., and Wilken, J. (2007). Identifying and monitoring cognitive deficits in clinical populations using Automated Neuropsychological Assessment Metrics (ANAM) tests. Archives of clinical neuropsychology : the official journal of the National Academy of Neuropsychologists 22 *Suppl 1*, S115-126.

Kanekura, T., Mizumoto, J., and Setoyama, M. (1993). A case of lupus meningitis treated successfully with methylprednisolone pulse therapy. The Journal of dermatology *20*, 566-571.

Kang, I., Quan, T., Nolasco, H., Park, S.H., Hong, M.S., Crouch, J., Pamer, E.G., Howe, J.G., and Craft, J. (2004). Defective control of latent Epstein-Barr virus infection in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol *172*, 1287-1294.

Kao, C.H., Ho, Y.J., Lan, J.L., Changlai, S.P., Liao, K.K., and Chieng, P.U. (1999a). Discrepancy between regional cerebral blood flow and glucose metabolism of the brain in systemic lupus erythematosus patients with normal brain magnetic resonance imaging findings. Arthritis and rheumatism *42*, 61-68. Kao, C.H., Lan, J.L., ChangLai, S.P., Liao, K.K., Yen, R.F., and Chieng, P.U. (1999b). The role of FDG-PET, HMPAO-SPET and MRI in the detection of brain involvement in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. European journal of nuclear medicine *26*, 129-134.

Kapogiannis, D., and Mattson, M.P. (2011). Disrupted energy metabolism and neuronal circuit dysfunction in cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. Lancet neurology *10*, 187-198.

Katzav, A., Solodeev, I., Brodsky, O., Chapman, J., Pick, C.G., Blank, M., Zhang, W., Reichlin, M., and Shoenfeld, Y. (2007). Induction of autoimmune depression in mice by anti-ribosomal P antibodies via the limbic system. Arthritis and rheumatism *56*, 938-948.

Kawasaki, A., Ito, I., Hikami, K., Ohashi, J., Hayashi, T., Goto, D., Matsumoto, I., Ito, S., Tsutsumi, A., Koga, M., *et al.* (2008). Role of STAT4 polymorphisms in systemic lupus erythematosus in a Japanese population: a case-control association study of the STAT1-STAT4 region. Arthritis research & therapy *10*, R113.

Kelley, J., Johnson, M.R., Alarcon, G.S., Kimberly, R.P., and Edberg, J.C. (2007). Variation in the relative copy number of the TLR7 gene in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and healthy control subjects. Arthritis and rheumatism *56*, 3375-3378.

Kerns, J.G., Nuechterlein, K.H., Braver, T.S., and Barch, D.M. (2008). Executive functioning component mechanisms and schizophrenia. Biological psychiatry *64*, 26-33.

Kiani, A.N., and Petri, M. (2010). Quality-of-life measurements versus disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus. Current rheumatology reports *12*, 250-258.

149

Kilburn, K.H., and Warshaw, R.H. (1992). Prevalence of symptoms of systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and of fluorescent antinuclear antibodies associated with chronic exposure to trichloroethylene and other chemicals in well water. Environmental research *57*, 1-9.

Kim-Howard, X., Maiti, A.K., Anaya, J.M., Bruner, G.R., Brown, E., Merrill, J.T., Edberg, J.C., Petri, M.A., Reveille, J.D., Ramsey-Goldman, R., *et al.* (2010). ITGAM coding variant (rs1143679) influences the risk of renal disease, discoid rash and immunological manifestations in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus with European ancestry. Annals of the rheumatic diseases *69*, 1329-1332.

Kimura, A., Sakurai, T., Tanaka, Y., Hozumi, I., Takahashi, K., Takemura, M., Saito, K., Seishima, M., and Inuzuka, T. (2008). Proteomic analysis of autoantibodies in neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus patient with white matter hyperintensities on brain MRI. Lupus *17*, 16-20.

Koechlin, E., and Summerfield, C. (2007). An information theoretical approach to prefrontal executive function. Trends in cognitive sciences *11*, 229-235.

Komatsu, N., Kodama, K., Yamanouchi, N., Okada, S., Noda, S., Nawata, Y., Takabayashi, K., Iwamoto, I., Saito, Y., Uchida, Y., *et al.* (1999). Decreased regional cerebral metabolic rate for glucose in systemic lupus erythematosus patients with psychiatric symptoms. European neurology *42*, 41-48.

Konishi, S., Hayashi, T., Uchida, I., Kikyo, H., Takahashi, E., and Miyashita, Y. (2002). Hemispheric asymmetry in human lateral prefrontal cortex during cognitive set shifting. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 99, 7803-7808.

Konishi, S., Kawazu, M., Uchida, I., Kikyo, H., Asakura, I., and Miyashita, Y. (1999a). Contribution of working memory to transient activation in human inferior prefrontal cortex during performance of the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test. Cereb Cortex *9*, 745-753.

Konishi, S., Nakajima, K., Uchida, I., Kikyo, H., Kameyama, M., and Miyashita, Y. (1999b). Common inhibitory mechanism in human inferior prefrontal cortex revealed by event-related functional MRI. Brain : a journal of neurology *122 (Pt 5)*, 981-991.

Korn, T., Bettelli, E., Oukka, M., and Kuchroo, V.K. (2009). IL-17 and Th17 Cells. Annual review of immunology 27, 485-517.

Kowal, C., Degiorgio, L.A., Lee, J.Y., Edgar, M.A., Huerta, P.T., Volpe, B.T., and Diamond, B. (2006). Human lupus autoantibodies against NMDA receptors mediate cognitive impairment. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *103*, 19854-19859.

Kowal, C., DeGiorgio, L.A., Nakaoka, T., Hetherington, H., Huerta, P.T., Diamond, B., and Volpe, B.T. (2004). Cognition and immunity; antibody impairs memory. Immunity *21*, 179-188.

Kozora, E., Arciniegas, D.B., Filley, C.M., Ellison, M.C., West, S.G., Brown, M.S., and Simon, J.H. (2005). Cognition, MRS neurometabolites, and MRI volumetrics in nonneuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus: preliminary data. Cognitive and behavioral neurology : official journal of the Society for Behavioral and Cognitive Neurology *18*, 159-162.

Kozora, E., Arciniegas, D.B., Filley, C.M., West, S.G., Brown, M., Miller, D., Grimm, A., Devore, M.D., Wingrove, C., and Zhang, L. (2008a). Cognitive and neurologic status in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus without major neuropsychiatric syndromes. Arthritis and rheumatism *59*, 1639-1646.

Kozora, E., Arciniegas, D.B., Zhang, L., and West, S. (2007). Neuropsychological patterns in systemic lupus erythematosus patients with depression. Arthritis research & therapy *9*, R48.

Kozora, E., Ellison, M.C., and West, S. (2004). Reliability and validity of the proposed American College of Rheumatology neuropsychological battery for systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *51*, 810-818.

Kozora, E., Ellison, M.C., and West, S. (2006). Depression, fatigue, and pain in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE): relationship to the American College of Rheumatology SLE neuropsychological battery. Arthritis and rheumatism *55*, 628-635.

Kozora, E., Hanly, J.G., Lapteva, L., and Filley, C.M. (2008b). Cognitive dysfunction in systemic lupus erythematosus: past, present, and future. Arthritis and rheumatism *58*, 3286-3298.

Kozora, E., Laudenslager, M., Lemieux, A., and West, S.G. (2001). Inflammatory and hormonal measures predict neuropsychological functioning in systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis patients. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society : JINS 7, 745-754.

Kozora, E., Thompson, L.L., West, S.G., and Kotzin, B.L. (1996). Analysis of cognitive and psychological deficits in systemic lupus erythematosus patients without overt central nervous system disease. Arthritis and rheumatism *39*, 2035-2045.

Kozora, E., West, S.G., Kotzin, B.L., Julian, L., Porter, S., and Bigler, E. (1998). Magnetic resonance imaging abnormalities and cognitive deficits in systemic lupus erythematosus patients without overt central nervous system disease. Arthritis and rheumatism *41*, 41-47.

Kozora, E., West, S.G., Maier, S.F., Filley, C.M., Arciniegas, D.B., Brown, M., Miller,D., Grimm, A., and Zhang, L. (2010). Antibodies against N-methyl-D-aspartate receptorsin patients with systemic lupus erythematosus without major neuropsychiatric syndromes.Journal of the neurological sciences 295, 87-91.

Kozyrev, S.V., Abelson, A.K., Wojcik, J., Zaghlool, A., Linga Reddy, M.V., Sanchez, E., Gunnarsson, I., Svenungsson, E., Sturfelt, G., Jonsen, A., *et al.* (2008). Functional variants in the B-cell gene BANK1 are associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. Nature genetics *40*, 211-216.

Kumar, K.R., Li, L., Yan, M., Bhaskarabhatla, M., Mobley, A.B., Nguyen, C., Mooney, J.M., Schatzle, J.D., Wakeland, E.K., and Mohan, C. (2006). Regulation of B cell tolerance by the lupus susceptibility gene Ly108. Science *312*, 1665-1669.

Kutsuwada, T., Kashiwabuchi, N., Mori, H., Sakimura, K., Kushiya, E., Araki, K., Meguro, H., Masaki, H., Kumanishi, T., Arakawa, M., *et al.* (1992). Molecular diversity of the NMDA receptor channel. Nature *358*, 36-41.

Lahita, R.G. (2011). Systemic lupus erythematosus, 5th edn (Amsterdam ; New York: Elsevier Academic Press).

Lai, N.S., and Lan, J.L. (2000). Evaluation of cerebrospinal anticardiolipin antibodies in lupus patients with neuropsychiatric manifestations. Lupus *9*, 353-357.

Lancman, M.E., Mesropian, H., and Granillo, R.J. (1989). Chronic aseptic meningitis in a patient with systemic lupus erythematosus. The Canadian journal of neurological sciences Le journal canadien des sciences neurologiques *16*, 354-356.

Lapteva, L., Nowak, M., Yarboro, C.H., Takada, K., Roebuck-Spencer, T., Weickert, T., Bleiberg, J., Rosenstein, D., Pao, M., Patronas, N., *et al.* (2006a). Anti-N-methyl-Daspartate receptor antibodies, cognitive dysfunction, and depression in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *54*, 2505-2514.

Lapteva, L., Yarboro, C.H., Roebuck-Spencer, T., Weickert, T., Nowak, M., Takada, K., Bleiberg, J., Lipsky, P.E., Phillips, T., and Illei, G.G. (2006b). Cognitive dysfunction and serum neuropeptides in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *54*, S293-S293.

Lau, C.S., and Mak, A. (2009). The socioeconomic burden of SLE. Nature reviews Rheumatology *5*, 400-404. Laube, B., Hirai, H., Sturgess, M., Betz, H., and Kuhse, J. (1997). Molecular determinants of agonist discrimination by NMDA receptor subunits: analysis of the glutamate binding site on the NR2B subunit. Neuron *18*, 493-503.

Lauvsnes, M.B., and Omdal, R. (2012). Systemic lupus erythematosus, the brain, and anti-NR2 antibodies. Journal of neurology *259*, 622-629.

Lee, J.H., Durand, R., Gradinaru, V., Zhang, F., Goshen, I., Kim, D.S., Fenno, L.E., Ramakrishnan, C., and Deisseroth, K. (2010). Global and local fMRI signals driven by neurons defined optogenetically by type and wiring. Nature *465*, 788-792.

Lee, M.K., and Cleveland, D.W. (1994). Neurofilament function and dysfunction: involvement in axonal growth and neuronal disease. Current opinion in cell biology *6*, 34-40.

Li, C.S., Huang, C., Constable, R.T., and Sinha, R. (2006). Imaging response inhibition in a stop-signal task: neural correlates independent of signal monitoring and postresponse processing. J Neurosci *26*, 186-192.

Li, F., and Tsien, J.Z. (2009). Memory and the NMDA receptors. The New England journal of medicine *361*, 302-303.

Li, Y., Harada, T., Juang, Y.T., Kyttaris, V.C., Wang, Y., Zidanic, M., Tung, K., and Tsokos, G.C. (2007). Phosphorylated ERM is responsible for increased T cell polarization, adhesion, and migration in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol *178*, 1938-1947. Liang, P., Wang, Z., Yang, Y., Jia, X., and Li, K. (2011). Functional disconnection and compensation in mild cognitive impairment: evidence from DLPFC connectivity using resting-state fMRI. PloS one *6*, e22153.

Lin, Y., Zou, Q.H., Wang, J., Wang, Y., Zhou, D.Q., Zhang, R.H., Zhang, Y.W., Lii, H.T., and Fang, Y.F. (2011). Localization of cerebral functional deficits in patients with nonneuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Human brain mapping *32*, 1847-1855.

Lipton, S.A., and Rosenberg, P.A. (1994). Excitatory amino acids as a final common pathway for neurologic disorders. The New England journal of medicine *330*, 613-622.

Logan, G.D., and Cowan, W.B. (1984). On the Ability to Inhibit Thought and Action - a Theory of an Act of Control. Psychol Rev *91*, 295-327.

Long, K.D., Mastropaolo, J., Rosse, R.B., Manaye, K.F., and Deutsch, S.I. (2006). Modulatory effects of d-serine and sarcosine on NMDA receptor-mediated neurotransmission are apparent after stress in the genetically inbred BALB/c mouse strain. Brain research bulletin *69*, 626-630.

Loukkola, J., Laine, M., Ainiala, H., Peltola, J., Metsanoja, R., Auvinen, A., and Hietaharju, A. (2003). Cognitive impairment in systemic lupus erythematosus and neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus: a population-based neuropsychological study. Journal of clinical and experimental neuropsychology *25*, 145-151.

Love, P.E., and Santoro, S.A. (1990). Antiphospholipid antibodies: anticardiolipin and the lupus anticoagulant in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and in non-SLE disorders. Prevalence and clinical significance. Annals of internal medicine *112*, 682-698.

Lu, X.Y., Chen, X.X., Huang, L.D., Zhu, C.Q., Gu, Y.Y., and Ye, S. (2010). Anti-alphainternexin autoantibody from neuropsychiatric lupus induce cognitive damage via inhibiting axonal elongation and promote neuron apoptosis. PloS one *5*, e11124.

Luyendijk, J., Steens, S.C., Ouwendijk, W.J., Steup-Beekman, G.M., Bollen, E.L., van der Grond, J., Huizinga, T.W., Emmer, B.J., and van Buchem, M.A. (2011). Neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus: lessons learned from magnetic resonance imaging. Arthritis and rheumatism *63*, 722-732.

Mackay, M., Bussa, M.P., Aranow, C., Ulug, A.M., Volpe, B.T., Huerta, P.T., Argyelan, M., Mandel, A., Hirsch, J., Diamond, B., *et al.* (2011). Differences in regional brain activation patterns assessed by functional magnetic resonance imaging in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus stratified by disease duration. Mol Med *17*, 1349-1356.

Mak, A., Cheung, M.W., Chiew, H.J., Liu, Y., and Ho, R.C. (2012). Global trend of survival and damage of systemic lupus erythematosus: meta-analysis and meta-regression of observational studies from the 1950s to 2000s. Seminars in arthritis and rheumatism *41*, 830-839.

Mak, A., Tang, C.S., Chan, M.F., Cheak, A.A., and Ho, R.C. (2011). Damage accrual, cumulative glucocorticoid dose and depression predict anxiety in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Clinical rheumatology *30*, 795-803.

Marchetta, N.D., Hurks, P.P., Krabbendam, L., and Jolles, J. (2008). Interference control, working memory, concept shifting, and verbal fluency in adults with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Neuropsychology *22*, 74-84.

157

May, L.A., Huang, Q., Morris, D., Danis, V., and Manolios, N. (2002). Relationship of tumour necrosis factor alpha gene polymorphisms and neuropsychiatric lupus. Lupus *11*, 114-118.

McLaurin, E.Y., Holliday, S.L., Williams, P., and Brey, R.L. (2005). Predictors of cognitive dysfunction in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Neurology *64*, 297-303.

Means, T.K., Latz, E., Hayashi, F., Murali, M.R., Golenbock, D.T., and Luster, A.D. (2005). Human lupus autoantibody-DNA complexes activate DCs through cooperation of CD32 and TLR9. The Journal of clinical investigation *115*, 407-417.

Menon, S., Jameson-Shortall, E., Newman, S.P., Hall-Craggs, M.R., Chinn, R., and Isenberg, D.A. (1999). A longitudinal study of anticardiolipin antibody levels and cognitive functioning in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *42*, 735-741.

Meyer-Lindenberg, A., Poline, J.B., Kohn, P.D., Holt, J.L., Egan, M.F., Weinberger, D.R., and Berman, K.F. (2001). Evidence for abnormal cortical functional connectivity during working memory in schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry *158*, 1809-1817.

Miele, E., Spinelli, G.P., Tomao, F., Zullo, A., De Marinis, F., Pasciuti, G., Rossi, L., Zoratto, F., and Tomao, S. (2008). Positron Emission Tomography (PET) radiotracers in oncology--utility of 18F-Fluoro-deoxy-glucose (FDG)-PET in the management of patients with non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Journal of experimental & clinical cancer research : CR *27*, 52.
Miguel, E.C., Pereira, R.M., Pereira, C.A., Baer, L., Gomes, R.E., de Sa, L.C., Hirsch, R., de Barros, N.G., de Navarro, J.M., and Gentil, V. (1994). Psychiatric manifestations of systemic lupus erythematosus: clinical features, symptoms, and signs of central nervous system activity in 43 patients. Medicine *73*, 224-232.

Mikdashi, J., and Handwerger, B. (2004). Predictors of neuropsychiatric damage in systemic lupus erythematosus: data from the Maryland lupus cohort. Rheumatology (Oxford) *43*, 1555-1560.

Miller, E.K. (2000). The prefrontal cortex and cognitive control. Nature reviews Neuroscience *1*, 59-65.

Mishra, N., Brown, D.R., Olorenshaw, I.M., and Kammer, G.M. (2001). Trichostatin A reverses skewed expression of CD154, interleukin-10, and interferon-gamma gene and protein expression in lupus T cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *98*, 2628-2633.

Mitchell, R.L.C., Elliott, R., and Woodruff, P.W.R. (2001). fMRI and cognitive dysfunction in schizophrenia. Trends in cognitive sciences *5*, 71-81.

Mitsikostas, D.D., Sfikakis, P.P., and Goadsby, P.J. (2004). A meta-analysis for headache in systemic lupus erythematosus: the evidence and the myth. Brain : a journal of neurology *127*, 1200-1209.

Mok, C.C., Cheung, M.Y., Ho, L.Y., Yu, K.L., and To, C.H. (2008). Risk and predictors of work disability in Chinese patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus *17*, 1103-1107.

Mok, C.C., and Lau, C.S. (2003). Pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. Journal of clinical pathology *56*, 481-490.

Mok, C.C., To, C.H., and Mak, A. (2006). Neuropsychiatric damage in Southern Chinese patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Medicine *85*, 221-228.

Monastero, R., Bettini, P., Del Zotto, E., Cottini, E., Tincani, A., Balestrieri, G., Cattaneo, R., Camarda, R., Vignolo, L.A., and Padovani, A. (2001). Prevalence and pattern of cognitive impairment in systemic lupus erythematosus patients with and without overt neuropsychiatric manifestations. Journal of the neurological sciences *184*, 33-39.

Monchi, O., Petrides, M., Petre, V., Worsley, K., and Dagher, A. (2001). Wisconsin Card Sorting revisited: distinct neural circuits participating in different stages of the task identified by event-related functional magnetic resonance imaging. J Neurosci *21*, 7733-7741.

Moser, K.L., Kelly, J.A., Lessard, C.J., and Harley, J.B. (2009). Recent insights into the genetic basis of systemic lupus erythematosus. Genes and immunity *10*, 373-379.

Nagase, H., Visse, R., and Murphy, G. (2006). Structure and function of matrix metalloproteinases and TIMPs. Cardiovascular research *69*, 562-573.

Nangaku, M., and Couser, W.G. (2005). Mechanisms of immune-deposit formation and the mediation of immune renal injury. Clinical and experimental nephrology *9*, 183-191.

Nath, S.K., Kelly, J.A., Reid, J., Lam, T., Gray-McGuire, C., Namjou, B., Aston, C.E., and Harley, J.B. (2002). SLEB3 in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) is strongly

related to SLE families ascertained through neuropsychiatric manifestations. Human genetics *111*, 54-58.

Novelline, R.A., and Squire, L.F. (1997). Squire's fundamentals of radiology, 5th edn (Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press).

Nyhus, E., and Barcelo, F. (2009). The Wisconsin Card Sorting Test and the cognitive assessment of prefrontal executive functions: a critical update. Brain and cognition *71*, 437-451.

Odendahl, M., Jacobi, A., Hansen, A., Feist, E., Hiepe, F., Burmester, G.R., Lipsky, P.E., Radbruch, A., and Dorner, T. (2000). Disturbed peripheral B lymphocyte homeostasis in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol *165*, 5970-5979.

Ogawa, S., and Lee, T.M. (1990). Magnetic resonance imaging of blood vessels at high fields: in vivo and in vitro measurements and image simulation. Magnetic resonance in medicine : official journal of the Society of Magnetic Resonance in Medicine / Society of Magnetic Resonance in Medicine *16*, 9-18.

Ogawa, S., Lee, T.M., Kay, A.R., and Tank, D.W. (1990a). Brain magnetic resonance imaging with contrast dependent on blood oxygenation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *87*, 9868-9872.

Ogawa, S., Lee, T.M., Nayak, A.S., and Glynn, P. (1990b). Oxygenation-sensitive contrast in magnetic resonance image of rodent brain at high magnetic fields. Magnetic resonance in medicine : official journal of the Society of Magnetic Resonance in Medicine / Society of Magnetic Resonance in Medicine *14*, 68-78.

Ohsawa, M., Takahashi, K., and Otsuka, F. (1988). Induction of anti-nuclear antibodies in mice orally exposed to cadmium at low concentrations. Clinical and experimental immunology *73*, 98-102.

Omdal, R., Brokstad, K., Waterloo, K., Koldingsnes, W., Jonsson, R., and Mellgren, S.I. (2005). Neuropsychiatric disturbances in SLE are associated with antibodies against NMDA receptors. European journal of neurology : the official journal of the European Federation of Neurological Societies *12*, 392-398.

Oroszi, G., Lapteva, L., Davis, E., Yarboro, C.H., Weickert, T., Roebuck-Spencer, T., Bleiberg, J., Rosenstein, D., Pao, M., Lipsky, P.E., *et al.* (2006). The Met66 allele of the functional Val66Met polymorphism in the brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene confers protection against neurocognitive dysfunction in systemic lupus erythematosus. Annals of the rheumatic diseases *65*, 1330-1335.

Otte, A., Weiner, S.M., Peter, H.H., Mueller-Brand, J., Goetze, M., Moser, E., Gutfleisch, J., Hoegerle, S., Juengling, F.D., and Nitzsche, E.U. (1997). Brain glucose utilization in systemic lupus erythematosus with neuropsychiatric symptoms: a controlled positron emission tomography study. European journal of nuclear medicine *24*, 787-791.

Ozawa, S., Kamiya, H., and Tsuzuki, K. (1998). Glutamate receptors in the mammalian central nervous system. Progress in neurobiology *54*, 581-618.

Palomino-Morales, R.J., Rojas-Villarraga, A., Gonzalez, C.I., Ramirez, G., Anaya, J.M., and Martin, J. (2008). STAT4 but not TRAF1/C5 variants influence the risk of developing rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus in Colombians. Genes and immunity 9, 379-382.

Panopalis, P., Julian, L., Yazdany, J., Gillis, J.Z., Trupin, L., Hersh, A., Criswell, L.A., Katz, P., and Yelin, E. (2007). Impact of memory impairment on employment status in persons with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *57*, 1453-1460.

Papero, P.H., Bluestein, H.G., White, P., and Lipnick, R.N. (1990). Neuropsychologic deficits and antineuronal antibodies in pediatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Clinical and experimental rheumatology *8*, 417-424.

Paul, E., Manheimer-Lory, A., Livneh, A., Solomon, A., Aranow, C., Ghossein, C., Shefner, R., Offen, D., Pillinger, M., and Diamond, B. (1990). Pathogenic anti-DNA antibodies in SLE: idiotypic families and genetic origins. International reviews of immunology *5*, 295-313.

Petri, M. (1997). Hopkins Lupus Pregnancy Center: 1987 to 1996. Rheumatic diseases clinics of North America 23, 1-13.

Petri, M., Hellmann, D., and Hochberg, M. (1992). Validity and reliability of lupus activity measures in the routine clinic setting. The Journal of rheumatology *19*, 53-59.

Petri, M., Naqibuddin, M., Carson, K.A., Sampedro, M., Wallace, D.J., Weisman, M.H., Holliday, S.L., Padilla, P.A., and Brey, R.L. (2008). Cognitive function in a systemic lupus erythematosus inception cohort. The Journal of rheumatology *35*, 1776-1781. Petri, M., Naqibuddin, M., Carson, K.A., Wallace, D.J., Weisman, M.H., Holliday, S.L., Sampedro, M., Padilla, P.A., and Brey, R.L. (2010). Depression and cognitive impairment in newly diagnosed systemic lupus erythematosus. The Journal of rheumatology *37*, 2032-2038.

Petri, M., Orbai, A.M., Alarcon, G.S., Gordon, C., Merrill, J.T., Fortin, P.R., Bruce, I.N., Isenberg, D., Wallace, D.J., Nived, O., *et al.* (2012). Derivation and validation of the Systemic Lupus International Collaborating Clinics classification criteria for systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *64*, 2677-2686.

Phan, K.L., Wager, T., Taylor, S.F., and Liberzon, I. (2002). Functional neuroanatomy of emotion: a meta-analysis of emotion activation studies in PET and fMRI. NeuroImage *16*, 331-348.

Poole, B.D., Scofield, R.H., Harley, J.B., and James, J.A. (2006). Epstein-Barr virus and molecular mimicry in systemic lupus erythematosus. Autoimmunity *39*, 63-70.

Press, R.I., Peebles, C.L., Kumagai, Y., Ochs, R.L., and Tan, E.M. (1992). Antinuclear autoantibodies in women with silicone breast implants. Lancet *340*, 1304-1307.

Pullmann, R., Jr., Skerenova, M., Hybenova, J., Lukac, J., Rovensky, J., and Pullmann, R. (2004). Apolipoprotein E polymorphism in patients with neuropsychiatric SLE. Clinical rheumatology *23*, 97-101.

Ray, N.J., and Strafella, A.P. (2012). The neurobiology and neural circuitry of cognitive changes in Parkinson's disease revealed by functional neuroimaging. Movement disorders : official journal of the Movement Disorder Society *27*, 1484-1492.

Reeves, D.L., Winter, K.P., Bleiberg, J., and Kane, R.L. (2007). ANAM genogram: historical perspectives, description, and current endeavors. Archives of clinical neuropsychology : the official journal of the National Academy of Neuropsychologists *22 Suppl 1*, S15-37.

Reidenberg, M.M. (1981). The chemical induction of systemic lupus erythematosus and lupus-like illnesses. Arthritis and rheumatism *24*, 1004-1009.

Robinson, C.J., Balazs, T., and Egorov, I.K. (1986). Mercuric chloride-, gold sodium thiomalate-, and D-penicillamine-induced antinuclear antibodies in mice. Toxicology and applied pharmacology *86*, 159-169.

Rocca, M.A., Agosta, F., Mezzapesa, D.M., Ciboddo, G., Falini, A., Comi, G., and Filippi, M. (2006). An fMRI study of the motor system in patients with neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. NeuroImage *30*, 478-484.

Rocca, M.A., Colombo, B., Pagani, E., Falini, A., Codella, M., Scotti, G., Comi, G., and Filippi, M. (2003). Evidence for cortical functional changes in patients with migraine and white matter abnormalities on conventional and diffusion tensor magnetic resonance imaging. Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation *34*, 665-670.

Roebuck-Spencer, T.M., Yarboro, C., Nowak, M., Takada, K., Jacobs, G., Lapteva, L., Weickert, T., Volpe, B., Diamond, B., Illei, G., *et al.* (2006). Use of computerized assessment to predict neuropsychological functioning and emotional distress in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *55*, 434-441. Rood, M.J., Keijsers, V., van der Linden, M.W., Tong, T.Q., Borggreve, S.E., Verweij, C.L., Breedveld, F.C., and Huizinga, T.W. (1999). Neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus is associated with imbalance in interleukin 10 promoter haplotypes. Annals of the rheumatic diseases *58*, 85-89.

Ross, B., and Michaelis, T. (1994). Clinical applications of magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Magnetic resonance quarterly *10*, 191-247.

Ruiz-Irastorza, G., Lima, F., Alves, J., Khamashta, M.A., Simpson, J., Hughes, G.R., and Buchanan, N.M. (1996). Increased rate of lupus flare during pregnancy and the puerperium: a prospective study of 78 pregnancies. British journal of rheumatology *35*, 133-138.

Sailer, M., Burchert, W., Ehrenheim, C., Smid, H.G., Haas, J., Wildhagen, K., Wurster, U., and Deicher, H. (1997). Positron emission tomography and magnetic resonance imaging for cerebral involvement in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Journal of neurology *244*, 186-193.

Sakic, B., Laflamme, N., Crnic, L.S., Szechtman, H., Denburg, J.A., and Rivest, S. (1999). Reduced corticotropin-releasing factor and enhanced vasopressin gene expression in brains of mice with autoimmunity-induced behavioral dysfunction. Journal of neuroimmunology *96*, 80-91.

Sanchez-Guerrero, J., Aranow, C., Mackay, M., Volpe, B., and Diamond, B. (2008). Neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus reconsidered. Nature clinical practice Rheumatology *4*, 112-113. Sanna, G., Bertolaccini, M.L., Cuadrado, M.J., Khamashta, M.A., and Hughes, G.R.(2003a). Central nervous system involvement in the antiphospholipid (Hughes) syndrome.Rheumatology (Oxford) 42, 200-213.

Sanna, G., Bertolaccini, M.L., Cuadrado, M.J., Laing, H., Khamashta, M.A., Mathieu, A., and Hughes, G.R. (2003b). Neuropsychiatric manifestations in systemic lupus erythematosus: prevalence and association with antiphospholipid antibodies. The Journal of rheumatology *30*, 985-992.

Scheinberg, M.A., and Cathcart, E.S. (1974). B cell and T cell lymphopenia in systemic lupus erythematosus. Cellular immunology *12*, 309-314.

Schlosser, R., Gesierich, T., Kaufmann, B., Vucurevic, G., Hunsche, S., Gawehn, J., and Stoeter, P. (2003). Altered effective connectivity during working memory performance in schizophrenia: a study with fMRI and structural equation modeling. NeuroImage *19*, 751-763.

Schmahmann, J.D. (2010). The role of the cerebellum in cognition and emotion: personal reflections since 1982 on the dysmetria of thought hypothesis, and its historical evolution from theory to therapy. Neuropsychology review *20*, 236-260.

Schulze-Koops, H. (2004). Lymphopenia and autoimmune diseases. Arthritis research & therapy *6*, 178-180.

Scott, R.B., Harrison, J., Boulton, C., Wilson, J., Gregory, R., Parkin, S., Bain, P.G., Joint, C., Stein, J., and Aziz, T.Z. (2002). Global attentional-executive sequelae following surgical lesions to globus pallidus interna. Brain : a journal of neurology *125*, 562-574.

Seaman, D.E., Londino, A.V., Jr., Kwoh, C.K., Medsger, T.A., Jr., and Manzi, S. (1995). Antiphospholipid antibodies in pediatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Pediatrics *96*, 1040-1045.

Sestak, A.L., Furnrohr, B.G., Harley, J.B., Merrill, J.T., and Namjou, B. (2011). The genetics of systemic lupus erythematosus and implications for targeted therapy. Annals of the rheumatic diseases *70 Suppl 1*, i37-43.

Sheline, Y.I., Barch, D.M., Price, J.L., Rundle, M.M., Vaishnavi, S.N., Snyder, A.Z., Mintun, M.A., Wang, S., Coalson, R.S., and Raichle, M.E. (2009). The default mode network and self-referential processes in depression. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *106*, 1942-1947.

Shiozawa, S., Kuroki, Y., Kim, M., Hirohata, S., and Ogino, T. (1992). Interferon-alpha in lupus psychosis. Arthritis and rheumatism *35*, 417-422.

Shortall, E., Isenberg, D., and Newman, S.P. (1995). Factors associated with mood and mood disorders in SLE. Lupus *4*, 272-279.

Shucard, J.L., Gaines, J.J., Ambrus, J., Jr., and Shucard, D.W. (2007). C-reactive protein and cognitive deficits in systemic lupus erythematosus. Cognitive and behavioral neurology : official journal of the Society for Behavioral and Cognitive Neurology *20*, 31-37.

Shucard, J.L., Lee, W.H., Safford, A.S., and Shucard, D.W. (2011). The relationship between processing speed and working memory demand in systemic lupus erythematosus: evidence from a visual n-back task. Neuropsychology *25*, 45-52.

Sibbitt, W.L., Jr., Brandt, J.R., Johnson, C.R., Maldonado, M.E., Patel, S.R., Ford, C.C., Bankhurst, A.D., and Brooks, W.M. (2002). The incidence and prevalence of neuropsychiatric syndromes in pediatric onset systemic lupus erythematosus. The Journal of rheumatology *29*, 1536-1542.

Sibbitt, W.L., Jr., and Sibbitt, R.R. (1993). Magnetic resonance spectroscopy and positron emission tomography scanning in neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Rheumatic diseases clinics of North America *19*, 851-868.

Sigurdsson, S., Nordmark, G., Garnier, S., Grundberg, E., Kwan, T., Nilsson, O., Eloranta, M.L., Gunnarsson, I., Svenungsson, E., Sturfelt, G., *et al.* (2008). A risk haplotype of STAT4 for systemic lupus erythematosus is over-expressed, correlates with anti-dsDNA and shows additive effects with two risk alleles of IRF5. Human molecular genetics *17*, 2868-2876.

Silverberg, D.S., Kidd, E.G., Shnitka, T.K., and Ulan, R.A. (1970). Gold nephropathy. A clinical and pathologic study. Arthritis and rheumatism *13*, 812-825.

Simard, J.F., Costenbader, K.H., Liang, M.H., Karlson, E.W., and Mittleman, M.A. (2009). Exposure to maternal smoking and incident SLE in a prospective cohort study. Lupus *18*, 431-435.

Smith-Bouvier, D.L., Divekar, A.A., Sasidhar, M., Du, S., Tiwari-Woodruff, S.K., King, J.K., Arnold, A.P., Singh, R.R., and Voskuhl, R.R. (2008). A role for sex chromosome complement in the female bias in autoimmune disease. The Journal of experimental medicine *205*, 1099-1108.

Steens, S.C., Admiraal-Behloul, F., Bosma, G.P., Steup-Beekman, G.M., Olofsen, H., Le Cessie, S., Huizinga, T.W., and Van Buchem, M.A. (2004). Selective gray matter damage in neuropsychiatric lupus. Arthritis and rheumatism *50*, 2877-2881.

Steup-Beekman, G., Steens, S., van Buchem, M., and Huizinga, T. (2007). Anti-NMDA receptor autoantibodies in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and their first-degree relatives. Lupus *16*, 329-334.

Stevens, M.C., Kiehl, K.A., Pearlson, G.D., and Calhoun, V.D. (2007). Functional neural networks underlying response inhibition in adolescents and adults. Behav Brain Res *181*, 12-22.

Strakowski, S.M., Adler, C.M., Holland, S.K., Mills, N., and DelBello, M.P. (2004). A preliminary FMRI study of sustained attention in euthymic, unmedicated bipolar disorder. Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology *29*, 1734-1740.

Strub, R.L. (1989). Frontal lobe syndrome in a patient with bilateral globus pallidus lesions. Arch Neurol *46*, 1024-1027.

Strupp, B.J., and Levitsky, D.A. (1985). A mnemonic role for vasopressin: the evidence for and against. Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews *9*, 399-411.

Sun, K.H., Liu, W.T., Tsai, C.Y., Liao, T.S., Lin, W.M., and Yu, C.L. (1992). Inhibition of astrocyte proliferation and binding to brain tissue of anticardiolipin antibodies purified from lupus serum. Annals of the rheumatic diseases *51*, 707-712.

Sweet, J.J., Doninger, N.A., Zee, P.C., and Wagner, L.I. (2004). Factors influencing cognitive function, sleep, and quality of life in individuals with systemic lupus erythematosus: a review of the literature. The Clinical neuropsychologist *18*, 132-147.

Sylvester, C.Y., Wager, T.D., Lacey, S.C., Hernandez, L., Nichols, T.E., Smith, E.E., and Jonides, J. (2003). Switching attention and resolving interference: fMRI measures of executive functions. Neuropsychologia *41*, 357-370.

Symms, M., Jager, H.R., Schmierer, K., and Yousry, T.A. (2004). A review of structural magnetic resonance neuroimaging. Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry *75*, 1235-1244.

Tam, L.S., Wong, A., Mok, V.C., Zhu, Y.E., Kwok, L.W., Li, T.K., Wong, K.C., and Li, E.K. (2008). The relationship between neuropsychiatric, clinical, and laboratory variables and quality of life of Chinese patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. The Journal of rheumatology *35*, 1038-1045.

Tan, E.M., Cohen, A.S., Fries, J.F., Masi, A.T., McShane, D.J., Rothfield, N.F., Schaller,J.G., Talal, N., and Winchester, R.J. (1982). The 1982 revised criteria for theclassification of systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism 25, 1271-1277.

Tao, H., Guo, S., Ge, T., Kendrick, K.M., Xue, Z., Liu, Z., and Feng, J. (2011). Depression uncouples brain hate circuit. Molecular psychiatry.

Thulborn, K.R., Waterton, J.C., Matthews, P.M., and Radda, G.K. (1982). Oxygenation dependence of the transverse relaxation time of water protons in whole blood at high field. Biochimica et biophysica acta *714*, 265-270.

Trysberg, E., Blennow, K., Zachrisson, O., and Tarkowski, A. (2004). Intrathecal levels of matrix metalloproteinases in systemic lupus erythematosus with central nervous system engagement. Arthritis research & therapy *6*, R551-556.

Tsokos, G.C. (2011). Systemic lupus erythematosus. The New England journal of medicine *365*, 2110-2121.

Tsokos, G.C., Magrath, I.T., and Balow, J.E. (1983). Epstein-Barr virus induces normal B cell responses but defective suppressor T cell responses in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol *131*, 1797-1801.

Utset, T.O., Fink, J., and Doninger, N.A. (2006). Prevalence of neurocognitive dysfunction and other clinical manifestations in disabled patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. The Journal of rheumatology *33*, 531-538.

Utset, T.O., Golden, M., Siberry, G., Kiri, N., Crum, R.M., and Petri, M. (1994). Depressive symptoms in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: association with central nervous system lupus and Sjogren's syndrome. The Journal of rheumatology *21*, 2039-2045.

Walsh, N.D., Seal, M.L., Williams, S.C., and Mehta, M.A. (2009). An investigation of cognitive 'branching' processes in major depression. BMC psychiatry *9*, 69.

Wang, C., Khalil, M., Ravetch, J., and Diamond, B. (2003). The naive B cell repertoire predisposes to antigen-induced systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol *170*, 4826-4832.

Ward, M.M. (1999). Premature morbidity from cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases in women with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *42*, 338-346.

Ward, N.S., and Frackowiak, R.S. (2003). Age-related changes in the neural correlates of motor performance. Brain : a journal of neurology *126*, 873-888.

Waterloo, K., Omdal, R., Husby, G., and Mellgren, S.I. (2002). Neuropsychological function in systemic lupus erythematosus: a five-year longitudinal study. Rheumatology (Oxford) *41*, 411-415.

Waterloo, K., Omdal, R., Sjoholm, H., Koldingsnes, W., Jacobsen, E.A., Sundsfjord, J.A., Husby, G., and Mellgren, S.I. (2001). Neuropsychological dysfunction in systemic lupus erythematosus is not associated with changes in cerebral blood flow. Journal of neurology 248, 595-602.

Weinberger, D.R., Berman, K.F., and Zec, R.F. (1986). Physiologic dysfunction of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. I. Regional cerebral blood flow evidence. Archives of general psychiatry *43*, 114-124.

Weiner, S.M., Klein, R., and Berg, P.A. (2000a). A longitudinal study of autoantibodies against central nervous system tissue and gangliosides in connective tissue diseases. Rheumatology international *19*, 83-88.

Weiner, S.M., Otte, A., Schumacher, M., Klein, R., Gutfleisch, J., Brink, I., Otto, P., Nitzsche, E.U., Moser, E., and Peter, H.H. (2000b). Diagnosis and monitoring of central nervous system involvement in systemic lupus erythematosus: value of F-18 fluorodeoxyglucose PET. Annals of the rheumatic diseases *59*, 377-385.

Weintraub, D., Moberg, P.J., Culbertson, W.C., Duda, J.E., Katz, I.R., and Stern, M.B. (2005). Dimensions of executive function in Parkinson's disease. Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders *20*, 140-144.

West, S.G., Emlen, W., Wener, M.H., and Kotzin, B.L. (1995). Neuropsychiatric lupus erythematosus: a 10-year prospective study on the value of diagnostic tests. The American journal of medicine *99*, 153-163.

Wilbrecht, L., and Shohamy, D. (2010). Neural Circuits can Bridge Systems and Cognitive Neuroscience. Frontiers in human neuroscience *3*, 81.

Williams, T.S., Aranow, C., Ross, G.S., Barsdorf, A., Imundo, L.F., Eichenfield, A.H., Kahn, P.J., Diamond, B., and Levy, D.M. (2011). Neurocognitive impairment in childhood-onset systemic lupus erythematosus: measurement issues in diagnosis. Arthritis care & research *63*, 1178-1187.

Wood, J.N., and Grafman, J. (2003). Human prefrontal cortex: processing and representational perspectives. Nature reviews Neuroscience *4*, 139-147.

Wyckoff, P.M., Miller, L.C., Tucker, L.B., and Schaller, J.G. (1995). Neuropsychological assessment of children and adolescents with systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus *4*, 217-220.

Yang, W., Shen, N., Ye, D.Q., Liu, Q., Zhang, Y., Qian, X.X., Hirankarn, N., Ying, D., Pan, H.F., Mok, C.C., *et al.* (2010). Genome-wide association study in Asian populations identifies variants in ETS1 and WDFY4 associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. PLoS genetics *6*, e1000841.

Yee, C.S., Farewell, V.T., Isenberg, D.A., Griffiths, B., Teh, L.S., Bruce, I.N., Ahmad, Y., Rahman, A., Prabu, A., Akil, M., *et al.* (2011). The use of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity Index-2000 to define active disease and minimal clinically meaningful change based on data from a large cohort of systemic lupus erythematosus patients. Rheumatology (Oxford) *50*, 982-988.

Yoshida, A., Shishido, F., Kato, K., Watanabe, H., and Seino, O. (2007). Evaluation of cerebral perfusion in patients with neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus using 123I-IMP SPECT. Annals of nuclear medicine *21*, 151-158.

Yoshio, T., Onda, K., Nara, H., and Minota, S. (2006). Association of IgG anti-NR2 glutamate receptor antibodies in cerebrospinal fluid with neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism *54*, 675-678.

Young, H., Baum, R., Cremerius, U., Herholz, K., Hoekstra, O., Lammertsma, A.A., Pruim, J., and Price, P. (1999). Measurement of clinical and subclinical tumour response using [18F]-fluorodeoxyglucose and positron emission tomography: review and 1999 EORTC recommendations. European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) PET Study Group. Eur J Cancer *35*, 1773-1782. Yuan, A., Rao, M.V., Sasaki, T., Chen, Y., Kumar, A., Veeranna, Liem, R.K., Eyer, J., Peterson, A.C., Julien, J.P., *et al.* (2006). Alpha-internexin is structurally and functionally associated with the neurofilament triplet proteins in the mature CNS. J Neurosci *26*, 10006-10019.

Yurasov, S., Tiller, T., Tsuiji, M., Velinzon, K., Pascual, V., Wardemann, H., and Nussenzweig, M.C. (2006). Persistent expression of autoantibodies in SLE patients in remission. The Journal of experimental medicine *203*, 2255-2261.

Zhou, J., Greicius, M.D., Gennatas, E.D., Growdon, M.E., Jang, J.Y., Rabinovici, G.D., Kramer, J.H., Weiner, M., Miller, B.L., and Seeley, W.W. (2010). Divergent network connectivity changes in behavioural variant frontotemporal dementia and Alzheimer's disease. Brain : a journal of neurology *133*, 1352-1367.

Zink, C.F., and Meyer-Lindenberg, A. (2012). Human neuroimaging of oxytocin and vasopressin in social cognition. Hormones and behavior *61*, 400-409.

Zink, C.F., Stein, J.L., Kempf, L., Hakimi, S., and Meyer-Lindenberg, A. (2010). Vasopressin modulates medial prefrontal cortex-amygdala circuitry during emotion processing in humans. J Neurosci *30*, 7017-7022.

Zinn, S., Bosworth, H.B., Hoenig, H.M., and Swartzwelder, H.S. (2007). Executive function deficits in acute stroke. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation *88*, 173-180.

Ziporen, L., Polak-Charcon, S., Korczyn, D.A., Goldberg, I., Afek, A., Kopolovic, J., Chapman, J., and Shoenfeld, Y. (2004). Neurological dysfunction associated with antiphospholipid syndrome: histopathological brain findings of thrombotic changes in a mouse model. Clinical & developmental immunology *11*, 67-75.

Zvaifler, N.J., and Bluestein, H.G. (1982). The pathogenesis of central nervous system manifestations of systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis and rheumatism 25, 862-866.

Permission to use Figure 1.1

Ren	Tao

From:	gtsokos@bidmc.harvard.edu
Sent:	Thursday, 6 September, 2012 4:35 PM
To:	Tao Ren
Subject:	Re: Inquiry to use one figure from your NEJM paper in my PhD thesis

There is no problem with me Check also with the journal Gct

On Sep 5, 2012, at 10:42 PM, "Tao Ren" <<u>g0900145@nus.edu.sg</u>> wrote:

Dear Dr Tsokos,

I am a PhD student at Yong Loo Lin School of medicine at National University of Singapore. I am preparing my PhD thesis which focuses on functional brain imaging of cognitive dysfunction and evaluation of anti-NR2 antibodies in patients with SLE. May I ask for permission to use the Figure 1 Overview of the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus from Systemic lupus erythematosus, N Engl J Med. 2011 Dec 1;365(22):2110-21 in the introduction of my PhD thesis? Thanks in advance!

Best regards,

Ren Tao

Ren Tao (Mr) :: PhD student:: Department of Medicine, Yong Loo Ling School of Medicine :: National University of Singapore:: <u>www.nus.edu.sg</u> (W) :: *Company Registration No: 200604346E* Important: This email is confidential and may be privileged. If you are not the intended recipient, please delete it and notify us immediately; you should not copy or use it for any purpose, nor disclose its contents to any other person. Thank you.

Permission to use Figure 1.4

Ren Tao	
From:	Stuart Clare <stuart.clare@ndcn.ox.ac.uk></stuart.clare@ndcn.ox.ac.uk>
Sent:	Monday, 17 September, 2012 5:27 PM
То:	Ren Tao
Subject:	Re: Inquiry for permission to use one figure from your PhD thesis in my PhD thesis

Dear Mr Tao, Thanks for asking permission to use the figures. I am happy to grant you this permission. Best wishes, Stuart Clare

On 9 Sep 2012, at 10:35, Ren Tao wrote:

Dear Dr Clare,

I am a PhD student at Yong Loo Lin School of medicine at National University of Singapore. I am preparing my PhD thesis which focuses on functional brain imaging of cognitive dysfunction and evaluation of anti-NR2 antibodies in patients with SLE. May I ask for permission to use the Figure 3.17 Upon activation, oxygen is extracted by the cells, thereby increasing the level of deoxyhaemoglobin in the blood. This is compensated for by an increase in blood flow in the vicinity of the active cells, leading to a net increase in oxyhaemoglobinfrom the third chapter of your thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy October 1997 in the introduction part of my PhD thesis? I get the access to the full text of your PhD thesis at http://users.fmrib.ox.ac.uk/~stuart/thesis/. Thanks in advance!

Best regards,

Ren Tao

Ren Tao (Mr) :: PhD student:: Department of Medicine, Yong Loo Ling School of Medicine :: National University of Singapore:: <u>www.nus.edu.sg</u> (W) :: Company Registration No: 200604346E Important: This email is confidential and may be privileged. If you are not the intended recipient, please delete it and notify us immediately; you should not copy or use it for any purpose, nor disclose its contents to any other person. Thank you.

Please use my new email address: stuart.clare@ndcn.ox.ac.uk

Stuart Clare University Research Lecturer FMRIB Centre, University of Oxford John Radcliffe Hospital Oxford, OX3 9DU

Phone: (+44) (0) 1865 222716 Fax: (+44) (0) 1865 222717 Web: www.fmrib.ox.ac.uk

Permission to use Figure 1.5

Ren Tao	
From: Sent: To: Subject:	Tsien, Joe <jtsien@georgiahealth.edu> Thursday, 6 September, 2012 8:40 PM Tao Ren RE: Inquiry to use one figure from your NEJM paper</jtsien@georgiahealth.edu>
Dear Mr. Tao:	
Yes, you are very welcome to use	e it. Good luck with your defense.
Best,	
Joe Joe Z. Tsien Co-Director, Brain and Behavior I Georgia Research Alliance Emine Professor of Neurology, Medical Georgia Health Sciences Universi Augusta, GA 30912	Discovery Institute nt Scholar in Cognitive and Systems Neurobiology College of Georgia ty
Telephone: 706-721-3760	
Fax: 706-721-3829 Email: jtsien@gerogiahealth.edu	

From: Tao Ren [mailto:g0900145@nus.edu.sg] Sent: Wednesday, September 05, 2012 10:23 PM To: Tsien, Joe Subject: Inquiry to use one figure from your NEJM paper

Dear Dr Tsien,

I am a PhD student at Yong Loo Lin School of medicine at National University of Singapore. I am preparing my PhD thesis which focuses on functional brain imaging of cognitive dysfunction and evaluation of anti-NR2 antibodies in patients with SLE. May I ask for permission to use the Figure 1 Neuron Showing Glutamate Receptors and Synaptic Plasticity from Memory and the NMDA Receptors, N Engl J Med 2009; 361:302-303 in the introduction of my PhD thesis? Thanks in advance!

Best regards,

Ren Tao

Ren Tao (Mr) :: PhD student:: Department of Medicine, Yong Loo Ling School of Medicine :: National University of Singapore:: <u>www.nus.edu.sg</u> (W) :: Company Registration No: 200604346E Important: This email is confidential and may be privileged. If you are not the intended recipient, please delete it and notify us immediately; you should not copy or use it for any purpose, nor disclose its contents to any other person. Thank you.

Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale

Patients are asked to choose one response from the four given for each interview. They should give an immediate response and be dissuaded from thinking too long about their answers. The questions relating to anxiety are marked "A", and to depression "D". The score for each answer is given in the right column. Instruct the patient to answer how it currently describes their feelings.

А	I feel tense or 'wound up':	
	Most of the time	3
	A lot of the time	2
	From time to time, occasionally	1
	Not at all	0

D	I still enjoy the things I used to enjoy:	
	Definitely as much	0
	Not quite so much	1
	Only a little	2
	Hardly at all	3

А	I get a sort of frightened feeling as if something awful is about	
	to happen:	
	Very definitely and quite badly	3

Yes, but not too badly	2
A little, but it doesn't worry me	1
Not at all	0

D	I can laugh and see the funny side of things:	
	As much as I always could	0
	Not quite so much now	1
	Definitely not so much now	2
	Not at all	3

A	Worrying thoughts go through my mind:	
	A great deal of the time	3
	A lot of the time	2
	From time to time, but not too often	1
	Only occasionally	0

D	I feel cheerful:	
	Not at all	3
	Not often	2
	Sometimes	1
	Most of the time	0

А	I can sit at ease and feel relaxed:	
	Definitely	0

Usually	1
Not Often	2
Not at all	3

D	I feel as if I am slowed down:	
	Nearly all the time	3
	Very often	2
	Sometimes	1
	Not at all	0

А	I get a sort of frightened feeling like 'butterflies' in the	
	stomach:	
	Not at all	0
	Occasionally	1
	Quite Often	2
	Very Often	3

D	I have lost interest in my appearance:	
	Definitely	3
	I don't take as much care as should	2
	I may not take quite as much care	1
	I take just as much care as ever	0

А	I feel restless as I have to be on the move:	
	Very much indeed	3
	Quite a lot	2
	Not very much	1
	Not at all	0

D	I look forward with enjoyment to things:	
	As much as I ever did	0
	Rather less than I used to	1
	Definitely less than I used to	2
	Hardly at all	3

A	I get sudden feelings of panic:	
	Very often indeed	3
	Quite often	2
	Not very often	1
	Not at all	0

D	I can enjoy a good book or radio or TV program:	
	Often	0
	Sometimes	1
	Not often	2
	Very seldom	3

Scoring (add the As = Anxiety. Add the Ds = Depression).

The norms below will give you an idea of the level of anxiety and depression.

0-7 = Normal

8-10 = Borderline abnormal

11-21 = Abnormal

Adopted from:

Zigmond A.S. and Snaith R.P. (1983). The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica 67, 361-370.

Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence Record Form

Name_		·	. t.			ID				- [Date	of Testi	ng	- 9	
Articipates	School					Grade	t Educat	ion		[Dete	of Birt	h		
Examine	st			-								Age			
1.1		Subl	est Sco	res			2							1	
Subte	int a	Raw Score		TSee	re						Prof	ile of	-		VIC
Vocaba	Jary	52	47							S	ubtes	Score Dedag	18	160	1
Bioc Desig	K 2n	28		49					1	V	s	BD	MR	155	
Similar	fies .	31	5.0	1 Bar					80		團	目	團	145	Taken I
Mate Reason	K ling	18		5					75	TVI-	144	TAL .		140	
			-97	100 Performa)				70	THE	1121			135	the state
	Sum TScr	to of area		197						101			11	125	田田
			-	Subtest Tuff Sc	ale ale	lattest			00	111		110	1	120	The second
									60	1	The second	STATE ST		115	
	1	WASI IC	Score	3	Pr	ediction	n Interva	5	55	111	14			105	
	Sun of Tilcores	10	Parasetta	Confidence	105	68%	82%	075	50			1	1	100	T
Verb.	97	98	45	93-159					45			圜		90	
Perl.	100	99	47	43-105				-	40			圕	E	85	
Full-4	197	99	47	95-13	-	-	-	-	35	111	1110			75	
									30	111	-	THE OWNER		70	
									25	T.	1	8	圖	65	
Full-2											1.000	1000			日田
Full-2									20	88	100	998	-	55	

0154981532

9 10 11 12 A B 4

Order form of SVSYDDWDYSLEARV peptides

	YEIIO	chnologies	2/1/10	in	spire biodis	covery		
Та)	E Department of National Universivers Yong Loo Lin SX 28, Medical Driv Singapore 1190	Medicine sity of Singapore chool of Medicine re 74	Ship To:	Ms Alicia Cheal Dr Anselm Mak's National Univers Department of M MD 10, Level 4 M Singapore 11755	Date: Group ity of Singapore edicine ledical Drive 17	11.06.2010		
Inv	cico Numbor	DO No	Phone: Fax: Email:	mdccac@nus.ed	u.sg	Page 1 of 1		
\bigcirc	2010004662	2010003330	DIREC	PO No. T PURCHASE	30 D	30 Davs		
Item	Cat No.	De	escription	Qty	Unit Price SGD	Total Price SGD		
1	SC1208_10-14 mg	GenScript Custom Pepti NMDAR2A, 15 aa, >95% Size:10-14 mg Batch No.: 9815100105211 Q	de: SVSYDDWDYSLEAR 0L Qty: 1.00 Exp: NA	t∨, 1.00	708.00	708.00		
	. 470 No. Goods / services n Name: Involce verified by	Department of Medic Last Po conved by 24 Signard	(Rheumatology) yment: YES / NO / Data (6/6/10					
ò	Name: Paymont approved Name: For OFS Use Posted by / date:	by / date:	I Date Professor Ho Kitek Head Date Department of Med National University	igene og Singapore				
	CO PK VENDO	R/ AMOUNT GST CODE	WES/BA		Sub-Total Total Discount	708.0		
	44/ 11000	151 30 11	12-112-000-101412	_	GST 7 %	49.5		
	40 1108		3					

specification accompanies your payment.

LELI PI

Authorized Signature

Unless and claims, queries or discrepancies are referred to Genomax Technologies Pte Ltd within fourteen days hereof, all particulars herein shall be deemed to be correct. .

Genomax Technologies Pte Ltd 20 Ayer Rajah Crescent, #07-25, Singapore 139964 | Tel: 67771886 Fax: 67773090 | mail:info@genomax.com.sg | website: www.genomax.com.sg RCB, No.:200208166M | GST No.: 200208166M